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CORPORATE PROFILE

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation (“COFCQO”) and listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 00506). The primary business of the Company includes beverage, wine, kitchen food and confectionery. The
Company is committed to providing consumers with nutritious, healthy, delicious and quality food. Currently the Company’s product portfolio
includes a number of well-known brands, such as “Greatwall” wine, “f&&F9” consumer-pack edible oil, “Le conté” chocolate and “ &EH £
Shaoxing rice wine. As a strategic partner of The Coca-Cola Company in China, the Company also bottles and distributes Coca-Cola beverages.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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2011 PEIRAKE—F

MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2011

5.7t 7 am Winning in Products

After acquiring the San Andrea Winery in 4% g B %2 I B8 FI| 2588 55 2
Chile, the Group successfully acquired 1% - K% &k I Uk B 5= B
Chateau de Viaud in Bordeaux, France, SHf%Z EXEAIE @ B —
which enables us to increase our pace in  # hN:R K & & B2 B

implementing the globalization strategy of — BE& Atk o
the Greatwall wines.

JUNE FHA

The new Greatwall Terroir wine series, a mid-to £ 3 & & & /= ¥ %7
high-end product of Greatwall, was launched S XA E | & & E &
throughout the nation. T

Formally issued the management procedures for new product research
and development, launching and assessment. Stringent control
over critical areas in new product research and development was
implemented through streamlining existing product lines, concept
planning of new products, and specifying procedures for product
design, trial, launching and assessment.

Greatwall Chateau Sungod Limited Edition for i & TR L2 2 90 FE
Chinese Communist Party’s 90th Anniversary BE;J#&ZE D BT B
was launched which attached importance & — B A S Tk
to this national event and highlighted the  {bi 52 H BB -

national wine status of Greatwall.
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2011

JUNE 75A

Fortune Golden Origin Maize Oil in new fREFELEHMEKHSD
packages was launched throughout the  EFFZE I £ -
nation.

JuLy £8

The strawberry flavoured Merveille Jelly Candy — 2E3%3% @ b8 # ) 8 & O K
was launched, providing consumers with more 3.0 B #ifE - L EE S
choice of flavors. AR - 4 HBEEZEE -

The new product of Minute Maid Peach Flavour & 7R /8 1 25 #k O BR % 5

was launched. Minute Maid now offers four 71 - E# T =1 RE @

great flavours of fresh fruits. FERIT % WK A BR — Bk AR
EHzZ=g -
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5.7t am h& Winning in Brands

Fortune was elected as “The Most Favorite
Brand of Edible Qil” in The “Safety,
Environment, Responsibility — The Second
Food Industry 3¢15 Online Survey” held by
People’s Daily Online.

APRIL A

Greatwall wine sponsored the Boao Forum
for Asia for the third time, serving politicians,
business elites and scholars from around
the world with its wines and a taste of
China’s hospitality. At the forum, Greatwall
announced its globalization strategy, aiming
to enhance its comprehensive strength
through its advantages in global resources
and creating a premier international brand
and an Asian wine culture with Chinese
characteristics.

In tandem with the launch of Fortune Golden
Origin Maize Qil, a large-scale marketing
campaign was executed under the theme
of “Golden Storm”. Communicating
with consumers through above-the-line
advertising and below-the-line advertising,
and distribution through ten thousand sales
persons. The initiative prevented competitors’
advance effectively and significantly lifted the
market position of corn oil.
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2011 PEIRAKE—5

MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2011

m

In 2011, the “COFCO Fortune o 2011
National Vocational Students Cooking
Skills Competition” was successfully held.
This activity not only promoted the healthy
philosophy of the Fortune brand: “good
ingredients, good cooking skills”, but also
effectively facilitated the cooking industry
of China. Fortune was awarded the “& 4
HE MR issued by the Ministry of
Education and Adult Education Department.

JUNE 7 A

“Le conté” chocolate received the “Most
Popular Food Brand” award and the “Most
Trusted Food Brand” award at the “Taste 2011-
My Most Trusted Food Brand Selection” award
presentation ceremony.

Greatwall wine became the designated wine at
the state banquets of the opening and closing
ceremonies of the Universiade Shenzhen.
From the Olympics, the Asian Games to the
Universiade Shenzhen, Greatwall wines has
taken part in a series of world-class sports
events, perfectly combining “sportsmanship,
brand content and consumer education”.

“Greatwall International Chateau Alliance”
signed a contract with Mr. Michel Rolland, a
world-renowned chief winemaker from France.
With his expertise and influence, the product
quality as well as the international image of
Greatwall can be enhanced. Greatwall is the
first and sole wine company in Asia teaming up
with this world-class winemaker.
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Greatwall wine received three major awards:
“No.1 in brand value of wine brands”, “Top
ten most competitive brands of wine in
China” and “Top ten fastest growing brands
of wine in China”. This is the third consecutive
year that Greatwall wine was named the “No.
1 brand in the wine industry of China”.

COFCO Food Sales & Distribution Co., Ltd.
and the China Space Foundation entered
into a formal contract, and became partners
of China’s Space program. Fortune Algal QOil
DHA Blended Oil became the first designated
blended oil used by China Space Foundation.
This cooperation creates business opportunities
between the Fortune brand and the China
space industry for the next ten years.

“BrandZ top 50" most valuable Chinese brands
were announced in December. Due to its good
social image, outstanding product quality and
active brand-building, Fortune brand was once
again included in this highly respected list.

2011 PEIRAKE—F
MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2011
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2011 HERRXE—E
MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2011

1 %8 Winning in Network

“Negotiate together, teamwork for a win-
win relationship”, China Foods strategic
distributors’ seminar was successfully held in
Beijing. About 80 strategic distributors met

[AEmAT: BAHml—
f B R G B RS A B p A AT
24t "R 1T - 808k H
ﬁ%@%ﬁﬁ$%§ﬁ@

with the managers of the Group to discuss /\/\M B R K Gh B
the future business development of the & & %WE’]%&E&%H%E%
branded food business of the Group in a frank  E + #47 THH M = A K
and effective way. Mutual understanding has gt 89t - gt R KA 2 [F
been reached between the parties in respect  Fi= 2R 2 p T 5

of their long term development.

AUG /\RB

China Foods officially launched the distributor management system
("DMS") project. Through DMS, key transactional data of distributors
or shops can be retrieved, such that we can master the information
on the status of products’ trend within the distribution channels, as
well as the sales, inventory position and gross profit of distributors.
Accordingly, it will enable the Company to help the distributors to
strengthen and enhance their business development.

Rationalised and established the unified distribution channel standard
and classification. Customers and distribution channels were
categorized according to their attributes. A unified structure of 4 first

TERMIAMDEHEEEERMR
(IDMS])IER - 338 DMS A AL 57
HPIENR 5 R EAREBEIE - (i EE
REEmMMA - BREHENHEE - BIF
REFBER - W B HRE B HOR - &
BEREMNER -

R 52 T P B R 4 — B RIBIRAERN 73
B RREFPEBIEMR %I’_{ BARE
PMREETHR—ME - M—mEAE— i&

level, 26 second level and 73 third level distribution channels was 225126 & — 44 %L/(&B{I_Z&;E
established.

Nov +—A

China Foods held a nationwide sales FERREITEHEHELIE

manager and distributors’ meeting, R&HEEHAE  KEEZEH vl
during which 680 sales managers and 6801 $H4&E4CIE R ABI I 4E | ey i LT d ”.4'_'.' i

481 distributors nationwide listened to %?ﬁ%ﬁ RERAN S &R T -.-'ﬁ‘:,.* ;.';,_;;..,....ﬁ = N
and discussed the company’s reform plan, ﬁ%?ﬁ%fi%&%ui ) 1 "r

the sales development strategy, the brand ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁé - mEEEREKR

development strategy, the new product
development strategy and the Chinese New
Year promotion plans for 2012.
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2011 FERRXE—E

MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2011

At R Winning in Systems

New management members of China Foods
took offices, with Mr. Chi Jingtao as the
executive vice chairman and Ms. Luan Xiuju as
the managing director.

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Inner Mongolia)
Limited passed the LEED (Leadership in Energy
and Environmental Design) gold certification.
LEED is a certification system established by
USGBC (US Green Building Council, the most
authoritative organization in international
architecture at present). The plant in Inner
Mongolia became the first bottling plant of
Coca-Cola in China to receive this class of
certification.

China Foods held the 2011 Managers Meeting,
with over 200 middle and senior management
personnels attended. During the meeting,
discussion and studies were made on reform
plan and future development of China Foods,
and consensus were reaffirmed on our future
direction, visions and goals.
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2011

AUG /\A

The Ningxia winery project of China Foods
commenced and the Greatwall wine
production platform will be further expanded.
The project’s investment amounts to RMB310
million and will have a capacity of 20,000
tonnes of mid- to high-end wine per year. It is
expected to commence operation by the end
of 2012.

The foundation laying ceremony of the
Hebei bottling plant of COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Limited in Shijiazhuang was held,
which is the 12th bottling plants of COFCO
Coca-Cola. Its initial investment was RMB248
million and is expected to commence
operation by the end of 2012.

In order to put into practice the strategic
requirements of China Foods’ organizational
reform, the 1506 project was launched.
This project is aimed to facilitate the true
integration of China Foods' organization,
businesses and procedures, and to establish
a regional operation and decision-making
management platform through an information
system to enhance efficiency.

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited was
named the “2011 Best Employer” by various
business associations in China including the
International Public Management Association
for Human Resources, the China Employers
Brand Forum Council and the Human
Resource Association for Chinese & Foreign
Enterprises, Beijing.

10 CHINA FOODS LIMITED | Annual Report 2011
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2011 PEIRAKE—F

MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2011

After five months’ development, the business process management
("BPM System”) of China Foods was launched. The system accelerated
internal review procedures and work efficiency. At the same time,
these procedures were effectively controlled and managed, thereby
strengthening China Foods’ overall business performance.

China Foods’ nationwide customer service center commenced
operation. Customers across the country can call the service hotline
4008-506-506 to make enquiries or complaints. The center will further
strengthen our service and raise the image of our products, brands and
corporate image.

< FE winning in Profits

%@@Z%,HHMHE’JF‘%%* EP.RDD@%//IL*EE
B ([BPM %4t ) IEXC_EAR - BPM &40
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TERAEEEFPREH LEXRGE
1 - @3B 2 Bl IR 75 2 4 4008-506-506
BEX2EEP HBEEHEMBEMNE
3 RER - RIERTS - RTTEM
mEREETR

China Foods Limited received the “The
Most Potential Company Award” from the
Capital Magazine and the Capital Weekly
(Hong Kong’s most influential investment
magazines) in 2011. Receiving this award
signifies that the capital market’s confidence
in the future development of China Foods.
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Dear Shareholders,

To date, China Foods Limited (“China Foods”) has made gradual
improvements in its business scale, asset size, social influence
and market participation. But at the same time, we are facing an
increasingly complex international and domestic environment as well
as increasingly intense market competition.

Under the new positioning of China Foods, our goal is to provide
safe, nutritious and healthy products via our nationwide distribution
network. We aim to ensure that China Foods’ products truly satisfy
the needs of Chinese consumers, effectively improving their quality of
life and ultimately expanding China Foods’ consumer base. Through
continuous innovation to improve product quality, our Company is
well-positioned to better meet the demand of consumers.

2011 WAS A CHALLENGING YEAR FOR CHINA
FOODS

In order to improve upon the leadership position of China Foods in
the branded food industry for future long-term rapid development
and to create a large-scale downstream consumer foods sales and
distribution platform under COFCO group’s “complete value chain
strategy” business model with a key responsibility to create demand
pull for the entire upstream value chain, we need to apply an
integrated approach to manage research and development, sales and
supply chain through an advanced management model, enabling
China Foods to become a modern reference standard food company.

EFAHF
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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FREHF
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

To this end, we have implemented a “large scale reform”, making
adjustments to our management team, management methods and
organization to achieve a structure which is truly meaningful and
suitable for long-term development. This year, we have reorganized
our team to deal with market challenges in a more professional and
market-oriented manner; we have clarified our operating strategy and
realized improved sales and profitability growth; we have improved
our Company’s valuation with share price rising against market trend,
and outperforming both the market and our peers.

Based on the outcome, our “large scale reform” has achieved
successful preliminary results.

OUR PARENT COFCO GROUP CONTINUES
ITS STRONG SUPPORT IN OUR EFFORTS TO
CREATE DOWNSTREAM SYSTEM CAPACITY

Up to the present, there is no other enterprise in the China food
industry with a product range and a comprehensive industrial chain
comparable to our parent COFCO group. China Foods positioned itself
as the only large-scale downstream branded food platform within
COFCO group’s complete value chain. The quality of our products
from upstream to downstream is guaranteed. This will provide great
confidence to our consumers.

For future business development, COFCO group will continue its
strong support to China Foods in developing its downstream system
capacity through coordinated policies and reasonable allocation of
resources within the value chain. COFCO group will collaborate with
China Foods to establish a complete value chain sales and marketing
platform in anticipation of expanding the branded food business in
the future.

FOCUSING ON MARKET-ORIENTED INCENTIVE
PROGRAM

During the reform, we placed great importance in establishing the
incentive mechanism to motivate our team to support, participate and
cooperate to achieve sound results. The incentive mechanism aligns
the interest of our employees with the development of the Company.
For future development, the assessment of the capital market will
be better reflected in the incentive program of our employees. With
reference to a market-oriented incentive program which links the

14  CHINA FOODS LIMITED | Annual Report 2011
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management team’s income to the market value of China Foods, we
can effectively inspire our team’s proactiveness and creativity and
raise the overall performance, thereby enhancing value for both the
employees and the Company.

PROSPECTS

In 2012, the management team of China Foods need to have a
high level strategic view on our future business development and to
establish a keen sense of competition in order to succeed in every
single battle within this competitive market.

Under the new organizational structure, the new division of business
responsibilities and the new team, our resources will be better
allocated to further improve our product strength, improve the
distributor and supply chain management, remodel and enhance
brand image and accelerate the pace of brand building.

| am confident that by taking today as a new starting point, China
Foods will ultimately win the market competition with its professional
team and gradually expand its market share with a leading position
in the industry. We will create demand pull for the entire upstream
value chain of the COFCO group and deliver outstanding results in the
branded food industry. Our business scale and results performance
will truly live up to the name of “China Foods”.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the “board”),
| would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders for
their support of and trust in our management team. My gratitude
also extends to my fellow members of the board for their support
and contribution. | would also like to thank our staff for fulfilling their
duties and for their unremitting efforts in the development of the
business of the Group.

Ning Gaoning
Chairman
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR

Dear Shareholders,

2011 REVIEW: ADVANCE THROUGH REFORM,
TEAMWORK FOR WIN-WIN

| must extend my gratitude to every member of the board for the trust
and support during 2011, providing me with the opportunity to lead
this professional and passionate team to achieve profit growth during
a period of management model and organizational structure reform,
thus realizing an exciting year for China Foods.

In 2011, we undertook an organizational reform with great courage.
China Foods has transformed from a “product specific” business unit
management model to an “operation specific” matrix organization
model of a typical fast moving consumer goods company. After
considering the industry characteristics and our needs for future
development, we established an operational platform made up of
sixteen professional functional departments to serve nine sales
regions across the country. This change enables China Foods to
operate as a large scale integrated sales and marketing platform
which integrates its personnel and resources efficiently. From a
future development perspective, China Foods not only aim to achieve
leading market positions in the industry sectors in which we operate,
but more importantly to develop an efficient nationwide sales and
marketing platform capable of handling multiple product categories
and multiple brands.
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR

The objective of this reform is for China Foods to create a win-win
situation by enhancing the values of our customers, employees
and shareholders. To China Foods, “reform” is required for future
development. To become a genuine branded consumer foods
company capable of carrying multiple products, China Foods must
develop a large scale nationwide sales and marketing platform. For
every employee of China Foods, “reform” represents an “opportunity”
to further develop one’s career, to enhance and realize greater
value. For customers, “reform” represents an “opportunity for
closer alliance”. Our customers will receive more comprehensive,
more efficient and higher quality services, enabling them to achieve
business growth together with the expanding business scale and
product portfolio of China Foods.

During 2011, China Foods adopted a new business concept,
identifying two major drivers for future growth as “organic growth”
and “external expansion” which share equal importance. With
respect to organic growth, we confirmed “Five Wins” as our operating
philosophy and performance evaluation standard, namely “Winning
in Profits, Winning in Products, Winning in Brands, Winning
in Network and Winning in Systems”. With respect to external
expansion, we have defined specific evaluation criteria for future
acquisitions. For healthy business development, we not only continue
to improve upon the four core competencies, namely “product
innovation”, “brand building”, “sales and distribution network”
and “supply chain management”, but also continue to refine our
management system, organizational structure and human resources
management.

During 2011, we not only completed our organisational reform
successfully but also achieved satisfactory growth. It was under
this challenging condition that we have delivered promising growth:
sales revenue increased by 40.4%, operating profit increased by
41.1% and net profit was up by 51.0%. The stock price of China
Foods advanced against the declining trend of the stock market
with an increase of 21.8% during 2011 while the Hang Seng Index
declined by 21.3%. Looking at the development of specific product
categories, the beverage business continues to maintain its highest
growth among the bottling groups in China; market shares by revenue
of Fortune edible corn oil rose from 12.1% to 21% during 2011,
significantly faster than competing brands; both the Greatwall and the
Fortune brands were further enhanced compared with the previous
year.

18 CHINA FOODS LIMITED | Annual Report 2011

EREEMERESERKE  BREF 8
 BEREENHRRERT - BRHPERM
HEERRERNFFR - FERMR
KA AREAFHELZERNELEEN
miERMAR - MWATE—EAXNEHTE
REAEE ZmBEnERF - HPBERBEBMNE
Ths 25 IKKEKE ] SEAAES
TEERNBRERMES B REENTFH
g - HNEPME - [2F | ERESENTT
B AREPHFBIKEARERZH - ER
M BERENRS - EETERMRE AR
BHIRRER B HEXHHIER -

ot H @“

20115 PERMEHN THEER B
[PRR ] ATONE | BRI E - HRARE
- HEET [REMNE  REEm - R
B RIERE  RERS N[ IR BER
B M EHE B AR o BIRIMERE - BEE T KRR
EARBNAREEKIE - It BRI
T BB IEREF]  [REER] - T2H
mal - THEEER | IKROBRF N
HHE - EERLG  AEES AT REG=
REANTHERETE - HBEGHOEEE
=

20114 - I THEIB R b ST AKX 7 48 4% &
B RARTERTRENKEER: #HE
WAIERA04% » BENBIERAL1%  F
MEIER51.0% - FEIRMEBRREZH L
% L EFREERT 21.8% - MEHMNIE
IR IR21.3% - mBEBHRE - K
MEBEERFPERENEEERXY
7 : RERFIMEERKMEERNBRE—FZ
MR 12.1% R EI21% @ IRITIRE R EBY
Fam o MERMAREP mERREE L 5
RIS ERTT



ERAEERAG

STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR

For the first time since 2007, China Foods received from the Capital
Magazine “The Most Potential Company Award”. Such recognition
appropriately illustrates China Foods’ 2011 work theme of “Advance
through Reform, Teamwork for Win-Win”.

2012 PROSPECTS: PROGRESS THROUGH

COOPERATION, JOIN FORCES TO EXCEL

In 2012, the work theme for China Foods is “Progress through
Cooperation, Join Forces to Excel”.

Following the reform in 2011, our new management team, sales
channels and system resources must promptly integrate in order to
form a cohesive force to stay ahead in the market. This will enable our
businesses to keep high growth continuously, and enable the value of
our Company to be further enhanced.

In the long-run, as an integrated food and beverage enterprise, China
Foods is committed to becoming the leader in terms of business scale
and profitability in the China food and beverage industry. With the
strong background of our parent COFCO, the solid market foundation
of China Foods and the vast development potential of the China
market, it is envisaged that China Foods will have unlimited future
development potentials.

To achieve this long-term goal, we have set milestones for every
development stage. If the process of achieving these goals is a grand
journey, then the year 2012 marks its starting point.

In conclusion, on behalf of the Company, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders for their support of and trust
in our management team and to thank our staff for their unremitting
efforts. Let us join hands together and embrace this new journey.

Luan Xiuju
Managing Director
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2011, the Company’s new management team focused on the
work theme of “advance through reform, teamwork for win-win” and
identified two major drivers for future growth as “organic growth” and
“external expansion.” We established the “Five-Wins” benchmarking
indicators as our operating philosophy and performance evaluation
standard, namely “Winning in Profits, Winning in Products, Winning
in Brands, Winning in Network and Winning in Systems”. Also, we
defined specific evaluation criteria for future acquisitions. For healthy
business development, we not only continued to improve upon our four

noou

core competencies, namely “product innovation”, “brand building”,
“sales and distribution network” and “supply chain management”,
but also continued to refine our management systems, organisational

structure and human resources management.

During the year the management team has executed the following
key tasks:

(A) CHANGE IN ORGANISATIONAL
STRUCTURE:

Reform has been the most distinct characteristic of China
Foods in 2011.

During 2011, the Company formulated a detailed execution
plan for the reform of its organisational structure in line
with its development plan. We organised various functional
departments to develop the restructuring plan and timetable.
In order to succeed, we convened various meetings
with managers and strategic distributors to canvas the
reform proposals. Through this we refined the division of
responsibilities and departments’ functions, selected key
personnel, formulated policies and procedures and also made
adjustments to our management team, management method
and organisation.

By the end of 2011, the Company has completed the reform
and integration of its overall organisational structure. Save
for the beverage business unit which will continue to operate
independently as its operation is restricted to its franchised
territories, the other business units, namely the wine, kitchen
foods and confectionery business units were dissolved. The
new organisational structure consists of a nine-region sales
platform covering the entire China market and a centrally-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

managed supply chain system with the support from sixteen
professional functional department. This structure has
achieved a “clear division of functions and a centrally managed
regional operational platform managed by a professional
team”. We have transformed our organisation from a “product
specific” business unit management model to an “operation
specific” matrix organisation model of a typical “fast moving
consumer goods company”.

Commencing from January 1, 2012, save for our beverage
business unit, we are operating under the new organisational
structure. Accordingly, the management structure and
information systems and sales of multiple product categories
are operating under the unified sales platform which
demonstrates the successful implementation of this reform.

This change has enabled China Foods to operate a large
scale integrated sales and marketing platform with personnel,
resources and management being integrated. From a future
developmental perspective, it is envisaged that China Foods
will not simply own a few industry-leading product categories,
but more importantly, it will own and operate an efficient sales
and marketing platform capable of handling multiple product
categories and multiple brands.

ACHIEVING THE BUDGETED
PERFORMANCE DURING THE REFORM:

The development of our business is as important as our reform.

We are pleased to announce that we have achieved encouraging
annual results for 2011. Compared with 2010:

° Our Revenue Growth reached HK$28,011 million, up
40.4%.

o Our Gross Profit Growth reached HK$6,662 million, up
31.1%.

o Our Operating Profit* Growth reached HK$1,112 million,
up 41.1%.
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o Our EBITDA" Growth reached HK$1,596 million, up
32.0%.

° Our Bottom Line* Growth reached HK$646 million, up
51.0%.

° Our Earnings Per Share Growth reached HK23.12 cents,
up HK7.81 cents.

* Operating Profit of the Company and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) represents the aggregation of segment results less
corporate and other unallocated expenses.

A EBITDA represents earnings before finance cost, income tax
expense, depreciation, amortization of other intangible assets,
recognition of prepaid land premiums and share of profits of
associates.

# Bottom Line represents the profit attributable to owners of the
parent.

As a whole, our 2011 results achieved satisfactory growth and
an improvement in profitability compared with those in 2010.
Except for confectionery products, our overall performance in
2011 achieved our budgeted performance as the performance
of each product type was better than its respective key
competing products.

° Kitchen Food Products: Significant improvement for
consumer-pack edible oil has been recorded in terms of
both market share and profitability compared to 2010.

° Beverage Products: Robust growth in sales volume
and sales revenue have been recorded in our bottling
group’s franchised territories driven by its marketing of
the leading brands, resulting in an increase in market
share and furthering its leading position amongst major
competitors. Our profit margin remained relatively stable
under the pressure of rising raw material costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

° Wine Products: Sales volume has further recovered
due to refinement of our new sales and distribution
model and the continuing enhancement of product
mix. Attributable to the continuing enhancement of
product mix is the focus on high-end “Greatwall Chateau
Sungod” product and the launch of the new “Greatwall
Terroir” wine series, which features medium-to-high end
products from around the world. The average unit selling
price in 2011 has markedly improved and, as a resullt,
profit margins have also improved.

o Confectionery Products: Performance fell below our
expectations at the beginning of the year, mainly due to
rising costs of raw materials and the lack of economies
of scale.

(C) EXPLORING NEW CATEGORIES FOR

FUTURE EXTERNAL EXPANSION:

With respect to future external expansion, the Company
has defined five selection criteria for acquisition targets
including industry scale, rapid growth, high profit margins,
low concentration and a similar business model to the existing
product categories of the Company. We plan to select our
product categories based on these five criteria. Following the
acquisition of a Chilean vineyard and winery last year, the
Group successfully acquired Chateau de Viaud in Bordeaux,
France this year. We are actively seeking potential acquisition
opportunities in the United States, Australia, Spain and other
regions as sources of good quality and competitively priced
wine for importation into China. In addition, we are preparing
the launch of our new seasoning sauces including soy source
and vinegar.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Management’s performance on key tasks during the year analysed

by the “five-wins” benchmarking indicators are as follows:

1. WINNING IN PRODUCTS

(1) 2011 sales revenue analysis

Beverage Products: Our sales revenue amounted
to approximately HK$10,517 million in 2011, an
increase of approximately 32.8% compared to
2010; sales volume reached approximately 570.35
million unit cases in 2011, up 17.3% compared
to 2010. Strong growth in sales revenue and sales
volume were mainly attributed to the effective
execution of our distribution channel and market
development strategy. At the same time, sales
revenue per unit case was higher than that of last
year through the optimisation of pricing and an
improvement of our product mix.

Wine Products: Our wine business was actively
involved in the strategic restructuring of its sales
and distribution model in 2010. It also enhanced
its brand marketing and product mix by focusing
on high-end and medium-to-high end products.
During 2011, as the new sales and distribution
model underwent further refinements, annual
sales volume decreased by 2.1% compared
to 2010, being approximately 132.29 million
bottles (which is equivalent to approximately
1,330 bottles/ton based on a 750ml/bottle.)
The decrease in volume was also a result of the
comparatively high proportion of low-end wines
sold during 2010 under the old distribution
model. However, the decline in sales volume
has clearly recovered when compared to the
decrease in sales volume of 9.1% recorded during
the 2011 interim period. Our newly launched
medium-to-high end “Greatwall Terroir” wine
series, contributed approximately 10% of our
sales revenue in the first year of launch. The
sales revenue of our high-end brand, “Greatwall
Chateau Sungod”, increased by approximately
72% compared to 2010 whereas our high-end
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“Chateau Junding”, which conducted an ongoing
promotion and marketing campaign, recorded an
increase of approximately 96% in sales revenue
compared to 2010. Driven by the above factors,
the average unit selling price of wine products has
markedly improved, and the total sales revenue
stood at approximately HK$3,693 million, an
increase of 18.6% compared to 2010.

Kitchen Food Products: Sales revenue was
approximately HK$13,141 million in 2011, an
increase of 57.5% over 2010, and sales volume
was approximately 1.035 million tons, an increase
of 28.9% over 2010, which mainly reflects the
strengthening of our channel penetration and the
broadening of our sales network, the increase of
product competitiveness and a significant increase
in our market share.

Confectionery Products: Sales revenue for the
year 2011 was approximately HK$659 million, an
increase of 14.4% over 2010, and sales volume was
approximately 9,070 tons, up 19.1% over 2010,
which mainly reflects the launch of new products,
the strengthening of our channel penetration and an
enlargement of our sales network.
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Formulation of new product research and development
management processes

During the year, the Company has formulated, unified
and standardised management processes for the
research and development, and the launching and
assessment of new products focusing on specifications
in key areas. These management processes were
approved by the research and development and
innovation committee of the Company. We have been
focusing on the application of new products research
and development management process. This has
included holding a wine products gift boxes workshop
which has helped to create new concepts for presenting
and packaging our products. Furthermore, we have
proceeded to conduct customer trial exercises for new
products in advance of their formal launch.

Key new products launched in 2011 and their

performance

° Beverage Products: A new product type “Minute
Maid peach juice drink” (F=TIR/BHRIZE L) has
expanded the product category of the Minute
Maid series (TR RAKIE"), thus boosting
the sales volume of the Minute Maid series and
becoming a growth driver for sales revenue.

° Wine Products: To commemorate the founding
of the Chinese Communist Party and to further
consolidate our brand positioning as the “Honour
and Pride of our Nation,” we launched a Greatwall
Chateau Sungod Limited Edition Wine for the
Chinese Communist Party’s 90th Anniversary
(RMETELEEZOAFRERL ZE). In
order to meet the demand for high-end wine gift
products, we have successfully developed the
new Greatwall Chateau Sungod two-bottle pack
and four-bottle pack gift boxes. With respect to
medium-to-high end products, we have launched
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our new “Greatwall Terroir” wine series with
a core brand positioning emphasising quality
wines selected from the finest wine regions in the
world. The “Greatwall Terroir” wine series was
successfully launched through nine trade fairs and
sales promotion seminars.

Kitchen Food Products: We focused on the
promotion of “Fortune Golden Origin Maize Oil” by
communicating the theme of the health benefits
of our edible corn oil to consumers, and thereby
enhancing the image of “Fortune” corn oil. We
aimed to develop the “Fortune” brand as the
leading brand in the edible corn oil sub-category.
Furthermore, we actively promoted another key
product “Fortune Algal Oil DHA Grain Blended Oil”
under the theme of “nurturing the brain, caring for
all BAE KM - mEE2h". We also launched the
“Fortune zero-additive soy sauce series” under
the Fortune brand, which is in line with Fortune
brand’s core values of “Product safety, healthy
nutrition, care and happiness”.

Confectionery Products: We focused on the
adoption of our product differentiation strategy for
the innovation of new products such as our black
hazelnut syrup aerated chocolate bowl series,
orange flavored jelly candy with chocolate and
strawberry flavored jelly candy.
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Optimisation of production lines

Beverage Products: We have optimised the
volume of certain bottled sparkling beverages
and juices to cater for customer preferences for
container sizes.

Wine Products: We have substantially consolidated
our product mix and developed specific product
series aimed at different markets and price points
by optimising the different tiers of “Greatwall” wine
from high-end to low-end and eliminating poorly
performing products to help further enhance the
brand image of “Greatwall.”

Kitchen Food Products: As consumer demand
increases for enhanced oil types is on the rise due
to a greater awareness of health, we have adopted
a product differentiation strategy by increasing
our efforts to promote the continued growth in
high value-added oil products through the launch
of “LEFEP” olive oil and “aeHELAL” premium
soybean oil. Capitalising on the advantage of the
COFCO group’s upstream production capacity,
we have promoted further development of our
two key products, namely the “Fortune Golden
Origin Maize Oil” and “Fortune Algal Oil DHA Grain
Blended QOil”.

With respect to confectionery products, we have
refined the flavour, packaging and cost of our
products and upgraded their market image.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(4) Em#ELIHE

TERAAR

SE AR - RAAVETKM
RANBOERD2HET
HE - BIREHEEY
BRAEBEZMEN -

B iR BAIEARTRE
MAEEMBEBRIE - Wi
HARME REBEEE
BB ERMES - [ K
W EETE T aH iR
EmREt BXTIHEE
XETENESR  HREL
ZE [ R BEEN SR
MR o

BHERMME : [EERP )
RREMAHEEZHEEER
FRBE SRR BB
FEERMR - RMERER
{ERIEmERRE - BBl &E
il O Y it
—RARZ M T
=0 B 0 {8 228 i R 23R SR B B
B RKIEFEEEN LT
EXEED - N1
HeEMEKRS]  [1EHE
P35 M DHARR Y 2 38 A |
MK E N E m B IR R 3
E °

KB RMmmBTE © Hi
HWHEmMmMAK . 8
KRA - BEFETT
(1A N

AR | ZE——FFH 29

Sy



- @ EREWE S
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

%} 77/ @%

ESIRS

GREATWALL 4
K bk H E A

WINNING HA N#

"BRANDS




THBIWE S
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2. WINNING IN BRANDS

(1)

Market performance analysis

Beverage Products: Coca-Cola sparkling beverage
and Minute Maid juice brands recorded significant
growth in sales volume according to market research
conducted by AC Nielsen at the end of 2011.
Market share by volume for Coca-Cola sparkling
beverage and Minute Maid juice brands improved
by 0.6 percentage points and 1.2 percentage
points respectively, which continue to exceed
their respective competitors and maintain the
No.1 ranking in market share of their respective
categories within the franchised territories of our
bottling group. The overall market performance
of sparkling beverages outperformed competing
products. Minute Maid juice brand achieved
outstanding market performance as evidenced by
maintaining its lead over competitors in both sales
volume and distribution coverage.

Wine Products: While the new sales and distribution
model has been subjected to on-going refinement,
sales volume decreased compared to 2010.
According to market research conducted by AC
Nielsen at the end of 2011, the “Greatwall” brand
recorded a slight decline in market share by value
of 1.2 percentage points, but it still maintains its
leading position over its key competitor by a material
margin and continues to maintain its No.1 ranking.
Its market penetration remains stable and brand
healthiness testing still ranks higher than its peers,
although a slight decrease in distribution coverage
has been experienced.
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Kitchen Food Products: According to market
research conducted by AC Nielsen at the end of
2011, the “Fortune” brand consumer-pack edible
oil secured a No. 2 ranking in market share and its
market share by value increased by 1.3 percentage
points, as a result the gap between “Fortune” and
the market’s leading brand has narrowed. All other
benchmarks such as distribution coverage, brand
healthiness and market penetration have also
improved.

Confectionery Products: Key competing brands
have increased their marketing investments during
the year. According to market research conducted
by AC Nielsen at the end of 2011, the “Le conté”
brand ranked No. 3 by market share and its market
share by value declined 1.2 percentage points.
In order to enhance market penetration, we have
organised sales outlet promotions and brand
communication activities during major festivals.
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(2) Clearly defined brand position and optimised brand

strategy

Beverage Products: We continue to consolidate
the leading position of sparkling beverages by
strengthening the brand message of “Refreshing
(3&&h)” for Coca-Cola, “Cool to heart (FELNE * 10
F#5) " for Sprite and “Everybody loves fruit pulp
AAE SRR for Minute Maid juice respectively.

Wine Products: We completed the repositioning of
the Greatwall brand by giving it a clear focus on its
position as the “Wine Expert” and by consistently
emphasising the high-end premium wine image of
the “Greatwall Chateau Sungod” and medium-to-
high end wine image of the “Greatwall Terroir”. We
continued to rationalise our existing regional and
table wine ranges by the release of new product
offerings and elimination of less popular wines.
We also initiated Greatwall International Chateau
concept to promote our brand image.

Kitchen Food Products: We clearly defined
consumer-pack edible corn oil as the breakthrough
category in our range and rapidly established a
leading position for the category and enhanced
its brand image. We positioned Fortune brand as
the “Kitchen Foods Expert” with the intention of
creating a wide range of kitchen products under
the brand. This has been supported by our new
promotion of Fortune offering a “Safe quality,
Happy life (REZZ © =EERF) .

Confectionery Products: We continued the dual-
brand strategy for “Le conté” and “Merveille”.
We completed the rationalisation of all the “Le
conté” product line, refined its positioning and
packaging. Our “Merveille” brand has positioned
its product as being “delicious” and enhancing
“happiness” through brand communication and
sales promotion activities.
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(3) Online media communication

Beverage Products: We have integrated our
advertising resources by placing advertisements
through television, internet and outdoor broadcasting.
Our advertising resources were mainly invested in
core brands such as Coca-Cola, Sprite and Minute
Maid juice. Furthermore, we have selectively
increased media communication for Fanta and juice
milk in certain key sales markets.

Wine Products: We continue to advertise through
national media which has strong national and
industry influence and high credibility such as
CCTV/Airlines and national news and business
magazines to consolidate a high-end brand image.
We also used new media and interactive channels
such as internet blogs, LED display screens at
office buildings and celebrity testimonials to
promote the “Greatwall Terroir” series.

Kitchen Food Products: We conducted television
and outdoor media activities on a theme of DHA for
the brain and also launched nationwide “Fortune
Golden Origin Maize Oil” under the theme of
“Golden Storm” edible corn oil in a multi-media
campaign using television, outdoor advertising,
radio, print and other media. Integrated with the
concept of “Fortune becomes the designated
edible oil for aerospace”, we commenced a series
of marketing activities to promote our products at
the end of November 2011.

Confectionery Products: We integrated the
official websites for “Le conté” and “Merveille”
and commenced the promotion and network
communication of the “happy and affectionate
Merveille” concept. We also conducted network
marketing and promotion activities through the
flagship store on taobao.com, and group purchase
websites.
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Sponsorship and promotional events

Beverage Products: We have continued to build
a strong public image of corporate citizenship by
organising the “Contest to select torchbearers,
reporters and support teams at stadium of Universiade
Shenzhen 20117, the “Sprite NBA Slam Dunk
Contest” under the theme of [ EZ2E=SHhEHAIE
JEEZET | and the “COFCO Coca-Cola Photo Taking
Contest” and effectively increased our brand’s
exposure to consumers and enhance the awareness
and acceptance of our brands.

Wine Products: We held a news conference
following our appointment of international wine-
making master Mr. Michel Rolland, sponsored
the Boao Forum for Asia and held press release
events following our acquisition of Chateau de
Viaud in France with an aim of strengthening the
international image of the Greatwall brand. These
activities attracted the attention of both foreign and
domestic news agencies, China national and local
media, resulting in many press releases and in-
depth interviews.

Kitchen Food Products: “Fortune” was the only
edible oil brand selected by Millward Brown as
one of the “Top 50 Most Valuable Chinese
Brands”. We also organised the “COFCO Fortune
— 2011 National Vocational Students Cooking
Skills Competition” with the Ministry of Education
and commenced a nationwide project named
“Beneficial to the People” to supply edible oil to
low-income households.

Confectionery Products: The “Le conté” brand
cooperated with twelve magazines including “Rayli
IGEE” and “Fellow Traveller (JRf¥)” to promote
the brand with soft advertising under the theme of
“For the Love of Chocolate” ({15155 /7)) during
Valentine’s Day in 2011.

(4)

EHEHENEEENH

FOE A BT
2011 RN K2 A48
e NEF - KBAR
ERGEELSEBERE
&) [EEESHEEIEE
BT TEMNEENBAE
ERE - [FiEn] O A £E5R

FARE|E  TIRARE
BB ERNERNNE
B AT mENTE
WL TREARNER
HARER o

B WAIRE T B
BT AR K R R B 2L
MEEGAE BB THEE
wiB - B TEEERE
KRBT EEAES
BEIE - BREHAL -
R I TR0~ R
Ba#EHERE2ET
ERREE e RMmE
BIFREIZR -

BFERmmE : [EEF)
ERME—RBmEBAE
Millward Brown ZiH) [
BEEE+SE MBS0 ] -
WA B SR hIgtE
FRFIHF 2011 F 2 BB PR
RZEBBERE(RER) | -
FERZEUENERIER
HEABAERRE -

KER MM 2011 F15
AEHIR - [ &% ] 8(3m
B (GRE)F 12K H
A ARCEBTR D)
EREEE -

THARERAR | —2——F4% 35




& &1l B 53 #h

-@ MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(5) Promotional activities at points-of-sale

Beverage Products: We have promoted all our
brands under Sprite’s theme of “Relaxing at Home
FERIKRE " during the Mid-Autumn Festival and
the National Day holidays. We boosted the sales
volume of sparkling beverages, Minute Maid juice
and juice milk by our “}1B%&% - m—E " free-
drink promotional campaign and, as a result,
we successfully translated consumers’ brand
preference and loyalty into their desire to purchase.

Wine Products: We conducted a marketing
campaign for the launch of the “Greatwall Terroir”
wine series through direct marketing by arranging
free-tasting, complimentary offerings on purchases
and outlet marketing at points of sale located
in all key cities across the country with an aim
of successfully promoting our core message of
“Exquisite Wines selected from the Finest Wine
Regions in the World (2ERER®E « K= X)) " to
our target customers. Also, we organised “Greatwall
Chateau Sungod” wine tasting events followed by
in-depth discussions with opinion leaders and core
customers. The Mid-Autumn Festival and National
Day Holiday promotion activity which covered all
wine categories was the first of such large scale in-
store promotion activity to take place in China.

Kitchen Food Products: We conducted a nation-
wide marketing campaign under the theme of
“Happy to you, Happy life (HAPPY %2 YOU, *=1&
#&F9) " during the Chinese New Year and “Safe
quality, Happy life (fa& %2 © F&EaFT)” during
the Mid-Autumn Festival and National Day Holiday.
We enhanced the “Fortune” brand image by
launching the “Fortune Golden Origin Maize QOil”
with the theme “Originates from the Golden Corn
Fields of the World /R B ttH R & & E K& "
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Confectionery Products: We employed a thematic
promotion under the catch phrase of “Most rich
and pure, Le conté my favorite (2)2ERE - &F
47 )" during important festivals throughout the
year as the major platform to promote sales and
increasing brand awareness with, for example,
the expression of love during the Seven Sisters
Festival and Valentine’s Day and celebrating family
love during the Mid-Autumn Festival, Christmas
and Chinese New Year. We also promoted new
products such as aerated chocolate and juice jelly
candy in major cities and stores in China by direct
marketing through free-tastings.
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3. WINNING IN NETWORK

(1)

Regional integration of sales platforms

In 2011, the Company decided to divide the national
market into nine regions, namely the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
region, Northeastern region, Northern region, Eastern
region, Shanghai region, Southern region, Central region,
Northwestern region and Southwestern region. This
was based on our assessment of each region’s potential
and our presence and performance in each region. We
designed the organisational structure both at the head
office and regionally, established key positions and formed
core management teams in all regions. We also developed
the grouping criteria for different cities and different
customer groups, set up unified customer service centres
and mapped respective corporate customers and sales
channels based on their differing characteristics. As an
essential part of this restructuring, we have implemented
the change stage by stage in order to ensure its completion
will not have any negative effect to the stability of the
Company’s businesses.

In July 2011, we successfully held the first strategic
distributor meeting to publicise the Company’s development
plan. This received a very positive response from customers.
Over 80 strategic distributors and 110 managers of the
Group attended the meeting in which the new management
team explained its organisational development plans.
The Company’s new management team also addressed
questions raised by customers and openly discussed
any matter of concern with them during a forum session.
The meeting helped to align the development plan of the
Company and the interests of its customers, and was
successful in promoting our communication with customers
and their confidence in the Company.
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(2)

System building in sales and distribution channels
With respect to beverage products, based on our analysis
principles of visibility, controllability and profitability, we
applied different sales models for differentiated markets
with different degree of market sophistication. In rural
markets, we selected business partners with capability to
expand our retail outlet coverage in these markets. In urban
markets, we continued to foster strategic partnerships with
our key account customers with a view to establishing
long-term, stable and strategic business relationships with
major regional customers in order to develop an information
sharing platform, joint information analysis and joint
business plans.

The Company has taken the following steps to strengthen
our sales and marketing platform by achieving synergy
between different channels during 2011:

° We established a group purchase platform
with centralised communication, settlement
and customer services by formulating a group
purchase plan and assessed the process
effectiveness of the platform by evaluating it
against various case studies. We completed a
number of projects on this platform including
group purchases of multi-product categories from
Datang Microelectronics Technology, Shanghai
Dulux and Shanghai Sanofi.

° We promoted the synergies of on-premise
channels and developed a sales plan for a dining-in
channel via sharing and discussion of experience.
We set up a typical catering store under the model
of “Serving both Frontend Store + Backend Kitchen
AI& + 12" in Beijing during the second half of
2011 and by selecting certain “South Beauty (1%
STEG)” chain restaurants as our “flagship stores”
for on-premise channels which was a successful
demonstration of a multi-product collaboration.
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We coordinated joint promotional activities for
multi-product categories at a number of large
supermarkets, including Walmart and Beijing
Hualian Hypermarket during major festivals, and
further promoted sales in Beijing convenience
stores operating under the 7-11 franchise.
Benefiting from the Company’s overall synergy,
we entered into a national strategic cooperation
framework with PetroChina uSmile convenience
stores and formulated a unified development plan
for multi-product categories. We will continue to
promote business cooperation in other provinces
and regions.

Currently, China Foods has established a unified
4-tier sales organisational structure comprising
its head office, regions, provinces and cities,
together with central management team for
special channels, on-premise channels and
off-premise key accounts channels, ensuring
professionalism and synergies for our regional
platform in both channel management and
customer management.
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4. WINNING IN SYSTEMS

(1)

Supply chain system

The Company regards food safety as critically important
and has made strenuous efforts to establish a
comprehensive risk management system through strictly
complying with various external and internal quality
standards and precautionary measures, enhancing the
management of our product quality control department
and strengthening the monitoring and inspection of
our production processes. As the DEHP contamination
scandal unfolded in 2011, the Company promptly
established a specialised team to conduct thorough
inspections of all product formulations and workflow
processes, sent samples of products and packaging
materials for inspection by third party laboratories and
made arrangements for inspections by government
organisations. No DEHP was detected. Meanwhile, we
have strengthened food safety risk management through
the inspection of our suppliers’ product formulations and
production processes. All relevant inspection reports
showed that all the samples of our products, additive
materials and packaging materials of our suppliers are in
compliance with national standards.

In 2011, the Company contracted with an external audit
firm to conduct a quality management system certification
for our factories. All of our factories passed both the
external and internal audits. We formulated a risk control
framework for the complete value chain and a traceability
system framework, and required each factory to establish
a food protection programme. We have also issued unified
“Health Standards for Quality Management System” and
“Original Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM”) Certification
Standards”. The pollutants emitted from the factories
of the Company and the concentration of pollutant
conformed to national standards. Energy consumption
per RMB10,000 production was reduced by 4% and total
COD emissions reduced by 18%. The results of tests on
energy consumption, efficiency and technique were all
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better than the benchmarks we had established. We have
also instituted new operational management standards for
all new, renovation and expansion construction projects.
These new standards have applied to the construction of
a new bottling plant in Shijiazhuang and the installation
of three new production lines in other bottling plants, the
expansion of Chateau Sungod and the construction of our
Ningxia winery.

To improve the quality of raw materials and enhance food
safety assurance, we have committed to increase the
ratio of grape supply from self-owned and co-operative
vineyards for our wine production.

In respect of production capacity expansion, we
commissioned a new PET production line at our Gansu
plant for our beverage products. We are now planning to
add new production lines at our Hunan, Shandong and
Hebei plants in order to support the expansion of our
sales coverage in the area and improve our operational
efficiency. As of the end of 2011, our annual sparkling
beverages bottling capacity was approximately 600
million unit cases, a moderate increase compared with
that at the end of 2010. Our wine production bases in
Ningxia and Xinjiang are under construction. Bottling
capacity at the Ningxia plant will be approximately
20,000 tons per annum while the fermentation capacity
of the Xinjiang fermentation centre will be approximately
30,000 tons per annum. These production bases will
enable us to expand our sales coverage and improve our
operational efficiency.
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THBIW RS

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In light of the increasing market demand for our edible
oils, we have strengthened the collaboration with our
parent COFCO group in order to benefit from their
increased upstream capacity from new production
factories and we have clearly identified the production
capabilities for each oil type and category. This will
enable us to optimise and improve the logistics efficiency
and to ensure sufficient supply within our sales regions.
Our relationship with third party OEM sub-contractors
allows us to plan for optimal utilisation and logistic
support to increase our responsiveness to the market and
to improve our customer order fulfillment rate.

Organisation and talent management system

During 2011, with respect to talent planning, the
Company has formulated the “China Food 2011-
2015 Talent Planning Report,” which set out the talent
demands, talent development measures and key projects
for the next five years.

We used a variety of recruitment channels for our talent
recruitment and focused on attracting talent in research
and development, marketing, information technology and
supply chain to fill causal vacancies arising from staff
turnover. During the organisational restructuring, the staff
turnover rate of provincial sales managers was lower than
the average staff turnover rate of the Company.

During the organisational restructuring, we formulated
clear standards and procedures for selecting appropriate
talent. The candidates’ experience in the fast-moving
consumer goods industry, management experience
in multi-product categories, educational attainment,
leadership in managing large teams and past work
performance are carefully reviewed and assessed.
On this basis, we thoroughly assessed the leadership
skills of the candidates by 360 degree assessment and
conducted independent evaluations of their approach to
work, which enable us to understand better the overall
qualifications of the candidates before conducting two
rounds of group interviews. Following this, candidates
who fulfilled the specific requirements of the posts were
then selected.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In regard to our talent training, we completed a leadership
development training for front-line supervisors and
middle management during the period when we were
implementing our organisational reform, and established
the “China Foods Business School” in line with the
development strategy of the Company. Upon the
completion of the implementation of reforms, we organised
cross-product category training for front-line business
managers in order to improve their understanding
and knowledge of, and familiarity with all our product
categories, brands, sales and marketing models.

In order to retain and incentivise management, we
granted a second batch of share options to our core
management team. In coordination with the new
organisational structure, the Company also set up an
incentive program specifically for the sales teams of
different product categories.

We continue our efforts to promote our corporate culture. In
this regard, we promoted the smooth implementation of our
reforms of our organisation structure, and communicated
the philosophy behind the organisational restructuring
through the core concept of “advance through reform,
teamwork for win-win”.

With respect of our system building, we continued to
optimise performance management and commenced the
use of an electronic performance assessment system.
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THBIWE S

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Information system

The Company continued to refine the use of its enterprise
resource planning system (“ERP System”) and customer
relationship management system (“CRM System”) and
installed its business process management system
(“BPM System”). Through internal and external network
platforms, we have created an integrated management
and control platform to manage our business by
centralising the approval process and strengthening
budget management with an aim of facilitating our
organisational restructuring.

In addition, the Company launched a distributor
management system (“DMS") to obtain channel
stock data at distributor level and points of sale as
well as information on retail prices. This will enable
us to monitor the value chain of distributors and retail
prices at terminal points of sale more effectively and
promote the computerisation of distributors and refine
their management. Such measures will strengthen
our knowledge and control of the stock levels within
the channel system. By the end of 2011, save for the
beverage products, we have installed the DMS System at
over 300 distributors of various product categories and
we aim to complete the installation of our DMS System
for a total of 500 key distributors by the first half of 2012.
It is expected that the sales of those key distributors
will comprise the majority of our sales revenue after the
completion of installation and provide comprehensive
real-time information on our distributor chain.
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-@ MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(4)

For our beverage products, we have been taking
measures to promote and expand the coverage of our
mobile customer management system, as it can improve
the efficiency of customer site visits by standardising
the services provided by our sales representatives to
customers and enhancing the quality of our service.
Meanwhile, we have commenced our research and
development of our “E3S Electronic Receipt and
Payment Platform Project” with a view to provide our
customers with one-stop delivery, receipt and payment
services through mobile technologies and an electronic
payment platform to improve efficiency in settlement and
reduce operational risks.

Internal control system

In order to support organisational restructuring and
regional integration, we have modified the overall
structure of the audit department by establishing an
information technology audit team and a sales region
audit team along with the existing internal audit team and
disciplinary and supervisory team. We hope that these
new teams will help to strengthen the monitoring of the
core SAP system as well as the daily management and
control of various sales regions.

With respect to risk management, we focused on
certain high-risk areas identified in our risk assessment
being principally food safety, authority and cost control
risks. We conducted further analysis and refined our
risk management system by clarifying specific control
measures, control record keeping and personnel-in-
charge for the respective risks.

48 CHINA FOODS LIMITED | Annual Report 2011

(4)

R mBHHE TETHEER
BRERABHEPEERL
(IMCMEFR DO EZ BB
MCM R IR - SEEBH
ROBEPFRNME » RBEBHK
RUBEFPHRG - RERBE
E: AR FABEBSEFRER
B FEIRE | 07 58
BEBB MG LM ES
HEEFHXE « FRRTR—
RIRK - BRSO R K K8
ZRk

RIERR

RTXHFEMABRE  REE
B RIS EERMOE
RERETTHE  EEANA
EBIEHI A A A A AR B R AP A &
#E o RIITEMEE KRR
BT o — T ERICEZL SAP

AZHERERE - Z—TER(L
HEHEARNABEERME

T/L °

ERRERES®E - TSRS
FRETERERBIEE  RmEd
J—Wﬁ %@J—Uﬂﬁﬂﬁi$ﬁfm %U
[RgHEST T E— AT ATE

b '%ETW%H%WEE

i %‘J?E&ﬁﬂl EHIRCEMEEA ©



THBIWE S

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In order further to codify and strengthen the internal
management of the Company, we formulated the “China
Foods Chart of Authority” which clearly defined the rights
and responsibilities of all internal departments to ensure
more effective control over costs and to ensure that our
business activities are conducted in an efficient and
orderly manner.

During the implementation of certain information systems,
the audit department has verified and confirmed that all
processes complied with internal control requirements.

Furthermore, the Company continued vigorously to combat
various types of intellectual property infringement and
strengthened the protection of intellectual property
during the year. We also mitigated our legal risks through
standardising contract management, effectively resolving
outstanding litigation and disputes, improving the
compliance system and completing special audits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Beverage Products: We were able partially to pass through
pressure from rising costs of key raw materials with the
optimisation of the pricing and improvement of our product
mix. To cope with the pressure from rising raw material costs
under our cost management measures, we also applied
diversified procurement strategies, strengthened cost control
and budget management to improve cost efficiency. Segment
results stood at approximately HK$531 million, an increase of
1.3%.

Wine Products: With our continuing effort to promote the
high-end “Greatwall Chateau Sungod” and the successful
launch of the medium-to-high end “Greatwall Terroir” series,
the sales portfolio of our wine business continued to improve
and gross profit margin increased by approximately 4.9
percentage points. Segment results recovered substantially
to approximately HK$633 million, an increase of 73.4%
compared to last year.

Kitchen Food Products: In order to cooperate with the
government’s goal of stabilising the volume supply and the
selling price of edible oils, the Company has taken proactive
measures to stock expected volumes in advance whilst seeking
relevant government support. The Company actively optimised
the product mix, strengthened its market penetration and
developed sales and distribution channels, monitored the
level of channel stock and maintained a balance between its
business objectives and those of the government. As a result,
both sales volume and profits increased significantly. Benefiting
from its operating leverage, segment results improved
substantially to approximately HK$162 million, an increase of
376.5% compared to last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Confectionery Products: Segment results recorded a loss
of approximately HK$95 million, an increase of 20.2%
compared to last year. As mentioned above, the performance
of confectionery products fell below our expectations at the
beginning of the year, which was principally attributable to the
rising costs of raw materials and the lack of economies of scale.
Despite this, we believe this sector holds out the prospects of
satisfactory returns and it is apparent that a number of our
competitors have performed well. We are confident that we can
achieve better performance after the implementation of our
new sales and marketing model in 2012.

For our treasury and liquidity management, the Company
established capital planning procedures during 2011 to
strengthen the predictability of cash flows and to enhance
centralised capital management and allocate fund flows
through centralised capital pool for the purpose of saving
external financial costs. With respect to our financing
management, besides the use of centralised capital
management, we continued to promote the use of supply chain
financing and to utilise Hong Kong Dollar borrowings to finance
our mainland business to reduce the effective cost of financing.

As regards our tax planning, the Company completed its
feasibility study on the rationalisation of the effective rate of
income tax and introduced more effective tax planning. As a
result, the effective tax rate was reduced to 29.8%, compared
to the effective tax rate of 31.9% in 2010.
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OVERVIEW

THBIW RS

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2011, we not only completed our organisational reform

successfully but also achieved satisfactory growth. Following the

organisational reforms in 2011, our new management team, sales

channels and system resources must promptly integrate in order to

form a cohesive force to stay ahead in the market. This will enable our

businesses to keep high growth continuously, and enable the value of

our Company to be further enhanced.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Supplemental information to segment results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2011 with comparative figures, are set out below:

Growth of volume by segment:
— Beverage (unit cases)
— Wine (bottles)
— Kitchen Foods (tons)
— Confectionery (tons)

Growth of revenue by segment:
— Beverage
- Wine
— Kitchen Foods
— Confectionery

Segment results to revenue ratio:

b

R2011F R - BAAIMEIERI M TR T AR 4
5 RARTERTREFNFEER - FL
2011 FM B E - 2012 F F EHE KA AR
B BRREMNAERS  ZRRERMR
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PIEBRREBERFESIGE - EARRE
BEREE— R -

B35 o1
REBMEE2011F 12 A1 HIEFED AR
EOHTEERELRBRTRIINT -

For the year ended
31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

REBERIEID 2 HEBEE

— &R (1R78)

— B (E)
—BERMm (W)
—REIRm (HE)

BEBRRE D 2 WANEEK

— 48
B

~BHRERS
— KRS

DEBREEE WAL R

— Beverage — 8K
— Wine —BE
— Kitchen Foods —EHEEmMm
— Confectionery —KER®
Effective tax rate (Note 1) BREE (K1)
Note:
1. The calculation of effective tax rate of the Group is based on tax divided by adjusted

profit before tax after excluding the contributions by share of profits of associates.

2011 2010
% %
17.3 14.4
-2.1 -18.4
28.9 25.6
19.1 8.0
32.8 11.6
18.6 -2.6
57.5 38.9
14.4 10.9
5.1 6.6
17.1 11.7
1.2 0.4
-14.4 -13.8
29.8 31.9
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVENUE

The Group’s total revenue for the year grew by approximately 40.4%
over the last year, with the combined effects of:

o The revenue growth of Kitchen Foods segment, with explosive
growth in sales volume attributable to the strengthening of our
channel penetration and sales network building, increasing
product competitiveness and significant expansion of our
market share.

o The revenue growth of Beverage segment, with strong growth
momentum in sales volume mainly driven by the effective
execution of distribution channel and market development
strategy. At the same time, sales revenue per unit case was
higher than that of last year through the optimisation of the
pricing mechanism and improvement of our product mix.

° The revenue growth of Wine segment, with progressive improvement
in its product mix enhancement mainly driven by key product
types such as “Greatwall Chateau Sungod”, “Chateau Junding”
and “Greatwall Terroir” under the new sales and distribution
model, that outweighed the impact of a slight decline in overall
sales volume as the comparative volume was partially conducted
under the old sales and distribution model; and

o The revenue growth of Confectionery segment, with improvement
in sales volume attributable to the launch of new products and the
strengthening of our channel penetration and sales network building.

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Overall gross profit margin dropped from 25.5% to 23.8% due to
higher contribution to revenue by Kitchen Foods segments with
relatively lower gross profit margin during the year.

For Wine segment, our continuing sales and promotion of the high-
end Greatwall Chateau Sungod and the successful launch of the
medium-to-high end Greatwall Terroir series contributed to the sales
revenue together with gross profit margin increase of approximately
4.9 percentage points.
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THBIWE S

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For Kitchen Foods segment, in cooperation with the government’s
goal to stabilize the volume supply and the selling price of edible
oils, the Company has taken proactive measures to stock expected
volumes in advance whilst seeking relevant government’s support.
Also, the Company actively optimised the product mix.

For Beverage segment, we were able to partially pass through
pressure from rising costs of key raw materials with the optimisation
of the pricing mechanism and improvement of our product mix. To
cope with the pressure from rising raw material costs under our cost
management measures, we also applied diversified procurement
strategies, strengthened cost control and budget management in
improving cost efficiency.

As a result, gross profit margin of both Kitchen Foods segment and
Beverage segment slightly dropped.

For the small-scale Confectionery segment, gross profit margin
decreased due to cost pressure from price increases in its key raw
materials and packaging materials.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS

Aggregate selling and distribution costs grew by 26.5%, less than the
magnitude of revenue growth. Overall selling and distribution costs to
revenue ratio dropped mainly due to the benefit of operating leverage
and tightened selling and distribution cost control with room for on-
going improvement.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Aggregate administrative expenses grew by 25.6%, less than the
magnitude of revenue growth. Administrative expenses to revenue
ratio dropped mainly due to operating leverage despite the increase
in administrative expenses attributable to the general expansion of
management functions, pre-operating expenses of new subsidiaries
in the PRC and overseas and increase in share option expense.
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THBFIWRE S
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCE COSTS
Overall finance costs dropped by 18.5% which was mainly due to
continuing enhancement of the centralised capital management by
allocating funds from centralised capital pool with an aim to save
external financial costs.

SHARE OF PROFITS OF ASSOCIATES

Share of profits of associates increased slightly by 2.2%, mainly due
to cost pressure from price increases in its key raw materials and
packaging materials.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The Company completed the feasibility analysis regarding
rationalisation of the effective income tax rate and started tax planning
arrangement. Effective tax rate decreased to 29.8% during the year,
decreased by 2.1 percentage point due to a progressive improvement
of the tax planning arrangement.

The combined impacts of uncertainty of tax deductibility of prolonged
losses of certain subsidiaries, non-tax deductibility of certain
corporate expenses at headquarter and certain business units,
together with pre-operating expenses of new subsidiaries in the PRC
and overseas contributed to an effective income tax rate relatively
higher than statutory tax rate in the PRC, but with foreseeable room
for improvement under group tax planning.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Company’s treasury function formulated financial risk
management procedures, which are also subject to periodic
review by the senior management of the Company. This treasury
function operates as a centralised service for managing financial
risks, including interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks,
reallocating surplus financial resources within the Group,
procuring cost-efficient funding and targeting yield enhancement
opportunities. The treasury function regularly and closely monitors
its overall cash and debt positions, proactively reviews its funding
costs and maturity profiles to facilitate timely refinancing, if
appropriate.
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THBIWE S

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s unpledged cash and
cash equivalents totalled approximately HK$1,790 million (31
December 2010: approximately HK$1,741 million), and the
Group’s net current assets were approximately HK$1,830 million
(31 December 2010: approximately HK$1,525 million).

During the year, due to working capital changes for preparation
of peak season sales during Chinese New Year, the net cash
inflow from operating activities was approximately HK$666
million (2010: approximately HK$125 million) whereas the
EBITDA amounted to approximately HK$1,596 million (2010:
approximately HK$1,209 million).

Having considered the normalized cash flow from operating
activities, unpledged cash and bank deposits and current bank
and other borrowings and banking facilities available to the Group,
the management believes that the Group’s financial resources are
sufficient to fund its debt payments, day-to-day operations, capital
expenditures and prospective business development projects.

Held-to-maturity investments represented corporate bonds with
expected redemption dates falling within the coming two years or
three years at dates of purchase. The Company has no exposure in
mortgage-backed securities, collateralized debt obligations or similar
asset classes.

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars. The management is of the view that the exchange rate
downside risk exposure of the Group is limited.

The Company cautiously uses derivatives principally in the form of
future contracts and interest rate swaps as appropriate for financial
risk management purpose only, in hedging cash flows against the
exposure caused by sharp rise in raw material price and interest
rate volatility. Entering into derivative transactions for speculative
purposes and investing liquidity resources in financial products with
significant underlying leverage or derivative exposure are absolutely
prohibited.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, the total number of issued shares of the Company
increased by 432,000 shares as a result of certain employees of
the Group exercising their share options granted in 2007. As at 31
December 2011, the total number of issued shares of the Company
was 2,792,891,756.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had certain interest-bearing
bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,761 million (31 December
2010: approximately HK$1,487 million) and other borrowing of
approximately HK$56 million (31 December 2010: approximately
HK$29 million).

Bank borrowings carried annual interest rates ranging between
0.61% and 4.63% (31 December 2010: between 0.72% and
5.31%). Other borrowing carried annual interest rate of 6.1% (31
December 2010: 4.59%).

As at 31 December 2011, net assets attributable to owners of the
parent were approximately HK$6,670 million (31 December 2010:
approximately HK$5,947 million) and net borrowing position of the
Group (unpledged cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings) was approximately HK$27 million (31
December 2010: net cash position of approximately HK$225 million)
and the net gearing ratio was approximately 0.4% (the ratio of net
borrowing to net assets attributable to owners of the parent) (31
December 2010: not applicable due to net cash position).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSETS
PLEDGED

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

As at 31 December 2011, certain bank borrowings of the Group
were secured by charges over certain buildings and time deposits of
the Group with aggregate net book value of approximately HK$118
million (31 December 2010: approximately HK$168 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2011, the Group employed approximately 17,546
staff in Mainland China and Hong Kong (31 December 2010: 16,027).
Employees are paid according to their positions, performance,
experience and prevailing market practices, and are provided with
management and professional training. Employees in Hong Kong are
provided with retirement benefits, either under a Mandatory Provident
Fund exempted ORSO scheme or under the Mandatory Provident
Fund scheme, as well as life insurance and medical insurance.
Employees in Mainland China are provided with basic social insurance
and housing fund in compliance with the requirements of the laws of
China. Details of these benefit schemes are set out in “Other employee
benefits” under note 2.4 “Summary of significant accounting policies”
to the financial statements in this annual report.

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Option Scheme”) was
adopted on 21 November 2006 for a term of ten years for the purpose
of rewarding eligible employees of the Group (including executive
directors and non-executive directors of the Company) based on
individual merits.

As at 1 January 2011, a total of 16,344,500 share options of the
Company remained outstanding. During the year, 30,880,000 share
options were granted pursuant to the terms of the Option Scheme,
whilst a total of 855,400 share options were cancelled and a total of
412,600 share options lapsed. In addition, a total of 432,000 shares
were issued and allotted by the Company upon the exercise of share
options by a former director and a former employee of the Company.
Accordingly, as at 31 December 2011, a total of 45,524,500 share
options of the Company remained outstanding.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the view of the board, the Company worked on the principles
and complied with code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited throughout the year, except that the chairman of
the board was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 8 June 2011 due to other commitments. Details
of the Company's work in corporate governance during the year are
disclosed in the corporate governance report on pages 81 to 102 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

CHI JINGTAO ER®

LUAN XIUJU %%

CHI JINGTAO

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Mr. Chi, 49, was appointed as an executive director and the executive vice chairman of the board with effect
from 10 February 2011 and became the chairman of the board with effect from 30 March 2012. Mr. Chi is
currently the chairman of each of the executive committee and the nomination committee and a member of
the remuneration committee of the board. Mr. Chi is also a vice president of COFCO Corporation (“COFCQO”)
and a director of certain subsidiaries of COFCO and the Company. Currently, Mr. Chi is an independent
director of China Hainan Rubber Industry Group Co., Ltd, a company listed in Shanghai. He was a non-
executive director of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (“China Agri”), a company listed in Hong Kong,
until 29 March 2011. Mr. Chi joined COFCO in August 2003 and was the director of human resources
department of COFCO during October 2004 and February 2011. Prior to joining COFCO, Mr. Chi held various
positions in China Minmetals Corporation, including his position as the general manager of human resources
department.

Mr. Chi holds a Bachelor's degree in engineering from the Academy of Armored Forces Engineering in
Beijing and an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from the University of International
Business and Economics.
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LUAN XIUJU

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

Ms. Luan, 47, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in March 2007 and became the
managing director of the Company with effect from 10 February 2011. Ms. Luan is currently a member
of the executive committee of the board. Ms. Luan has been the chief executive officer of COFCO Coca-
Cola Beverages Limited, a 65% subsidiary of the Company, since 2003. Ms. Luan is currently a director of
certain members of the Company and its subsidiaries. Ms. Luan joined COFCO in 1989 and has extensive
experience in food and beverage production, marketing and general management.

Ms. Luan graduated from Renmin University of China with a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics and a
Master of Arts degree in economics.
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NING GAONING

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ning, 53, was appointed as an executive director of the Company and chairman of the board in January
2005 and ceased to act as the chairman of the board with effect from 30 March 2012. Mr. Ning is currently
a member of the executive committee of the board. Mr. Ning is also the chairman of COFCO, the chairman
of COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)"), as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of COFCO.
Currently, Mr. Ning is a non-executive director of China Agri, a company listed in Hong Kong; a non-executive
director of CPMC Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong; and a non-executive director and
chairman of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“China Mengniu”), a company listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Ning is also an independent director of Huayuan Property Co. Ltd, a company listed in Shanghai and
a director of BOC International Holdings Limited. Mr. Ning was a non-executive director of Lippo China
Resources Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, until August 2009; and a director of Smithfield Foods,
Inc., a company listed in New York, until 2 March 2011. Mr. Ning has over 20 years of experience in
corporate management, investment and corporate finance, business restructurings and governmental
relations.

Mr. Ning graduated from Shandong University in China with a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics and
from the University of Pittsburgh in the United States with a Master of Business Administration degree in
finance.
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MAK CHI WING, WILLIAM Zf58¢

ZHANG ZHENTAO RiE#

MAK CHI WING, WILLIAM

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND DEPUTY GENERAL MANAGER

Mr. Mak, 50, was appointed as an executive director and a deputy general manager of the Company in
October 2006 and is currently a member of the executive committee of the board. Mr. Mak is also in charge
of investor relations function of the Company and a director of Global Lander Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Mak is also the chief financial officer of COFCO (HK). Mr. Mak is a member
of each of the Institute of Management Accountants, Institute of Internal Auditors, Association of Certified
Fraud Examiners, Information Systems Audit and Control Association and an international affiliate of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining COFCO (HK) in May 2006, Mr. Mak had
worked with Philips Electronics for over 15 years.

Mr. Mak graduated from the University of British Columbia in Canada with a Bachelor of Commerce degree
in finance.

BITESREIAKE

BHE  BFL05  R2006F 10 ARZERAARANTEERILLE RIREZENTEZES
B - BEEFREARBNREFEBENELEETARRZEMNBARRTZERRAFNES -
BERETBETREBYBELE - BEEDRREESEHE  ANLEFOHE  TMEERER
fiipe  BEEMEZHEREESHMASERESEEE - F£20065F5 A MATIREB Z A1 - &%
EERRIEEF TIEATRF -

BREEENNMEARBIRLTAR  BERBEXWESLEM -

ZHANG ZHENTAO

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Zhang, 48, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in March 2007 and is currently a
member of the executive committee of the board. Mr. Zhang is currently the general manager of the strategy
department. Prior to joining the strategy department of the Company, Mr. Zhang was the general manager
of COFCO Food Sales & Distribution Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Zhang joined
COFCO in 1984 and has more than 20 years of experience in oil trade and management.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law with a Bachelor of Arts degree in
economics and from Peking University with a Master of Business Administration degree.
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LIU DING

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Liu, 57, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 28 March 2011. Ms. Liu joined
COFCO in April 2005 and is currently a director, member of the Communist Party Committee and the
head of the Communist Party Discipline and Inspection Team of COFCO. She was a director of COFCO
Property (Group) Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Property”), a company listed in Shenzhen, until 21 July 2011. Prior
to joining COFCO, she was deputy director of the Propaganda and Education Bureau of the Propaganda
Department of the Communist Party of China. Ms. Liu has more than 20 years of experience in legal affairs,
general management, government relation, public relation, corporate culture development, organization
development and propaganda and education.

Ms. Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University with a Bachelor's degree in history and holds an Executive
Master of Business Administration degree from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business.
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MA JIANPING

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ma, 48, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in March 2007 and was re-designated
as a non-executive director of the Company in March 2008. Mr. Ma was a deputy general manager of the
Company from June 2003 to February 2008 and was a director of certain members of the Group. Mr.
Ma joined COFCO in 1986 and is currently a vice president and the director of the strategy department of
COFCO, a director of COFCO Property, a company listed in Shenzhen, and a non-executive director of China
Mengniu, a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Ma has extensive experience in corporate finance, investment,
strategic planning and management and worked in Japan for over five years.

Mr. Ma graduated from University of International Business and Economics in Beijing with a degree of
Executive Master of Business Administration.
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WU WENTING RX#&

STEPHEN EDWARD CLARK #T3{&

WU WENTING

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wu, 48, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in March 2007. Ms. Wu joined
COFCO in 1992 and is currently the director of the audit department of COFCO. Ms. Wu has extensive
experience in auditing and financial management.

Ms. Wu graduated from Beijing Technology and Business University with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in economics and from Central University of Finance and Economics with a Master of Arts degree in
professional accounting.
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STEPHEN EDWARD CLARK

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Clark, 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in January 2005 and
is currently the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the board.
Mr. Clark is a joint managing director of The Anglo Chinese Investment Company, Limited, the chairman
of the Takeovers and Mergers Panel and a member of the Takeovers Appeal Committee of the Securities
and Futures Commission (“SFC”), a former director of the Hong Kong Securities Institute and has served
as an alternate member of the Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Mr. Clark has extensive experience in corporate finance.

Mr. Clark holds a joint honors degree of Bachelor in History and History of Art from the University
of Nottingham in England and a degree of Master in Business Administration from the University of
Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa.
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LI HUNG KWAN, ALFRED

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li, 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in November 2008 and
is currently a member of each of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the board. Mr. Li
is currently the chairman of HM Corporate Advisory Limited. Mr. Li was a director of My Top Home (China)
Holdings Limited, until January 2012. Mr. Li was a member of each of the Takeovers and Mergers Panel of
SFC and the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange and an expert member of the Finance Committee of
the Kowloon Canton Railway Corporation and the chief finance officer and an executive director of Hang Lung
Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Li has more than 30 years of experience in finance and
accounting.

Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree in economics and sociology from The University of Hong
Kong, and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland.
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YUEN TIN FAN, FRANCIS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yuen, 59, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 1993 and is currently
the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the board. Mr. Yuen is currently the deputy chairman of Pacific Century Regional
Developments Limited, a company listed in Singapore, and an independent non-executive director of
China Pacific Insurance (Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai and Hong Kong. Mr. Yuen was a
former chief executive of the Stock Exchange from 1988 to 1991 and a non-executive director of Kee Shing
(Holdings) Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, until November 2010.

Mr. Yuen holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics from the University of Chicago and is currently a
member of the university’s board of trustees. Mr. Yuen is also the chairman of the board of trustees of Hong
Kong Centre for Economic Research, a member of Shanghai People’s Political Consultative Conference and
a member of the board of trustees of Fudan University in Shanghai.

=R

BYFHITES

ReL RFELIR - B 1993 FRETARBELIFNTES BRIV AREZTSHFHNEZESEE
ERZEERRAZEENE - REARKAAFNE LT ARBMEMIRERABTEIFER L
BREE LT ARREREF R (RE)BNDERATEIIFNTESE - REEN1988FE 1991
FHHEGEERIMTERARENEEEEE LT AR GR(EE) ERARFNTEFTEEZ2010F 11
o

REEBAZMIABRLBEEXRELEM - BRIRZABREZTENE - REENA/BBLEHR
POEEEER  LETRAMEEHREER LBERARBESEGNE -

LI HUNG KWAN, ALFRED Z38#5

YUEN TIN FAN, FRANCIS =X

THEARERAR | —T——F4% 65



<

tEMERERE

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

PROLOGUE

China Foods Limited (the “Company” or “China Foods”) has
always regarded corporate social responsibilities as inherent in the
sustainable development of its business and the society to which
it belongs. We fulfill our corporate mission and responsibilities by
“offering nutritious, healthy, delicious and quality foods and realizing
maximum value for our customers, shareholders and employees”.

This report summarizes the various social responsibility programs
undertaken by the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “China
Foods Group”) during the year from the perspective of our code of
ethics, as well as the responsibilities that we have taken for our staff,
customers, shareholders and the public at large. Through this report,
you will understand more about the efforts we have taken as well as
the progress we have made during the year.

FOOD SAFETY

Ensuring Food Safety from the Supply Source

o Further improved the quality and safety of suppliers and the
environmental management system:

O  Strengthening management from the source, strictly
implement the management of a list of qualified suppliers
and strictly prohibit procurement from unqualified
suppliers.

O  Carried out the classification and grading management
of raw materials based on the type and importance of
such materials. All suppliers are assessed continuously
by the Company’s business units, including tracking
and verification of the qualification documents, product
inspection, quality and safety assessment of purchased
goods and use of products.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

° Further improved the audit and assessment procedures of the
suppliers:

O  Six suppliers were spot-checked. On-site audits
which included the suppliers’ quality and food safety
management, production safety status, pollutant emission
management, energy management and resources
management were carried out. Recommendations and
rectification and improvement requests were made
accordingly.

Strict Management and Control of Quality Procedures

In 2011, as part of its main policy of the overall enhancement of its
management policies, China Foods strictly managed and controlled
the quality procedures:

° The FSSC 22000 food safety management system and ISO
9001 quality management system have been established for all
subsidiaries in operation for more than one year.

° Subsidiaries were actively encouraged to implement internationally
accepted product safety management systems and the International
Safety Rating System (ISRS) adopted by the Group.

° Quantitative assessment standards and implementation rules
were formulated for the maturity of the factory systems. The
effectiveness of the Company’s food safety management
system was comprehensively assessed through 16 first class
indicators, 71 second class indicators and 318 rules. In 2011,
on-site audit and quantitative assessment of the food safety
management system were arranged for all factories of the
Group.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

Strict Management of Food Safety

Food safety management was one of the indicators in the
performance assessment. Each business unit has formulated
a performance target that included a 100% passing rate in
product quality spot check. No food safety incident occurred
and no negative report was recorded and published on quality
deficiencies.

A food safety monitoring system in respect of the raw materials
of agricultural products has been launched.

O  Heavy metal residue tests were carried out on 417
batches of wine and pesticide residue tests were carried
out on 94 batches. All the test results complied with the
product quality requirements, and no quality safety risk
was identified.

Compliance verification and tracing of the use of additives was
enhanced, which completely prevented the out-of-scope use
and over-use of additives. During the plasticizer crisis, self-
inspection was actively carried out. A total of 74 batches of raw
materials and 107 batches of finished goods were inspected,
and no plasticizer was found in any raw material or product.

During 2011, the overall performance of the food safety
management of China Foods was stable and there was no food
safety incident occurred.
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Strengthen Production Safety Management

In respect of wine production, “data monitoring” is enhanced
to ensure that the operation process is effectively monitored.

O A filter integrity detector has been installed to replace
the existing “bubble point method”. Data and decision
outcome regarding the integrity of the film can be
directly generated from the instrument, which raises
the accuracy and controllability of the test and at the
same time carries out “data monitoring” in respect of the
operating process to ensure the safety and reliability in
production process.

External Recognitions

In June, the Greatwall wine received the “Most Trusted Food
Brand” award and the “Most Popular Food Brand” award at the
“Taste 2011-My Most Trusted Food Brand Selection” award
presentation ceremony.

In August, Fortune Brand was included in the “Seven Stars
Healthy Chinese Food eTrust 100" ranking.

In September, “The 3rd Nationwide Customer Satisfaction
Evaluation Results Announcement and Press Conference”
jointly organized by China General Chamber of Commerce and
China Consumer Benefits Protection Fund was held in Beijing.
The Greatwall wine was named one of the “Top Ten Brands
Most Appreciated By Customers Across The Nation” and one
of the “Top Ten Brands In The Industry Most Appreciated By
Customers Across The Nation”.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Environmental Protection Data

In 2011, the total emission of chemical oxygen demand (COD)
of China Foods dropped by around 18%, and the total emission
of sulfur dioxide decreased by around 15%. Eleven subsidiaries
of the Company obtained the internationally recognized
ISO14001 environmental management system certifications.

In 2011, China Foods continued to encourage its subsidiaries
to take energy saving measures and to reduce the emission
of pollutants by organizing cleaner production audits and
implementing energy saving and reduction reforms. In 2011,
its subsidiaries invested a total of over RMB 9 million in cleaner
production projects. As a result, COD emission was reduced by
2%, and over 300 tons of standard coal was saved.

Apart from this, China Foods’ subsidiaries were encouraged to
carry out energy-saving reforms and technological upgrades.
The recovery rate of water in our Beijing bottling plant of COFCO
Coca-Cola Beverages Limited (“COFCO Coca-Cola”) could be
raised to around 85% through a reverse osmosis three-stage
reform. Through the carbon dioxide cooling capacity recovery
and reform, potential cooling capacity was recovered in our
Jinan bottling plant of COFCO Coca-Cola. Our confectionery
factory in Shenzhen upgraded its high efficiency heat
exchanger, significantly raising heat-exchange efficiency and
saving energy.
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Reducing Consumables through Product Research and Development

Wine business: a total of 2.4 million non-woven bags were used
to replace traditional paper bags for product packaging. As a
result, RMB1.7 million was saved in procurement cost and over
600 tons of paper was saved.

Confectionery business:

O  Without affecting product quality, wrapping bags of
plastic cans for jelly candies were eliminated, saving
approximately RMB600,000 of consumables per year.

O  Through adjusting the shape and structure of the plastic
toffee can, the weight of the PET-jar materials was
reduced and packaging process was made less difficult,
helping to save approximately 30 tons of packaging
materials annually.

O  lron material which consumes less energy during
manufacturing process was used for chocolate gift boxes,
enabling them to be reused and recycled.
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Supporting Environmental Protection through Internal Management
Low carbon office:

° A BPM platform was developed and introduced. Currently,
28 processes were already linked-up with the platform which
supports the approval process and workflow system for sales,
finance and human resources. This platform not only increases
working efficiency, but also reduces paper waste.

Putting environmental protection into practice:

° Drafting and issuance of the China Foods Quality Safety
Environmental Protection Journal.

o Organizing activities such as the “Earth Hour” and the “Energy-
Saving and Emission-Reduction Week” to raise the awareness
of environmental protection of our employees and increase
their knowledge on environmental protection issues.

External Recognitions

° In May, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Inner Mongolia) Limited
received “Leadership in Energy and Environment Design” Gold
Certification.

o In September, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Jinan) Limited
was honored as a “Pioneering Unit in Pollution Reduction and
Environmental Protection”.

° In November, Hunan COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Company
Limited was named as “An Outstanding Enterprise for Water-
saving” for the third consecutive year.
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° In November, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Jinan) Limited
received two major awards, namely “An Outstanding Enterprise
for Water-saving” and “An Outstanding Enterprise for Energy-
saving”.

° In November, COFCO Le conté Food (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
was named Shenzhen’s “Outstanding Pollution-reduction
Enterprise of Peng Cheng”.

SERVICING THE “THREE RURAL NEEDS” AND
PROMOTING RURAL ECONOMY

To promote the development of the rural economy, China Foods has
also taken the initiative to raise the income level of the farmers, to
provide training for them and to create more job opportunities.

COFCO Wines & Spirits Co., Ltd. has created an innovative production
base building model and adopted a cooperative style whereby “the
corporation, the cooperative association and the farmers” join hands
for the production of wine. This will enable the corporation and the
farmers to shoulder the risks and share the benefits together, thus
reducing the risk undertaken by the farmers.

° Through the implementation of unified planting, standardized
technology, unified material procurement and integrated sales
mode, the cooperative association effectively reduces the
production cost of farmers while enhancing the standard of
management in the production base.
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° Built to a high standard, an “integrated operation, standardized °
production” mode is adopted for the vineyard. Pollution-
free planting is implemented and production is standardized.
Agricultural mechanization and automation are utilized,
enormously facilitating the upgrading and industrialization of
farming, increases the income of the farmers and contributes
to the development of the rural economy.
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Promote pollution free planting

HREEAERE
SOCIAL SERVICE gL
In 2011, China Foods Group actively participated in various social 2011 - AR RGEEREG2HELE A ¢

service programs:

° Early 2011, COFCO Wines & Spirits Co. Ltd. donated .
Greatwall Chateau Sungod wines which valued approximately
RMB60,000 to Anhui Hope Project Office.

° In an auction of the Greatwall wine, the RMB40,000 raised was .
donated for charity in China.
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More than 1,000 staff and their family members of COFCO o higROA£7EdbR  HiR FHER
Coca-Cola in Beijing, Gansu, Xinjiang and Hainan participated HRAKE TRREL,000% A - £F
in a tree planting and forestation campaign. TR EEAR o

H#
a] O & Fo B i ¥

ik

Staff of COFCO Coca-Cola and their family
members participated in a tree planting and
forestation campaign

BRI A4S T N KB A EE R A

We donated 200 cases of edible oil to the Civil Affairs Bureau o AMEMEEETMREBBERRH

of Zunyi City, Guizhou Province to express condolences to the 20048 WESIOKBEMNEE KL E
victims of the flooding in Zunyi. ARRRER o

In August, we held activities with police forces in Hainan, e S8A -EHEM- MM FE-IA-
Hunan, Xinjiang, Jiangxi and Gansu to send our great comfort HEBERT [BERAZ] ZEFERSE
to over 10,000 traffic policemen, armed policemen and ranger HEZ - BZHE -

policemen.
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In August, the COFCO Shi Bo Hui Shop for the benefit of people
in Chao Yang Men Wai Avenue was opened. The Company
is intended to service the low-income groups in the Chaowai
district, realizing the goal of providing quality products to
households. Quality products at favorable prices were offered
to households in difficulty, such as households living on a
guaranteed minimum allowance, households that became
impoverished due to serious illness and elderly people living
alone in the district.

8H HRRBEMIERERE -
& RSBGPS bR WA B -
ERELERMLIIR - BABED
7E M B B Y B A8 f 48 % R A R AR
F - ERBERE =HEARHP

.

= Y T Ea
o

By

In October, the Greatwall Chateau Sungod donated cash in
the amount of RMB45,000 to the Chinese Foundation for
Prevention of STD and AIDS to help the children affected by
AIDS in Yunnan Province. A bottle of World Expo limited edition
Greatwall Chateau Sungod wine was also donated for charity
auction.

76 CHINA FOODS LIMITED | Annual Report 2011

.' L - n;h
5 'I '

Opening of COFCO Shi Bo Hui
Shop in Chao Yang Men Wai Avenue
FRERITEHIINERIEFRE

10 A - RS TEERS EE R
BHRETERET ARK450007T
e ENEHEXERARTENR
B URB-AERNETHERER
BEITRERE -



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

In October, Hunan COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Company
Limited successfully organized the “Flower Supporting
Scheme” bursary-awarding ceremony at the Jixin primary
school in Fenghuang County. Zhai Zhihao, a torchbearer of the
26th World University Games held in Shenzhen, brought with
him the torch to Changsha and did a special torch relay with
the students. During the ceremony, a total of 51 poor students
received bursary awards as well as fine learning materials and
other in-kind donations from the caring employees.

In November, staff at COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Shandong)
Limited were encouraged to make donations to the needy.
Bedding materials were sent to workers who came to work in
Qingdao from other places, so that they could enjoy a warm
winter this year.

In December, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Xinjiang) Limited
donated some daily necessities and learning materials to the
local children’s welfare associations.

In December, COFCO Le conté Food (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
donated daily necessities such as rice, noodles, food and edible
oil at the “COFCO Care to Shaoguan” event to benefit the elderly
in elderly homes and the children in hope schools.
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External Recognitions

o In March, Zhanjiang COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited was
honored as the “2010 Enterprise with The Best Sense of Social
Responsibility in Zhanjiang”.

° In July, “The 3rd China Social Responsibility Annual Meeting”
organized by the Southern Weekly newspaper was held in Xian.
During the meeting, COFCO Wines & Spirits Co., Ltd. received
one of the “Top Ten China Social Responsibility Examples”
awards.

STAFF DEVELOPMENT

Information about the Staff of China Foods

NUMBER OF STAFF IN 2011 ANALYSIS BY AGE
2011 FEAEBHE(N) FRRER
- age 46 - 50 age 51 -55
20000 46 - 505 51 - 555
5% 2%
7% 1%
15000 age 41 -45 56 or over
41 - 45p% 5658 KA L
10000 13%
age 36 - 40
36 - 405%
5000
72%
35 or below
35 BA T

2010 2011

Staff Training

° During 2011, a total of 475,000 hours of training were provided
to the staff of China Foods. Training time per staff exceeded 25
hours, representing an increase of 18% compared to last year.

o The Company provided different training sessions including
orientation for new employees, leadership enhancement,
professional skills training, etc. for managers and employees at
different levels, so as to help them improve their management
and professional skills. Whilst promoting organization
development, it also strengthens the employees’ mission and
improved their professional abilities.
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. Establishment of “China Foods Business School”. The o EZEF[HEREEER]: ARQTHE

Company has comprehensively reviewed and refined the R BEERBETEZEME - &
training system and management procedures. Internal WAEEED - BEEIER - EEOR
lecturers were chosen and training resources were integrated, EEEN B HERE  ZXEREE
so that an integrated internal training system covering AR E R AERI N R IZE R o

leadership, marketing, supply chain and professional and
working skills would be developed.

Staff training activity (1)
BIHEINES(—)
rPRROAT T
Ei ;u_;-rnaﬁ
Staff training activity (2)
BTHEINEE (D)
Staff Development and Motivation ETRREEHE
e Throughout the organizational structure reforms in 2011, o TE2011 FF/BMRZEREFRA - AAFER
the Company adhered to the principle of “internal selection BFUATRAFERE - AERK - BEE
as well as appointing talents in a fair and just manner”. A BINRE - HAGENFTHE A RER
comprehensive assessment and evaluation method was used. AL HESREREEN - WRBE
Talents were selected to build up the management team at BRI ERRERK S ZRMERM
each level and team members are reasonably matched to MRS AT -

ensure that their experiences and knowledge will complement
each other.
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° During talent selections in 2011, 98% of the promotions to core
positions were selected internally, providing a development
platform for internal talents and establishing a benchmark for
career development and an avenue for promotion.

Staff Care
° Apart from basic staff care, the Company also introduced various
other measures to assist and take care of its staff, such as:

O Actively promoting cultural and sports activities such as:
workplace exercise programs, office yoga, tug of war,
basketball matches, etc. in order to improve employees’
health and fitness.

O  During the festivals of ethnic minorities, a half-day holiday
is provided for the respective employees.

o China Foods has established a staff union system with
comprehensive coverage to protect and care for the vital
interests of its employees.

° A “Staff handbook” has been formulated to protect and codify
the basic rights and interests of employees.

OUR RESPONSIBILITIES TO SHAREHOLDERS
Details of our responsibilities to shareholders are set out in
“Communication with shareholders” and “Investor Relations” under
“Corporate Governance Report” on page 102 of this annual report.

CONCLUSION

In 2011, China Foods has taken an active role in fulfilling its corporate
social responsibilities, shouldering its duty in the protection of food
safety. The Company has also initiated creative approaches in the
process of production and sales, emphasizing a low carbon working
environment. Through caring for our staff and by assuming its social
obligations, the Company has played a significant part in contributing
to the food industry of China.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The board of directors of the Company (the “board”) firmly
believes that a good and solid corporate governance framework is
essential to the healthy and sustainable growth of the Company
and ultimately the enhancement of long-term shareholders’ value.
The board strives to adhere to corporate governance principles and
adopts sound corporate governance practices in line with legal and
commercial standards, and will continue to improve our corporate
governance standards to ensure that our corporate governance
standards meet our stakeholders’ expectations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company adopts as its corporate governance code the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
In the view of the board, the Company worked on the principles
and complied with code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2011, except that the chairman of
the board was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 8 June 2011 due to other commitments. Details
of our work in corporate governance is set out below.

EVOLUTION OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Bearing in mind that sound corporate governance practices provide
a solid foundation for sustainable growth, the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are strongly committed to continued
improvement in our corporate governance. During the past few
years, the Group has made a substantial effort to refine and
strengthen our business operation management, risk management
and internal control, policy and procedures management,
information system management and also food safety management
for the purpose of improving our corporate governance standards.

In 2011, China Foods implemented its organisational reform
programme in order to address existing challenges and those
of the future. Currently, we have completed the change in
organisational structure with the establishment of a centralised
regional sales platform and professional functional departments
with a clear division of responsibilities. The organisational structure
of China Foods comprises of a head office with its 16 functional
departments, a beverages business unit, nine major sales regions,
and production plants which report directly to the head office.
The new management structure of China Foods clearly defines
the responsibilities of its head office and its regional operations
and production plants. Having identified the key risks facing our
business and those which may arise during the implementation of
our organisational reform, we have developed and improved systems
and processes in the following areas:

e formalised our organisational structure throughout all levels of
the group as part of our organisational reform, specifying the
responsibilities and division of duties at all levels of the Group;
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EVOLUTION OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES (continued)

EERT

REE(E)

combined and streamlined over 200 business processes
performed by our of business units in line with China Foods’
integration control requirements;

standardised the expense approval process and authorisation
limits of business units and established CRM System and BPM
System;

expanded the scope of CRM in our SAP system and so that it
covers both our head office and all major sales regions;

established a unified Quality Control System Standards
and Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) certification,
contracting with a single certification institute for all quality
control system certifications;

completed the introduction of the China Foods’ Credit and
Accounts Receivables Management Policy for the purpose of
regulating credit rating systems, credit limits, collection and
reconciliation management at the Company’s head office and
all major sales regions;

reviewed and updated our accounting systems by updating our
multi-level pricing and settlement system;

revised and updated our internal compliance procedures with
regard to, amongst other matters, the monitoring and approval
of connected transactions, trademarks, licences and patents,
legal documentation, the appointment of professional advisers
and signing authorisations; and

established a standard contract databank, to improve the
efficiency in the approval and signing of contracts to reduce
the legal risks in the course of the Group’s business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EVOLUTION OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES (continued)

As an ongoing commitment, the Group continues actively to
undertake its social responsibilities in various areas. Details of the
Group’s activities to promote its social responsibilities are set out
in the corporate social responsibility report included in this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR

Key corporate governance practices of the Company during the year
are summarised below. For easy reference, the summary adopts the
paragraph references in the Code.

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company

A Directors
A.l The board
Al.l The Company adopts the practice of holding regular

board meetings at least four times a year. The information
on the number of full board meetings attended by each
director during the year is set out below. Figures in
brackets indicate the maximum number of meetings held
during the year when an individual was a board member.

TRERFERBRE (H)

YE R R AR A A RE » 7N 5 (B B4 X0 A5 AR 3t
EEzIENTERME - AEERLEEEE
FHEESFEHIRNAFRNEERE
BEREA °

ARRARFRANEREBER

FR - ARANEELEERERMMIM
T REBLE  ATHBIRTHRER
SAmbE -

FRRESE ADAHLEERER

A 2=
Al EFg
Al.1l ARARANEFRLBRAMNRE

ZEFRENME- FA - RESF
hEERBEFTSIHRNIHET
T e FERANBRFEEEAL
REZEXNEFNFAARNR

ZEHIRE -

Board members Attendance
EEERE H R B
Executive directors HITES

Ning Gaoning (Note 1) ERE W71 3/(7)
Chi Jingtao (Note 2) BRERZ2) 4/(6)
Luan Xiuju (Note 3) BER (M 3) 6/(7)
Mak Chi Wing, William LIRS 5/(7)
Zhang Zhentao RIRE 5/(7)
Qu Zhe (Note 4) HhEE (Mat4) /(1)
Non-executive directors FHITES

Liu Ding (Note 5) WT (A 5) 2/(5)
Ma Jianping BE¥ 2/(7)
Wu Wenting RXIZ 6/(7)
Wang Zhiying (Note 6) TR (K76) /(1)
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITES

Stephen Edward Clark VA 7I7)
Li Hung Kwan, Alfred e 7i7)
Yuen Tin Fan, Francis =R 7/(7)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref.

A
Al
All

Alb5

84 cHi

Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

Directors (continued)
The board (continued)
(continued)

Notes:

(1)  Mr. Ning Gaoning ceased to act as the chairman of the
board with effect from 30 March 2012 but remains as an
executive director of the Company.

(2)  Mr. Chi Jingtao was appointed as an executive director and
the executive vice chairman of the board with effect from
10 February 2011 and became the chairman of the board
with effect from 30 March 2012.

(3)  Ms. Luan Xiuju became the managing director with effect
from 10 February 2011.

(4)  Mr. Qu Zhe resigned as an executive director and the
managing director with effect from 10 February 2011.

(5)  Ms. Liu Ding was appointed as a non-executive director
with effect from 28 March 2011.

(6) Mr. Wang Zhiying was re-designated as a non-executive
director with effect from 10 February 2011 and then
resigned as a non-executive director with effect from 28
March 2011.

In each of the notices for regular board meetings or board
committee meetings, directors or committee members are
advised that they may request the inclusion of additional
matters in the agenda for such meetings.

Notices for regular board meetings or board committee
meetings are sent to directors or committee members at
least fourteen days prior to such meetings. For ad hoc
meetings, shorter notice may be given.

All board members have access to the advice and
services of the company secretary to ensure that board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed.

Minutes of board meetings and board committee
meetings are kept by the company secretary and are
open for inspection during office hours on reasonable
notice by any director.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A
Al
A.l6

Al7

Directors (continued)

The board (continued)

Minutes of board meetings and board committee
meetings have recorded in sufficient detail matters
considered by the board and board committees, decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by directors
or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions
of minutes of board meetings and/or board committee
meetings are sent to directors or committee members
(as the case may be) for their comment and records
respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after
the meetings. The decision of the board can be made by
written resolutions authorised by all directors.

In connection with discharging their duties to the
Company, all directors have access to independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense where
necessary, and upon reasonable request, the board
may resolve to obtain for individual directors separate
independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense to assist them in discharging their duties to the
Company.

Directors are required to declare their direct and indirect
interests, if any, in any proposals or transactions to
be considered by the board and to withdraw from the
relevant meetings, as appropriate.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict
of interest in any matter or transaction which the board
has determined to be material, a board meeting shall be
convened to deal with such matter and independent non-
executive directors who, and whose associates, have no
material interest in the matter or transaction shall attend
such board meeting.

Should the need arise, the board will authorise an
independent board committee comprising the independent
non-executive directors to review, approve and monitor
connected transactions (including continuing connected
transactions) that are requested to be approved by the
board.

During the year, the Company arranged appropriate
insurance for directors and officers of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A
AZ
A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

Directors (continued)

Chairman and chief executive officer

The roles of chairman and the managing director have
been clearly defined in the directors’ handbook of the
Company to ensure their independence.

The chairman takes lead in formulating overall strategies
and policies of the Company, and ensures effective
performance by the board of its functions, including
compliance with good corporate governance practices.

The executive vice chairman assists the chairman to
oversee and give guidance to the management in order to
enhance the functions of the board.

The managing director, supported by other board
members and management, is responsible for managing
the day-to-day business of the Company. He/she is
accountable to the board for the implementation of the
Company’s overall strategies as well as coordination of
overall business operations and regularly reports to the
board.

With the support of executive directors and management,
the chairman and the executive vice chairman ensure
that all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
board meetings. This objective is achieved through the
adherence to proper procedures and comprehensive
agenda and papers in English and Chinese. Directors
are encouraged to discuss issues and make enquiries at
board meetings in their working languages, and bilingual
interpretation is provided to ensure that all directors are
properly informed of the issues being discussed. The
chairman and the executive vice chairman encourage
and facilitate the active contribution of directors in board
matters and constructive relations between executive and
non-executive directors.

With the support of executive directors and management,
the chairman and the executive vice chairman ensure
that board papers including supporting documents
containing complete and reliable information are sent
to directors or committee members at least three days
before board meetings or board committee meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A
A3
A3.1

A4
A4l

Directors (continued)

Board composition

Composition of the board, by category of directors
(currently including five executive directors, three non-
executive directors and three independent non-executive
directors) is disclosed in all corporate communications of
the Company. The Company maintains on its website an
updated list of directors identifying their categories and
role together with a detailed profile for each director.

Throughout the year, the Company complied with the
requirement of Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, and the
board currently includes three independent non-executive
directors, namely, Messrs. Stephen Edward Clark, Li
Hung Kwan, Alfred and Yuen Tin Fan, Francis.

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from the three independent non-executive
directors in compliance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The board has assessed their independence
and concluded that all the independent non-executive
directors are independent according to the guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointments, re-election and removal

Formal appointment letters are signed by non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors of
the Company. According to the appointment letters,
non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors are appointed for a term of three years and
subject to re-election.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref

A
A4
A4.2

. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

Directors (continued)

Appointments, re-election and removal (continued)

The board as a whole is responsible for the procedures
of nominating appropriate persons and appointing them
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director
to the board.

The appointment of the executive directors of the
Company was based on their qualifications and experience
in relation to the Group’s business. The non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors)
were appointed based on their qualifications and
experience and the requirements of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 94 of the Company’s bye-laws, each
director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject
to re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting
after his/her appointment. During the year, both Mr. Chi
Jingtao and Ms. Liu Ding, who were appointed by the
board to act as an executive director and the executive
vice chairman and a non-executive director with effect
from 10 February 2011 and 28 March 2011, respectively,
retired and were re-elected as directors of the Company at
the annual general meeting held on 8 June 2011.

Pursuant to bye-law 111(A) of the Company’s bye-laws,
each director (including those appointed for specific
terms) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years, that is the term of appointment
of each director is effectively three years. In this regard,
Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William and Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis
shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 1 June 2012 (the “2012 AGM").

The circular for the 2012 AGM will contain detailed
information on the re-election of directors including
biographies of all directors subject to re-election and all
matters of which the shareholders should aware to ensure
that shareholders make an informed decision.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A
A5
A5.1

Directors (continued)

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed
director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware
of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements
and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company. A newly appointed
director receives from the chairman, the executive vice
chairman, executive directors and senior management of
the Company briefings on the operations and business
of the Group and/or a package containing information
on directors’ responsibilities and duties and other
requirements upon his or her appointment.

The Company ensures that directors are apprised
of legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments relating to the Group and take these into
consideration when making decisions for the Group.
From time to time, the company secretary disseminates
relevant materials to the directors for their reference,
and the Company organises seminars on specific topics
of significance or interest for directors and management
staff. The Company also sponsors directors to attend
professional development seminars or other programmes
where necessary.

During the year, the Company arranged a site visit
for directors including non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors to the Group’s
vineyard and winery located at Peng Lai, Shandong
province in order to better understand its business
operations.

In April 2011, the Company provided training to
management staff of the Group on connected transaction
rules.

In December 2011, the Company provided directors
training on the amendments to the Main Board Listing
Rules which will be implemented in year 2012.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A
Ab
A5.2

A53

A5.4

Directors (continued)

Responsibilities of directors (continued)

The board currently comprises three independent non-
executive directors who bring strong independent
judgment, knowledge and experience to the board’s
deliberations.

The independent non-executive directors take an active
role in board meetings and make independent judgment
on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material
nature. They also take a lead when potential conflicts
of interest arise. They are also members of board
committees and devote sufficient amount of time and
attention to the affairs of the Group including attending
general meetings of the Company.

The board also comprises three non-executive directors
with one of them bringing corporate finance and strategy
development and management experience and the other
two bringing accounting and internal audit knowledge
and experience, and corporate culture development
and organisation development experience to the board,
respectively.

Each director is committed to give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company. Details of each
director’s attendance at board meetings and board
committee meetings during the year are set out in A.1.1
above and B.1.1 and C.3.1 below.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Following specific enquiries by the
Company, all directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the year.

The Company has also adopted a code for securities
transactions by relevant employees (the “Employees
Trading Code”) based on the Model Code concerning
dealings by relevant employees in the securities of the
Company. Relevant employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information
of the Group are required to comply with the Employees
Trading Code in respect of their dealings in the securities
of the Company. The terms of the Employees Trading
Code are no less exacting than the required standards set
out in the Model Code. No non-compliance reports were
received from any such employees during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A
A6
A6.1

Ab.2

A6.3

B.1
B.1.1

Directors (continued)

Supply of and access to information

Board papers including supporting documents were sent
to the directors at least three days before board meetings
or board committee meetings during the year.

The company secretary, the financial controller and
other senior management of the Group attend all board
meetings and board committee meetings, as appropriate,
to ensure that queries raised and clarifications sought by
the directors in relation to the matters to be considered
at the meetings are dealt with in a timely manner, and
further information is provided, if necessary.

All directors have access to board papers and related
materials. Details are set out in A.2.3 and A.6.2 above.

Remuneration of directors and senior management
The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Company established a remuneration committee in
April 2005 with specific written terms of reference which
set out its authority and duties. The role of the remuneration
committee is to review and make recommendations to
the board on the Company’s policy and structure for
all remuneration of directors and senior management,
to determine the specific remuneration packages of all
executive directors and senior management and make
recommendations to the board on the remuneration of non-
executive directors.

The remuneration committee currently consists of two
independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Yuen
Tin Fan, Francis (committee chairman) and Mr. Stephen
Edward Clark and an executive director, namely, Mr. Chi
Jingtao.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref

B.

B.1

B.1.1

. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

FRARARFANEEERR
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Remuneration of directors and senior management B. EENSREEETM(E)
(continued)
The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure B.1 FEN KT AL #5528 (4B)
(continued)
(continued) B.1.1 (&)
The information on the remuneration committee meetings FA - HWEE =K E T 5
attended by its members during the year is set out below. CE RN EEINNT o iE
Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number iﬁWE’J%I%?EEFAﬁ}\t?% IS
of remuneration committee meetings held during the EeXERNFRNEHNRZEH
year when an individual was a remuneration committee MEEeeHmNE -
member.
Remuneration committee members Attendance
FHEEERE HERE
Yuen Tin Fan, Francis (chairman) RAN(EE) 2/(2)
Stephen Edward Clark M 2/(2)
Chi Jingtao EYNE 2/(2)
The remuneration committee may consult with the B.l2 HNEZESRUREMRITES
chairman, the executive vice chairman and/or managing E’] TR A ARNAREE
director of the Company regarding proposals for the eﬁﬂﬂm'fﬁ&/%é%“’“
remuneration of other executive directors. Where mEHE @H%E\TT—J%HX
necessary, the remuneration committee may have 9\%‘5%%%%’ BERAAREX
access to external professional services at the Company’s e
expense.
The work performed by the remuneration committee FA-FHEESN TEREN
during the year is summarised below: ™
— approval of the remuneration packages of the — BERTRIER  EFEL
executive vice chairman, the managing director and BR—ZFEmNasRER
a newly appointed senior management for the year AEEAZOlliifﬂﬁ i
2011; =
—  approval and submission of the recommendation — HERRNEZSREZFHR
in respect of the grant of share options to eligible BEARRE 2006 11 A #%
persons under the Company’s share option scheme W BT EIm A ERA
adopted in November 2006; and TR TFERENHEBER
X
-~ reviewed the remuneration packages of all executive — W01 FEFRBRTE
directors, non-executive directors and independent F EBITES KB LIEH
non-executive directors for the year 2011. ITEEME -
The terms of reference of the remuneration committee B.13 HFNZEemBgERmESELT
closely follow the requirements of the Code. BIIEARE o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

B.

B.1

C.1
C.1l.1

C.1l.2

Remuneration of directors and senior management
(continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
(continued)

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are
published on the Company’s website (www.chinafoodsltd.com).

For shareholders who do not have access to the internet,
hard copies of the terms of reference of the remuneration
committee are available free of charge upon request to
the company secretary.

The human resources department of the Company,
with the support of the company secretary, provides
administrative support to the remuneration committee,
and implements the approved remuneration packages
and other human resources related decisions. The
Company will pay for all professional advice and other
services as required by the remuneration committee.

Accountability and audit

Financial reporting

Directors are provided with a review of the Group’s major
business activities and key financial information on a
quarterly basis.

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing all information and representations contained
in the financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2011. The directors consider
that the financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with the generally accepted accounting
standards in Hong Kong, and reflect amounts that are
based on the best estimates and reasonable, informed
and prudent judgment of the board and the management
with an appropriate consideration as to materiality.
As at 31 December 2011, the directors, having made
appropriate enquiries, were not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the directors
have prepared the financial statements of the Company
on a going concern basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C.
C.1
C.1l2

C.2
c.21

Accountability and audit (continued)

Financial reporting (continued)

(continued)

During the year, the Company announced its annual
and interim results within three months and two months
respectively after the dates on which relevant financial
periods ended as required under Rules 13.49(1) and (6)
of the Listing Rules.

A statement by the external auditors about their reporting
responsibilities is included in its report on pages 130 to
131 of this annual report.

The board is committed to presenting a balanced, clear
and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s affairs
to its shareholders and the public in accordance with all
statutory requirements.

Internal controls

The board is responsible for ensuring the Company to
maintain sound and effective internal control systems
to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the
Company’s assets.

With reference to the framework recommended by
COSO, the Company conducts regular reviews of
the Group’s internal control system. Management is
primarily responsible for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal controls, with the board and the
audit committee overseeing the actions of management
and monitoring the effectiveness of the internal
controls that have been put in place. Monitoring of the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls is supported
by three interrelated functions, namely, internal audit,
compliance and risk management and control.

The internal audit department of the Company which
reports directly to the audit committee and the managing
director expresses an independent and objective opinion
on the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Group. The internal audit department conducts risk-
based audits on the business operations of the Group in
accordance with the annual audit plan approved by the
audit committee. Results of internal audit activities are
reported to the audit committee semi-annually.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C.
c.2
c.2.1

C.2.2

Accountability and audit (continued)

Internal controls (continued)

(continued)

The compliance function works closely with management
of the Group on compliance with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements, as well as implementation of
corporate values and ethical standards throughout the
Group.

The risk management and control function works closely
with management of the Group to develop a systematic
risk management process, and to refine policies and
procedures regularly to improve the Group’s internal
control system.

During the year, the Company conducted specific risk
assessments regarding food safety risk, authorisation
risk and cost control risk and clarified the risk control
and process control standards, the expected control
measures, control record keeping and personnel-in-
charge for these risks. The Company will assess and
analyze the relevant key risks every year to enhance its
risk management systems, and its process and control
measures.

During the year, the internal audit department reported to
the management on important audit findings and general
matters of interest to the Company’s management.
Both internal and external auditors received positive
responses from the management in respect of their
recommendations for further improvements to the
Group’s internal control systems.

In respect of the year, the board has reviewed through the
audit committee the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control systems, and considered that such systems were
in place and functioned effectively.

The audit committee was asked by the board to review
and consider the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programs
and budget. Details are set out in C.3.1 below.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref

C.
C.3
C3.1

. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

Accountability and audit (continued)

Audit committee

The role of the audit committee is to assist the board
in fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight
responsibilities in relation to financial reporting, internal
control, risk management and external audit functions.
The audit committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive directors, namely, Messrs.
Stephen Edward Clark (committee chairman), Li Hung
Kwan, Alfred and Yuen Tin Fan, Francis. All of them have
extensive experience in the accounting, financial and
commercial sectors.

Minutes of the audit committee meetings have been
recorded by the company secretary in sufficient detail on
the matters considered by the audit committee, decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by its members
or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions of
minutes of the audit committee meetings are sent to its
members for their comment and records respectively, in
both cases within a reasonable time after the meetings.

The information on the audit committee meetings
attended by its members during the year is set out below.
Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number of
audit committee meetings held during the year when an
individual was an audit committee member.

FRARARFANEEERR

(&)

SRS AR ANERERER (F)

C.
C3
C3.1

BERZE (E)
FERLEED
ERZEenNBERRESS
BTEEBRY KRS - NIE
TZE CEBRETR - LA RIMNERZ ST
BEMCEEARERST 8|
Vé,\ S HATR=RB IR
TE S {ESHE (Mr. Stephen
Edward Clark) (ZEE=XE) « =
JES S E R K LSRR o 1R

FHRABEZER M REE
BERZEQREGRTEENSE

BNEBMAE  CHRARWE
ERMHFANEGHLCE  HPh e
BEKBREMERRFRRE
MRHBR - BREERREL

FHRRERENERRITR
BEBHEABXGENE - 1R
HHFEHER  RRAESE
FOER ©

FR - BEZZEENEHREERZ

:BEQRmIRBEIMT - &
BANEFREBAALREZE
BERERNFRNEHNZEZE

BREEEHARH -

Audit committee members Attendance
EREEE'RE HEIRE
Stephen Edward Clark (chairman) WL (EE) 2/(2)
Li Hung Kwan, Alfred = E 2/(2)
Yuen Tin Fan, Francis =R 2/(2)
The work performed by the audit committee during the EREEeNFEFANNIEREN
year is summarised below: o
—  reviewed the financial statements for the year ended — ZEH#HZE2010F12A31H
31 December 2010; IEFERIE®E
- reviewed matters relating to the Group’s financial — BIAEEEERNFEES

and accounting policies and practices;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C. Accountability and audit (continued)
C.3 Audit committee (continued)
Cc3.1 (continued)
—  reviewed continuing connected transactions for the
year of 2010;

—  reviewed external auditor's management letter and
management’s response;

—  reviewed and approved the appointment of external
auditors for providing non-audit services to the
Group;

— recommended to the board a proposal to the
shareholders to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the
Company’s external auditors for the year 2011;

— discussed with management the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems;

- reviewed the internal audit results and discussed
areas for further improvement in the Group’s internal
control system;

—  reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for
the year 2011;

—  reviewed and assessed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes;

- reviewed the interim financial statements for the six
month ended 30 June 2011, with a recommendation
to the board for approval;

— met with the external auditors to discuss the general
scope of their audit work for the financial year ended
31 December 2011; and

—  reviewed the audit fee proposal for the Group for the
year 2011.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C.
C.3
C.3.2

C.3.3

C34

C.3.5

Accountability and audit (continued)

Audit committee (continued)

No member of the audit committee is a former partner of
the existing auditing firm of the Company.

The terms of reference of the audit committee closely
follow the requirements of the Code.

The terms of reference of the audit committee are published
on the Company’s website (www.chinafoodsltd.com).

For shareholders who do not have access to the internet,
hard copies of the terms of reference of the audit
committee are available free of charge upon request to
the company secretary.

The audit committee was satisfied with the audit and
non-audit service fees, process and effectiveness,
independence and objectivity of the Company’s
auditors Ernst & Young. The board agreed to the audit
committee’s proposal for the re-appointment of Ernst &
Young as the Company’s auditors for the year 2012. The
recommendation will be put forward for the approval of
shareholders at the 2012 AGM.

During the year, the major remuneration paid or to be
payable to Ernst & Young includes the following:

ERARRFANEEERR

(&)

JRIRS AR ANERERER (F)

C.
C3
C3.2

C.3.3

C.3.4

C3.5

BERZE(HE)

ERZRE (B)
EZZBEKERMIFEARFIRE
TEMEBATHATEARA

EBRZEEeNBESEEENY T
BIERE o
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FIEI4ELE (www.chinafoodsitd.com)

REEEAWUERBR - AJARE

MARMERMEZZEGNE
RBEZHITENT -
BERZBEREMEERRREH

B2k @ PRI E S PTEE AT K3k
BFRGER - BRMBRE
NSRBI EANERNE - EFEF
EENZEGRMERLKE
Eﬂiiﬁ%ﬁﬁz\%$ Al2012F E#x
BUEMEYERE o B 2012
FRREFAE LIEE TRERY
fE °

FRN - MK EBHAE X
NRENHERBENAT

Services rendered

Fees paid/payable

FriR B BR 7% 2 ENNER
HK$’000

FHT

Audit services EBiT RS 2,744
Non-audit services* FEEAT RS * 974
Total &5t 3,718

*

Such services included tax consultancy services, interim
review and compliance review relating to continuing
connected transactions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C.
C.3
C.3.6

D.1
D.1.1

Accountability and audit (continued)

Audit committee (continued)

The audit committee has unrestricted access to
personnel, records, external auditors and senior
management, as appropriate, in the discharge of its
functions.

The audit committee is authorised by the board to
investigate any activity within its terms of reference, and
is tasked with recommending to the board appropriate
actions based on its investigations.

The senior management of the Group is required
to provide adequate and timely support to the audit
committee to perform its duties. The Company will pay for
all professional advice and other services as required by
the audit committee.

Delegation by the board

Management functions

The board, led by the chairman, is responsible for the
leadership and control of the Company, formulation
of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the
performance of the Group and its management, and
approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or
those requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules.

Management, under the leadership of the managing
director, is responsible for the business and day-to-
day operations of the Group and implementation of the
strategies and policies set by the board. Management
has been given clear directions of their powers and the
circumstances when the management should report back
to the board.

Each of the executive directors is delegated with
individual responsibility for overseeing and monitoring
the operations of specific business units or functional
divisions in accordance with their respective areas of
expertise.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref

D.
D.1
D.1.2

D.2
D.2.1

. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

Delegation by the board (continued)
Management functions (continued)
The major responsibilities of the board include:

—  reviewing and approving operational strategies and
plans of the Group;

—  setting and monitoring key business and financial
objectives of the Group;

— monitoring the performance of the management;

— reviewing and approving policies for major
activities, such as major acquisitions, investments,
divestments, disposal of assets or any significant
capital expenditure of the Group;

—  ensuring sound and effective internal control and
risk management systems; and

— reviewing and approving corporate governance
policies, including setting ethical standards for the
Group.

The board has delegated some of its authority and
responsibilities to the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the executive committee, which are clearly
set out in the terms of reference of these committees.

Board committees

Two board committees, namely, remuneration committee
and audit committee, have been established with specific
terms of reference as mentioned in B.1.1, B.1.3, C.3.1
and C.3.3 above.

On 28 March 2011, the Company established an executive
committee with specific written terms of reference which
set out its authority and duties. The executive committee
currently consists of five executive directors, namely,
Mr. Chi Jingtao (committee chairman), Ms. Luan Xiuju,
Mr. Ning Gaoning, Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William and Mr.
Zhang Zhentao. Under the terms of reference, the primary
responsibility of the executive committee is to deal with and
supervise the day-to-day business operations, management
and administration of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

D.
D.2
D.2.2

E.1
E.1.1

EZ2
E2.1

Delegation by the board (continued)

Board committees (continued)

Board committees report to the board their decisions
and recommendations at board meetings or such other
occasions as appropriate.

Communication with shareholders

Effective communication

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on
each substantially separate issue, including the election of
individual directors.

The chairman of the board was unable to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company in 2011 as
he had another engagement. The directors present
at the meeting elected Mr. Chi Jingtao, the executive
vice chairman of the Company, to chair the meeting in
accordance with bye-law 73 of the Company’s bye-laws.

During the year, chairmen and/or members of the audit
committee and remuneration committee attended the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June
2011. Where transactions were subject to independent
shareholders’ approval, members of the independent
board committees attend all general meetings for the
approval of each transactions.

During the year, the notices for the annual general
meeting and the special general meetings were sent to
shareholders more than 20 clear business days and 10
clear business days, respectively before the meetings.

Voting by poll

During the year, the chairman of each of the annual
general meeting and the special general meetings of the
Company explained detailed procedures for conducting
a poll and encouraged shareholders to ask questions
regarding voting by poll. Tricor Progressive Limited, the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, was engaged as scrutineer to monitor and
count the poll votes. Poll results were posted on the
website of the Company (www.chinafoodsltd.com) and
the HKExnews website of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) on the same day
following the conclusion of the annual general meeting
and the special general meetings.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Along with the organisational reform, the mission and strategic
objectives of China Foods’ investor relations function have been
clearly defined as follows:

Mission:

Through transparent and fair disclosure to facilitate mutual
understanding between investors and the Company with a view to
realising the full value of China Foods Limited.

Strategic objectives:

1) to raise the profile of China Foods Limited as a leading
participant in the branded consumer foods industry in China
in line with our strategic direction and our strategic positioning
within the COFCO Group;

2) to build a long-term and trusting shareholder base that is
willing to grow with us; and

3) to understand the key concerns of the investment community
and provide timely feedback to management.

Besides effectively bridging the Company and the investment
community through regular communications such as results
announcements, post results roadshows, site visits, corporate days,
conference calls, one-on-one meetings and e-mails, we have also
made sustainable quality improvements in the underlying day-to-day
internal management processes.

Our open and transparent communications have been well

appreciated by the investment community and have been generally
accepted as an improvement in corporate governance practice.
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The board of directors (the “board”) is pleased to present their
report and the audited financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2011, which were approved by the board on 30 March
2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Currently, the Company through its subsidiaries and associated
companies operates four principal businesses involving beverage,
wine, kitchen food and confectionery.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as of that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 132 to 244.

The board recommended the payment of final dividend of HK4.25 cents
(2010: HK3.21 cents) per share for the year ended 31 December 2011.
An interim dividend of HK4.07 cents per share was paid on Friday, 21
October 2011 (2010: HK2.30 cents). Subject to shareholders’ approval
at the annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 1 June 2012, the
total dividend in cash for the year would be HK8.32 cents (2010: HK5.51
cents) per share, and the recommended final dividend will be payable
on Friday, 29 June 2012, to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Monday, 18 June
2012 (the “Record Date”).

According to the Notice Regarding Matters on Determination of
Tax Residence Status of Chinese-controlled Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises under Rules of Effective Management dated 22 April
2009 issued by the State Administration of Taxation of the People’s
Republic of China, the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the “Enterprise Income Tax Law”) and the
Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the Enterprise Income
Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China, all implemented from
1 January 2008, since the Company is an offshore incorporated
company and is, among others, controlled by a Chinese enterprise,
the Company is likely to be regarded as a Chinese resident enterprise
and, if so, it could be required to withhold a 10% enterprise income
tax when it distributes the final dividend to its enterprise shareholders
other than those enterprises which are duly incorporated in the
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People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) or under the laws of foreign
countries (or regions) but with PRC-based de facto management
bodies (such enterprises are defined as resident enterprises in the
Enterprise Income Tax Law). The withholding and payment obligation
lies with the Company.

In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s
register of members on the Record Date and who are not individuals
(including HKSCC Nominees Limited, corporate nominees or trustees
such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or
organizations, which are all considered as enterprise shareholders),
the Company will distribute the final dividend after deducting the
enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not withhold and
pay income tax in respect of the final dividend payable to any natural
person shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register
of members on the Record Date.

If any enterprise shareholder listed on the Company’s register of
members considers itself to be a resident enterprise and does not
wish the Company to withhold the 10% enterprise income tax, it shall
lodge with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Progressive Limited, at 26/F., Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, documents from its governing tax
authority confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and
pay the enterprise income tax in respect of the dividend to which it is
entitled no later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 14 June 2012.

If anyone would like to change the identity of the shareholders in the
register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures
with the nominees or trustees. The Company will withhold for
payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise
shareholders strictly in accordance with the relevant laws and
requirements of the relevant government authorities and adhere
strictly to the information set out in the Company’s register of
members on the Record Date.

In the event that the Company is not regarded as a Chinese resident
enterprise and hence no enterprise income tax should have been
withheld, to the extent that such tax remains in the custody of the
Company and so far as it is legally able to do so, the Company
will procure such tax to be refunded to the relevant enterprise
shareholders in respect of whom enterprise income tax had been
withheld pursuant to the arrangements set out above. The Company
would make a further announcement in such event.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 31 May 2012 to
Friday, 1 June 2012, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for attending
and voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Progressive Limited, at
26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Wednesday, 30 May 2012.

For determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final
dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 15 June 2012 to Monday, 18 June 2012, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
The ex-dividend date will be Wednesday, 13 June 2012. In order
to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Tricor Progressive Limited, at 26/F., Tesbury
Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:00 p.m.
on Thursday, 14 June 2012.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 245. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements,
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year, together with the reasons therefore, are set out in note 31 to the
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 21 November
2006 (the “Option Scheme”). Pursuant to the resolution passed
on 28 March 2011 at the board meeting, the vesting and exercise
periods for the options granted under the Option Scheme have been
modified. The following are the principal terms of the Option Scheme:

1.  Purpose of the Option Scheme

Attracting, retaining and motivating senior management
personnel and key employees of the Company, and providing
eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage eligible participants
to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as
a whole.

2. Participants of the Option Scheme
Participants of the Option Scheme include (i) any executive or
non-executive directors (excluding independent non-executive
directors) of any members of the Group; (ii) any senior
executives, key technical staff, professional staff, managers
and employees of any members of the Group; or (iii) any other
individuals as may be proposed by the board.

106 CHINA FOODS LIMITED | Annual Report 2011

MBERBE

AEBBEREMRFERMIEE &
E - BENMFZERESHNE (REEEEX
FBHRRALEZEENREFDR)ENE
2458 - MBI FEBRZPHEHREK 2 — A

73 e

W% BERRERRENE

KRR RAEEBRFERNZME - BB NEE
RIREMESE 2 FIE - HRIERYERE
fisr 14 2 15 -

(&N
ARBRERZ BAZ B B R E
R FHRAMESL -

B AEsT 8

ARG EH 20064 11 A 21 BRI ET
B) (MR EI]) - RI2201143 A28 H
EEGRBO R - BRIE BT 08
RAERBEMITEBERET - U T ABR
Mt B

1. BRETEZEN
el - B RABA AR SREERE
ABRFEZRE  BEERBEEHRE
EARRRBABARNER  SBE
BRSEERNINARRFRAERE
BEEF S IBAARR B R E RN < EE -

2. BRESTAz3RE
BT 2 2RERE () AKEIET
KB AR ZEMAITHIENITES
(BEFBEBIIFNTES) (DA
SEERKERFZEAEAITHEA
B I2RMAE HEAE K2
KR : (i) EEE A LR 2 EMA
Hib AL -



SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue under the Option
Scheme

The total number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options granted under the Option Scheme and all
other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the number of shares in issue from time to time. As
at 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report, a total of
45,524,500 shares (representing approximately 1.63% of the
issued share capital of the Company) may be issued by the
Company if all options which were granted under the Option
Scheme have been exercised.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Option
Scheme

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any grantee (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
(the “Individual Limit”) at the relevant time. Any further grant
of options in excess of the Individual Limit shall be subject to
shareholders’ approval with such grantee and his associates
abstaining from voting.

Period within which an option must be exercised

The directors may in their absolute discretion determine the
period during which an option may be exercised, save that in
any event such period of time shall not exceed a period of seven
years commencing on the date of acceptance of the option and
expiring on the last date of such seven-year period, subject to
early termination thereof as provided in the Option Scheme.

B
3.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

6.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it

can be exercised

An option must be held for a minimum period of two years from
the date of grant before it can be exercised. The options granted
on 27 September 2007 are subject to the following vesting

E%HEH‘E*;J (#&)
BRETEAXESEZREHR

BRENTTERZABRL ASHRES
REMERM - B2007F9 827 H
REHNBREASUTEERERR

schedule: H) -
Maximum percentage
of an option which
may be exercised
Periods BZHTE
A BREZESL
— Upon and after the second anniversary of the grant BT BHRTE AT RER 33%
until the third anniversary of the grant EFE=AF
— Upon and after the third anniversary of the grant BT BHRTE AT RER 67%
until the fourth anniversary of the grant EFRMAEF
— Upon and after the fourth anniversary of the grant B AR ENAFT RER 100%

The options granted after 28 March 2011 are subject to the

following new vesting schedule:

MA20114 3 A28 H AR E H 8B
BIZBSZ AT 5R B KRR

Maximum percentage
of an option which
may be exercised

Periods BRZHTE

RS BREZESL

— Upon and after the second anniversary of the grant BT BHRTE AT RER 20%
until the third anniversary of the grant EE=FF

— Upon and after the third anniversary of the grant ERTBHRTE AT RER 40%
until the fourth anniversary of the grant EENAF

— Upon and after the fourth anniversary of the grant BN BT ENAFTRER 60%
until the fifth anniversary of the grant EERRAF

— Upon and after the fifth anniversary of the grant until ERTBHRTERRAFTRER 80%
the sixth anniversary of the grant EENAF

— Upon and after the sixth anniversary of the grant B BB E AT RER 100%
until the seventh anniversary of the grant EELRAF
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

7.

10.

Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance
of the option

The offer of an option made pursuant to the Option Scheme
may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer and
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the amount payable on acceptance of the option is HK$1. o ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂfiw EREENRIER LS
TE o
Basis for determining the exercise price 8. HEEMEEZEE
The exercise price shall be determined by the board and shall TEBAEEEET  WAEAARUT=
be the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated HymxmE  (QREBEYNEHEBHE
in the daily quotation sheets issued by The Stock Exchange of REGMER AR (BT FHHRE
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of the KEFEROWTHE - (D REEZOAR
offer; (b) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in BT AEEERABRMEHE %&F%Pﬁ
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the AR 2 FHWHE ; () Rinz
five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer; ()
or (c) the nominal value of a share.
Duration of the Option Scheme 9. HBRESTEIZE¥NH
The Option Scheme s valid until 20 November 2016. fERR R Bl 2 B 2016411 A 20
B & °
Movement of share options 10. BREZEE
Details of the movements in the share options during the HE2011F12A31HILFE - BR
year ended 31 December 2011 are as follows: BB FBOT
Number of share options
BRENEE
Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Date of Exercise Exercise
Name or category At during during during during At grant of period of price of
of participants 01.01.2011 the year the year the year theyear 31122011  share options  share options share options
SEERERER #01.01.2011 ERRd Ehfrfe Ehiy EREH W3L122011 REBRERE BRECES BREGEE
HKS
B
Directors
£
Mr. Ning Gaoning 880,000 - - - - 880000  27.09.2007  27.09.2009- 4,952
ERERL 26092014
- 740,000 - - - 740000 29032011 29.03.2013- 4910
(Note 1) 28032018
(A1)
Mr. ChiJingtao - 740,000 - - - 740000 29032011 29.03.2013- 4910
ERELE (Note 1) 28032018
(Rtt1)
Ms. Luan Xiuju 560,000 - - - - 50000 27.092007  27.09.2009- 4,952
L3 e 2609.2014
- 740,000 - - - 740000 29032011 29.03.2013- 4910
(Note 1) 28032018
(Risk1)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

10. Movement of share options (continued)

BT E (&)

10. BREZZEH (&)

Number of share options
ERENER
Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Date of Exercise Exercise
Name or category At during during during during At grant of period of price of
of participants 01.01.2011 the year the year the year theyear  31.12.2011  share options  share options share options
PRGN ML GARK RATE AR PR ROLOAIL UAGRER WERTER ABNGEN
AT
M. Mak Chi Wing, Willam 800,000 - - - - 800000 27.092007  27.09.2009- 495
FERtE 26092014
- 600,000 - - - 600000 29032011 29.03.2013- 4910
(Note 1) 28032018
(Hist1)
Mr. Zhang Zhentao 700,000 - - - - 700000 27.09.2007  27.09.2009- 49%
FRRtL 26092014
- 600,000 - - - 600000 29032011 29.03.2013- 4910
(Note 1) 28032018
(WD)
s Liu Ding - 600,000 - - - 600000 29032011 29.03.2013- 4910
WTat (Note 1) 28032018
(K1)
Mr. Ma Jianping 800,000 - - - - 800000 27.092007  27.09.2009- 495
BT 26092014
- 600,000 - - - 600000 29032011 29.03.2013- 4910
(Note 1) 28032018
(Hist1)
M. Wu Wenting 700,000 - - - - 700000 27092007  27.09.2009- 49
RAELT 26.09.2014
- 600,000 - - - 600000 29032011 29.03.2013- 4910
(Note 1) 28032018
(W3t 1)
Mr. Qu Zhe 830,000 - (352,000 (290,400) (237,600) - 2709.2007  27.09.2009- 49
T (Note 3) (Note 4) (Note 5) 31082011
(Note 2) (Ki3t3) (Rt 4) (Kizt5)
(h3E2)
Other employees 11,024500 - (80,000) (165,000) (1750000 10604500  27.09.2007  27.09.2009- 49
AfhES (Note 6) (Note 4) (Note 5) 26.00.2014
(Kist6) (Rt 4) (Kizt5)
- 25,660,000 - (400,000) - 2520000 29032011 29.032013- 4910
(Note 1) (Note 4) 28032018
(K1) (Rt 4)
16344500 30880000 (432,000 (855,400) (412600) 45524500
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

10. Movement of share options (continued)

Notes:

1. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
date of grant was HK$4.800.

2. Mr. Qu Zhe resigned as an executive director of the Company with effect
from 10 February 2011.

3. The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised was
HK$6.425.

4. The options unvested were cancelled during the year upon the

resignations of a former executive director and certain employees of the
Company.

5. The options vested were lapsed during the year upon the expiry of
stipulated periods in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme.

6. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
date on which the options were exercised was HK$6.250.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 33(b) to the financial statements
and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda, amounted to approximately HK$5,084,187,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, less than 3% of the Group’s total sales were
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers. Approximately
63% of the Group’s total purchases were attributable to the Group'’s
five largest suppliers, with the largest supplier accounting for
approximately 43%.

Apart from the Company’s ultimate holding company, COFCO
Corporation (“COFCQ"), which is one of the Group’s five largest
suppliers, none of the directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the other four largest suppliers or the
five largest customers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Chi Jingtao (Nete D

Ms. Luan Xiuju

Mr. Ning Gaoning tNete
Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William
Mr. Zhang Zhentao

Mr. Qu Zhe (Note3)

Non-executive directors:
Ms. Liu Ding (Note#

Mr. Ma Jianping

Ms. Wu Wenting

Mr. Wang Zhiying (MNete®

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis

Notes:

1. Mr. Chi Jingtao was appointed as an executive director and executive vice
chairman of the board with effect from 10 February 2011 and became the
chairman of the board with effect from 30 March 2012.

2. Mr. Ning Gaoning ceased to act as the chairman of the board with effect from 30
March 2012.

3. Ms. Qu Zhe resigned as an executive director and the managing director with

effect from 10 February 2011.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

4. Ms. Liu Ding was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 28 March
2011.
5. Mr. Wang Zhiying was appointed as an executive director with effect from 15 April

2010 and re-designated as a non-executive director with effect from 10 February
2011 and resigned as a non-executive director with effect from 28 March 2011.

The non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors are appointed with specific terms.

All directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years as required by bye-law 111(A) of the Company’s bye-
laws. Accordingly, Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William and Mr. Yuen Tin Fan,
Francis will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
PROFILE

Biographical details of the Company’s directors and the Group’s
senior management are set out on pages 60 to 65 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the Group’s business to which the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The board is authorized by the shareholders to fix the directors’
remuneration at general meetings. The directors’ emoluments are
determined by the board based on the recommendation by the
remuneration committee with reference to their job complexity,
workload and responsibilities and the Company’s remuneration

policy.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the
directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”) as recorded in the register of interests of the Company
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or as notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) (collectively the “Discloseable Interests”) were as follows:

(a) Discloseable Interests in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company

EERROREBRD z2ERZR
KB

R2011F12A31H EERREZHE
ARER B SHEAMEROEE (B RCE 5
RSB GO ([FHREEEG]) EXVER)
2 - BB SES R s A
B MIRIERE 5 K HIE G015 352 Rt 8 AR
NAIMGEE 2 R ERMA  SiREESF &
HEIEFIEXVEE 7 RESHIB(BIFE L
PR ES B 1R R < R SOA R ) iR
BCEABERXSMBERARES LTHRAD
(T Em#REN D) 8 EMBEITAZESETE
FRXHRESFRAE ARQE RH AT (457
BB CRsEaT

(@) REQXFZBOREBEBRDZERE
RS
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Total number Approximate

Number of of shares percentage

underlying  and underlying of issued

Capacity/ Number of shares held shares held shares

Name of director Nature of Interest shares held kel sk R HERTRS

EEnE B REEtE FEROEE RPEE HERG 2 HENE

(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)

(HzE1) (FzE2) %)

Mr. Ning Gaoning Beneficial Owner - 1,620,000 1,620,000 0.06%
ERERLE EREBA

Mr. Chi Jingtao Beneficial Owner - 740,000 740,000 0.03%
BRERE ERBBA

Ms. Luan Xiuju Beneficial Owner - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.05%
BRGgRtT ERBBA

Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William Beneficial Owner - 1,400,000 1,400,000 0.05%
BERRE ERBBA

Mr. Zhang Zhentao Beneficial Owner - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.05%
RiRELE ERHEBA

Ms. Liu Ding Beneficial Owner - 600,000 600,000 0.02%
MTzt EREBA

Mr. Ma Jianping Beneficial Owner - 1,400,000 1,400,000 0.05%
SRYEE EREBA

Ms. Wu Wenting Beneficial Owner - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.05%
Ryt ERBBA

Annual Report 2011



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

(a)

(b)
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EERROREBRD z2ERZR
wA (&)

Discloseable Interests in the shares and underlying shares of (a) RAEAQATZROREBRAZERE

the Company (continued) P ()

Notes: BT

1. Long positions in the shares of the Company, other than equity derivatives 1. AARBRGD 2 A (BRALTE T A
such as share options, warrants or convertible bonds. W - R S AT R ESBRIN) ©

2. Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company under share 2. IREERETEMESREEREET
options granted to directors pursuant to the Option Scheme. AAREERND 2R -

3. The percentages were calculated based on the total number of shares 3. B LIYREARARR20114F12 A31 H
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2011, i.e. 2,792,891,756 2 EEITID EE(B1 2,792,891, 756 % A%
shares. MFE -

Discloseable Interests in the shares and underlying shares (b) R—FREBEE (PEBHZERBRA

of an associated corporation, China Agri-Industries Holdings A((HEER]D) 2RO RAEBRD 2

Limited (“China Agri”) BiIRERER

Total

number of Approximate

Number of shares and percentage

underlying underlying of issued

Capacity/ Number of shares held shares held shares

Name of director Nature of Interest shares held Fris1EE8 RS HERTRE

EEpE B/ #utE  FERGEE ROHE REBROEH HHEIEIL

(Note 1) (Note 2)

(Pzx1) (PH7E2)

r. Ning Gaoning Beneficial owner - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.03%
HRERAE ERBEBA

Mr. Chi Jingtao Beneficial owner - 480,000 480,000 0.01%
ERERAE ERBEBA

Notes: B

1. Long positions in the underlying shares of China Agri under share options 1. RIE A BRI AR T B M E B R A0S
granted to directors pursuant to a share option scheme of China Agri. RRAETE TR Bt M ARRARR (D 2 47 & o

2. The percentages were calculated based on the total number of shares of 2. BTy RERBIEHMN 20114 12 A31
China Agri in issue as at 31 December 2011, i.e., 4,038,369,839 shares. Az B 21T ) 428k (B14,038,369,839 1%

f&9) 5T & ©
Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2011, none of the BrARERTHEE A SN 0 R20114F 12 A31

directors nor their associates had any other Discloseable Interests.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of
substantial shareholders in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of interests of the
Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, were as

FTERRREMALREOGRAE
R 2 EER AR

201112 A31 B » RIEES K EE 5]
EXVEBE2 REIDEMAMGARAFR] iR
BEH MRS IEH S 336 (E RN AR AT
GFEZEDELMA  FERBERARRRK
D RABERD 2 = RAB AT -

follows:
Aggregate long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the RAEQATRGRIEBERA Z2FE
Company
Number of shares held (Note 1)
FrisRB e (1)
Approximate
percentage
Through of issued
Name of Directly controlled shares
substantial shareholder beneficially owned corporations Total HERTRE
TERRER EEBHES BBTEEE my MBABE S
(Note 2)
(FEE2)
Wide Smart Holdings Limited 1,922 550,331 - 1,922 550,331 68.84%
COFCO (BVI) No. 108 Limited 140,000,000 - 140,000,000 5.01%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited 10,138,000 2,062,550,331 2,072,688,331 74.21%
HREEE(FE)BRAR (Note 3)
(FEE3)
COFCO Corporation - 2,072,688,331 2,072,688,331 74.21%
HREREEBRAR (Note 4)
(HEE4)
Notes: BREE -
1. Long positions in the shares of the Company, other than equity derivatives such 1. AREIRG 28 (RASTET AR - 2

as share options, warrants or convertible bonds.

2. The percentages were calculated based on the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 December 2011, i.e. 2,792,891,756 shares.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

3. COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)") was deemed to be interested in
2,062,550,331 shares in aggregate held by Wide Smart Holdings Limited (“Wide
Smart”) and COFCO (BVI) No. 108 Limited (“COFCO (BVI) 108”) which were
wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO (HK).

4. COFCO was deemed to be interested in 2,072,688,331 shares in aggregate held
by Wide Smart, COFCO (BVI) 108 and COFCO (HK) which were wholly-owned
subsidiaries of COFCO.

Mr. Chi Jingtao, an executive director and the chairman of the
board, is the vice president and former director of human resources
department of COFCO. Mr. Ning Gaoning, an executive director, is
also the chairman of COFCO, the chairman of COFCO (HK) and a
director of Wide Smart. Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William, an executive
director and a deputy general manager, is the chief financial officer
of COFCO (HK). Mr. Ma Jianping, a non-executive director, is also
the vice president and director of the strategy department of COFCO.
Ms. Wu Wenting, a non-executive director, is the director of the audit
department of COFCO. Ms. Liu Ding, a non-executive director, is a
director and a member of the communist party committee and the
head of communist party discipline and inspection team of COFCO.
Mr. Qu Zhe, former managing director, was an assistant president of
COFCO; and Mr. Wang Zhiying, the former non-executive director, is
the director of human resources department of COFCO.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2011, the director
of the Company were not aware of substantial shareholders and
other persons who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group, in the ordinary and usual course of

business, conducted various transactions with certain connected

persons of the Company including COFCO, the ultimate controlling

shareholder of the Company, and its subsidiaries (including China
Agri and its subsidiaries (the “China Agri Group”) and CPMC
Holdings Limited (“CPMC”) and its subsidiaries (the “CPMC Group”),
but excluding the Group, collectively the “COFCO Group”) and
COFCO’s associates.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.

China Agri Purchase Agreement

On 21 November 2008, the Company and China Agri,
a subsidiary of COFCO, thus a connected person of the
Company, entered into a purchase agreement for a term of
three years commenced from 1 January 2009 and expired on
31 December 2011 (the “China Agri Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the China Agri Purchase Agreement, the China Agri
Group and China Agri’s associates should supply bulk edible
oil and other raw materials and products and provide logistics
and other related services to the Group. Details of the China
Agri Purchase Agreement were disclosed in an announcement
of the Company dated 21 November 2008 and a circular of
the Company dated 12 December 2008 (the “December 2008
Circular”).

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to the China Agri Group and China
Agri’s associates for the purchase of edible oil and other raw
materials and products and procurement of related services
was approximately RMB8,524,074,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

2.

CPMC Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and CPMC, a subsidiary
of COFCO, thus a connected person of the Company, entered
into a packaging materials purchase agreement for a term of
three years commenced from 1 January 2009 and expired
on 31 December 2011 (the “CPMC Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the CPMC Purchase Agreement, the CPMC Group
should supply packaging materials (including miscellaneous
cans and crown caps) and related parts to the Group for
the production of confectionery products and the bottling
production of beverage products. Details of the CPMC
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in an announcement of
the Company dated 1 December 2008 (the “December 2008
Announcement”) and the December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the CPMC Group for the purchase of
packaging materials (including miscellaneous cans and crown
caps) was approximately RMB8,513,000.

Sugar Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and COFCO entered
into a sugar purchase agreement for a term of three years
commenced from 1 January 2009 and expired on 31
December 2011 (the “Sugar Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant
to the Sugar Purchase Agreement, the Group should purchase
sugar from the COFCO Group and COFCO'’s associates for the
bottling production of beverage products. Details of the Sugar
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in the December 2008
Announcement and the December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to the COFCO Group and COFCQO’s
associates for the purchase of sugar was approximately
RMB232,200,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

4.

Beverage Base Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and Tianjin Jin Mei
Beverage Company Limited (“Tianjin Jin Mei”), a connected
person of the Company, entered into a beverage base
purchase agreement for a term of three years commenced
from 1 January 2009 and expired on 31 December 2011
(the “Beverage Base Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the
Beverage Base Purchase Agreement, bottlers of the Group
should purchase beverage base from Tianjin Jin Mei at prices
determined by Coca-Cola Beverages (Shanghai) Company
Limited (“Coca-Cola (Shanghai)”). Details of the Beverage Base
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in the December 2008
Announcement and the December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to Tianjin Jin Mei for the purchase of
beverage base was approximately RMB31,070,000.

Concentrate Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and Coca-Cola
(Shanghai), a connected person of the Company, entered
into a concentrate purchase agreement for a term of three
years commenced from 1 January 2009 and expired on 31
December 2011 (the “Concentrate Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Concentrate Purchase Agreement, bottlers
of the Group should purchase concentrate from Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) at prices determined by Coca-Cola (Shanghai).
Details of the Concentrate Purchase Agreement were disclosed
in the December 2008 Announcement and the December
2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to Coca-Cola (Shanghai) for the purchase
of concentrate was approximately RMB968,190,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
6.  Still Beverages Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and Coca-Cola
Bottlers Manufacturing (Dongguan) Co. Ltd. (“Coca-Cola
(Dongguan)”), a connected person of the Company, entered
into a still beverages purchase agreement for a term of three
years commenced from 1 January 2009 and expired on 31
December 2011 (the “Still Beverages Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Still Beverages Purchase Agreement,
Coca-Cola (Dongguan) and its associates (the “Coca-Cola
(Dongguan) Group”) should supply still beverages to bottlers of
the Group for distribution and resale within designated areas
in the PRC. Details of the Still Beverages Purchase Agreement
were disclosed in the December 2008 Announcement and the

December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to the Coca-Cola (Dongguan)
Group for the purchase of still beverages was approximately

RMB1,924,910,000.

7. Zijiang Packaging Materials Purchase Agreement

On 25 November 2008, Tianjin Coca-Cola Beverages Co., Ltd.
(the “Tianjin Bottler”), a deemed subsidiary of the Company,
and Tianjin Shifa Zijiang Packaging Co., Ltd. (“Zijiang”), a
connected person of the Company, renewed the term of
a packaging materials purchase agreement entered into
between the parties in August 2001 for a term of two years
and ten months commenced from 1 January 2009 and
expired on 31 October 2011 (the “Zijiang Packaging Materials
Purchase Agreement”). Tianjin Bottler and Zijiang entered
into a supplemental agreement on 30 October 2011 to extend
the expiry date of the Zijiang Packaging Materials Purchase
Agreement to 31 December 2011. Pursuant to the Zijiang
Packaging Materials Purchase Agreement, Zijiang should
supply packaging materials and provide conversion services to
the Tianjin Bottler. Details of the Zijiang Packaging Materials
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in the December 2008

Announcement and the December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount paid/
payable by the Tianjin Bottler to Zijiang for the purchase of

packaging materials was approximately RMB60,420,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

8.

Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement

On 24 February 2009, COFCO Le conté Food (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Le conté”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and Shanghai Tiangong Coca Food Co., Ltd.
(“Shanghai Tiangong”), a connected person of the Company,
entered into a cocoa butter purchase agreement for a term
commenced from 24 February 2009 and expired on 31
December 2011 (the “Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement, COFCO
Le conté should purchase cocoa butter for the production of
confectionery products from Shanghai Tiangong. Details of
the Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement were disclosed in an
announcement of the Company dated 24 February 2009.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, no transaction was
conducted under the Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement.

Property Leasing and Property Management Services
Agreement

On 2 November 2009, the Company and COFCO entered into a
property leasing and property management services agreement
(the “Property Leasing and Property Management Services
Agreement”), for a term commenced from 2 November 2009
and expired on 31 December 2011. Pursuant to the Property
Leasing and Property Management Services Agreement, the
Group should lease from the COFCO Group and COFCO’s
associates various premises for their own use as offices and
warehouses in Hong Kong and the PRC, as applicable. The
COFCO Group and COFCO’s associates would also provide
property management services, property management related
food and beverage services and other related services to
the Group. Details of the Property Leasing and Property
Management Services Agreement were disclosed in an
announcement of the Company dated 3 November 2009.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount of
rentals and management fees paid/payable by the Group to
the COFCO Group and COFCO’s associates was approximately
RMB29,714,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

10.

11.

CPMC Products Supply Agreement

On 13 October 2010, the Company and CPMC entered into
a products supply agreement which commenced from 13
October 2010 and expired on 31 December 2011 (the “CPMC
Products Supply Agreement”). Pursuant to the CPMC Products
Supply Agreement, the CPMC Group should supply to the
Group two-piece beverage cans and other packaging materials
and products (excluding crown caps and miscellaneous cans)
and ancillary parts. Details of the CPMC Products Supply
Agreement and the revision of the transaction cap were
disclosed in announcements of the Company dated 13 October
2010 and 10 December 2010, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the CPMC Group for the purchase of
two-piece beverage cans and other packaging materials and
products (excluding crown caps and miscellaneous cans) and
ancillary parts was approximately RMB49,690,000.

New COFCO Products Mutual Supply Agreement

On 31 January 2011, the Company and COFCO entered into
a new products mutual supply agreement for a term of one
year commenced from 31 January 2011 (the “New COFCO
Products Mutual Supply Agreement”). New COFCO Products
Mutual Supply Agreement was terminated on 31 December
2011. Pursuant to the New COFCO Products Mutual Supply
Agreement, the COFCO Group should supply consumer-
pack sugar products, honey products, tea products, peanut
products, cheese products, microwave foods, vegetable and
fruit juices and other products (excluding edible oils, sugar
and packaging products) to the Group while the Group should
supply wine products, confectionery products, sparkling
beverages and still beverages, consumer-pack edible oils
and other products to the COFCO Group. In addition, the
COFCO Group should reimburse the Group for the expenses
in connection with the promotion or sales and distribution of
the products supplied by the COFCO Group (the “Expenses”).
The Expenses should first be paid by the Group and then
reimbursed by the COFCO Group. Details of the New COFCO
Products Mutual Supply Agreement and the revision of the
annual cap in relation to the products supplied by the Group
to the COFCO Group were disclosed in announcements of the
Company dated 31 January 2011 and 3 August 2011 (the
“August 2011 Announcement”), respectively.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

11.

12.

New COFCO Products Mutual Supply Agreement (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the COFCO Group for the purchase
of relevant products was approximately RMB83,703,000,
the total amount paid/payable by the COFCO Group to
the Group for the purchase of relevant products was
approximately RMB78,293,000, and the total amount of the
Expenses reimbursed by the COFCO Group to the Group was
approximately RMB13,526,000.

COFCO Northsea Products Supply Agreement

On 3 August 2011, the Company and COFCO Northsea Oils
& Grains Industries (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Northsea”),
a connected person of the Company, entered into a products
supply agreement which commenced from 3 August 2011
and expired on 31 December 2011 (the “COFCO Northsea
Products Supply Agreement”). Pursuant to the COFCO
Northsea Products Supply Agreement, the Group should
supply sunflower oil, rapeseed oil, corn oil and other products
to COFCO Northsea. Details of the COFCO Northsea Products
Supply Agreement were disclosed in the August 2011
Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount paid/
payable by COFCO Northsea to the Group for the purchase
of certain edible oils and other products was approximately
RMB9,670,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

13.

14.

2011 Beverage Base Purchase Agreement

On 21 November 2011, the Company and Tianjin Jin Mei
entered into a beverage base purchase agreement for a term
of three years commencing from 1 January 2012 and expiring
on 31 December 2014 (the “2011 Beverage Base Purchase
Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2011 Beverage Base Purchase
Agreement, members of the Group with prior approval from
Tianjin Jin Mei shall purchase beverage bases from Tianjin Jin
Mei at prices determined by Coca-Cola (Shanghai). The annual
caps in respect of the purchase of the beverage bases by the
Group for the years ending 31 December 2012, 2013 and
2014 will be RMB80 million, RMB120 million and RMB170
million, respectively. Details of the 2011 Beverage Base
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in an announcement of
the Company dated 21 November 2011 (the “November 2011
Announcement”).

2011 Concentrate Purchase Agreement

On 21 November 2011, the Company and Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) entered into a concentrate purchase agreement
for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2012
and expiring on 31 December 2014 (the “2011 Concentrate
Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2011 Concentrate
Purchase Agreement, members of the Group with prior
written approval from Coca-Cola (Shanghai) shall purchase
concentrates from Coca-Cola (Shanghai) at prices determined
by Coca-Cola (Shanghai). The annual caps in respect of the
purchase of the concentrates by the Group for the years ending
31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 will be RMB2,000 million,
RMB2,500 million and RMB2,900 million, respectively. Details
of the 2011 Concentrate Purchase Agreement were disclosed
in the November 2011 Announcement and a circular of the
Company dated 12 December 2011 (the “December 2011
Circular”).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

15.

16.

2011 Still Beverages Purchase Agreement

On 21 November 2011, the Company and Coca-Cola
(Dongguan) entered into a still beverages purchase agreement
for a term of three years commencing from 1 January
2012 and expiring on 31 December 2014 (the “2011 Still
Beverages Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2011 Still
Beverages Purchase Agreement, members of the Group with
prior written approval from The Coca-Cola Company shall
purchase still beverages from the Coca-Cola (Dongguan)
Group for distribution and resale within designated areas in
the PRC. The annual caps in respect of the purchase of the
still beverages by the Group for the years ending 31 December
2012, 2013 and 2014 will be RMB3,500 million, RMB5,500
million and RMB&,500 million, respectively. Details of the
2011 Still Beverages Purchase Agreement were disclosed in
the November 2011 Announcement and the December 2011
Circular.

2011 Zijiang Provision of Packaging Materials and Services
Agreement

On 21 November 2011, Tianjin Bottler and Zijiang entered into
a provision of packaging materials and services agreement for
a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2012 and
expiring on 31 December 2014 (the “2011 Zijiang Provision
of Packaging Materials and Services Agreement”). Pursuant
to the 2011 Zijiang Provision of Packaging Materials and
Services Agreement, Zijiang shall supply packaging materials
and provide conversion services to Tianjin Bottler. The annual
caps in respect of the packaging materials and related services
supplied by Zijiang for the years ending 31 December 2012,
2013 and 2014 will be RMB250 million, RMB300 million
and RMB350 million, respectively. Details of the 2011 Zijiang
Provision of Packaging Materials and Services Agreement were
disclosed in the November 2011 Announcement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

17.

2011 COFCO Mutual Provision of Products and Services
Agreement

On 21 November 2011, the Company and COFCO entered
into a mutual provision of products and services agreement for
a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2012 and
expiring on 31 December 2014 (the “2011 COFCO Mutual
Provision of Products and Services Agreement”). Pursuant to
the 2011 COFCO Mutual Provision of Products and Services
Agreement, the COFCO Group and COFCO’s associates shall
supply certain oil products and other raw materials, consumer
products, packaging materials and other products owned,
manufactured, or resold by the COFCO Group and COFCOQO’s
associates and provide property leasing and other services to
the Group while the Group shall supply certain bulk edible oils
and other raw materials and consumer products and other
products owned, manufactured, or resold by the Group and
provide information technology services and other services
to the COFCO Group and COFCO’s associates. In addition,
the COFCO Group and COFCO’s associates shall reimburse
the Group for the expenses (the “Promotion and Sales and
Distribution Expenses”) in connection with the promotion or
sale and distribution of the certain products supplied by the
COFCO Group and COFCOQO’s associates. The Promotion and
Sales and Distribution Expenses shall first be paid by the Group
and then reimbursed by the COFCO Group and COFCO’s
associates. The annual caps in respect of (a) the supply of raw
materials, products, services and others by the COFCO Group
and COFCOQO’s associates to the Group for the years ending 31
December 2012, 2013 and 2014 will be RMB34,000 million,
RMB44,700 million and RMB57,700 million, respectively; (b)
the supply of raw materials, products, services and others by
the Group to the COFCO Group and COFCQO’s associates for
the years ending 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 will be
RMB5,800 million, RMB7,500 million and RMB9,200 million,
respectively; and (c) the Promotion and Sales and Distribution
Expenses for the years ending 31 December 2012, 2013 and
2014 will be RMB80 million, respectively. Details of the 2011
COFCO Mutual Provision of Products and Services Agreement
were disclosed in the November 2011 Announcement and the
December 2011 Circular.
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions numbered 1 to 12 disclosed above by the
Group in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions numbered 1 to 12 for the year
ended 31 December 2011 and the report of the Company’s auditors,
and confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

2. either on normal commercial terms or, on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from (as
appropriate) independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements

governing the transactions and are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, no directors of the Company are considered to
have interests in any business which is likely to compete directly or
indirectly with that of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

LUAN Xiuju
Managing Director

Hong Kong
30 March 2012
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B BE RS
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

[ |

=7 ik
To the shareholders of China Foods Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Foods Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 132 to 244, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31 December 2011, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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B BE RS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Auditors’ responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central
Hong Kong

30 March 2012
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- @ FEBRAER
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

HZE2011F12A31 HIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
2011 % 20104
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FHET FHET
REVENUE A 5 28,010,761 19,955,984
Cost of sales e A (21,348,376)  (14,874,639)
Gross profit EAH 6,662,385 5,081,345
Other income and gains H b Ug A K as 5 238,524 305,791
Selling and distribution costs HEE Mo iERk A (4,767,225) (3,769,669)
Administrative expenses THRE (939,583) (748,202)
Other expenses EE (14,393) (6,830)
Finance costs B AR A 7 (37,043) (45,425)
Share of profits of associates RGBS & N F)a 65,437 64,038
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BREL AR 6 1,208,102 881,048
Income tax expense TSz 10 (340,811) (260,326)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERF 867,291 620,722
Attributable to: JE1ETT
Owners of the parent ISYNEIETZIN 11 645,609 427 567
Non-controlling interests IR 221,682 193,155
867,291 620,722
EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAREER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EEEEA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EhEERER
OF THE PARENT 13
Basic HAK HK23.12 cents HK15.31 cents
B (il
Diluted g HK23.10 cents HK15.30 cents
pe=2 (1l il

F AR BRI BFFIER Y S REMN T
12955 ©

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are
disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.
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FeEREBAERR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE2011F12 A31 HIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
2011 20104
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
it FHET FHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERA 867,291 620,722
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Httz2mEWA
Gains on property revaluation YIS EH WS 14 = 9,092
Income tax effect FTiStis & - (2,182)
- 6,910
Share of other comprehensive FE(LEE = A A
income of associates HEh2mEmBA (1,357) -
Exchange differences on HE G INE TS
translation of foreign operations ZEH ZERE 331,395 214,339
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEHMEEKRA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (B HKRHE) 330,038 221,249
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEZAEWA
FOR THE YEAR e 1,197,329 841,971
Attributable to: FE(ETT
Owners of the parent [SYNETEZY=UN 913,544 609,152
Non-controlling interests eI e e 283,785 232,819
1,197,329 841,971
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FeEMBIKRAR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2011 2010
20115 2010%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - HWEK&E 14 3,889,400 3,548,038
Investment properties TEYH 15 82,361 73,966
Prepaid land premiums Gk 16 308,078 247,174
Deposits for purchase of items of EEWME  FEL
property, plant and equipment REHEAZES 52,802 31,783
Goodwill EES 17 1,727,793 1,680,015
Other intangible assets HibEpEE 18 60,389 67,955
Investments in associates REZNRZIKE 20 567,934 545,201
Available-for-sale investments AMEHERE 21 203,104 209,387
Held-to-maturity investments BEERERE 20 = 57,915
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIAE = 30 46,893 35,003
Biological assets EYEE 23 165,833 119,263
Total non-current assets IERBEELE 7,104,587 6,615,700
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories & 24 5,701,744 3,490,337
Accounts and bills receivables BB T Rk 25 1,944,607 1,616,059
Prepayments, deposits and TERFIE - B
other receivables N E A e W3R8 1,446,782 1,269,875
Due from fellow subsidiaries EES N EINCIVE 38 69,390 28,418
Due from the ultimate holding company — SAR¥EIX A GIR X 38 22,056 11,190
Due from the immediate holding company B F#%EM A &R 38 165 165
Due from related companies BAE N E)R K 38 4,076 -
Due from a non-controlling shareholder — FEF PR A% 5 /R X 38 9,510 -
Due from associates TN U 20 1,551 1,680
Prepaid tax TR 1A 23,653 28,831
Held-to-maturity investments BFEEDERE 22 58,044 25,217
Equity investments at fair value ATHEYAEZE
through profit or loss SIS E 26 15,016 19,199
Pledged deposits HEIRER 27 139,005 127,096
Cash and cash equivalents ReERIREEEEE 27 1,789,797 1,741,203
Total current assets MENEEEE 11,225,396 8,359,270
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

FeEMEBKAR (&)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2011 2010
20115 20104
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FET T
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Accounts and bills payables JEBR RN 25 28 1,558,708 999,864
Other payables and accruals Ha etz IE&FEH‘E\% 3,939,495 2,663,330
Due to fellow subsidiaries UNGES =N /T)\ 38 1,057,344 1,089,857
Due to the ultimate holding company KF”T A& A 7] 38 41,031 31,337
Due to related companies REBIERN IE 38 884,130 692,062
Due to non-controlling shareholders ez Hxﬂxﬁ 38 30,818 8,926
Due to associates NG /N Tw\lﬁ 20 292,150 233,626
Interest-bearing bank and STEHRITER K
other borrowings HEMER 29 1,516,936 1,021,152
Tax payable JERTTRIR 75,230 94,217
Total current liabilities mERERE 9,395,842 6,834,371
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZE 1,829,554 1,524,899
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEEABERRE
CURRENT LIABILITIES aE 8,934,141 8,140,599
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FEIRITER 29 300,000 495,000
Due to non-controlling shareholders eI EE 38 27,680 38,123
Deferred income FRIEU A 42,532 31,146
Deferred tax liabilities FRIEFIBEE 30 50,132 26,920
Total non-current liabilities EREaERE 420,344 591,189
Net assets BEFE 8,513,797 7,549,410
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to owners BARERA
of the parent PE{E B A<
Issued capital BEITIRA 31 279,289 279,246
Reserves 1 33(a) 6,271,636 5,578,010
Proposed final dividend T80 R B AR B 12 118,698 89,638
6,669,623 5,946,894
Non-controlling interests iR ER 1,844,174 1,602,516
Total equity e A 4B (E 8,513,797 7,549,410

Luan Xiuju
§85%

Director

EF

Mak Chi Wing, William
TR
Director

EF
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ReREEHER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZE2011F12A31 HIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2011

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAFEEARR
Employee
share-based
compensation Exchange  Asset Proposed Non-
Share  resenve fluctuation ~ revaluation final contoling—— Total
Issued  premium EE  Capidl  Resene  resene  resene’  Refaned  dividend inferests — equiy
aptd  accot HEEE  esene  funds EREE AEER  opofs  RE Tl HER B
BEARE RhARE EHRE EARE  BRE BE  GB RERD RERS & BB g
Notss ~ HKS000 ~ HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$O000
fE TR TR Thr TEr TRr TR Thr TR TR TEm TEn T
At 1 January 2010 RONEIRIA 219151 86 21747 3200505 193472 498429 - 1152409 96340 5482899 1402240 6,885,130
Proft for the year EEEH - - — - - - AR - 767 1983155 6072
Other compreensive EFEMAE
income forthe year: BA:
Gains on propery evaluatin,  WIEBRYE
netoftax BHEHE - - - - - - 6900 - - 6900 - 6900
Exchange differences
on frangaton eSS
of oreign operatons JEREE - - - - - 1467 - - - 1eT e 214339
Total comprehensive income
for the year EERENAGE - - - - - 1746 6910 421567 - 609192 232819 841971
Exercise of share options fiiRhE 3l % 609 (141 - - - - - - L3 e
Share isu expenses OESET 3l - (2%) - - - - - - - - (2%)
Equiy-seftled share option uscEt o
anangemens T ¥ - - 36 - - - - - - 36 -3
Paril disposal ofasubsidiary ~ BAHE-TEHELA - - - 06 - - - - ST 1099 18035
Final 2009 dividend paid B0 ERERE - - - - - - - - (%340 (96,340) - (%340
Interim 2010 cividend paid BRAONERERE 12 - - - - - - - A2 - (642 - B2
Proposed 2010l diidend~ RE0I0ERSRE 12 - - - - - - - (%9638 89638 - - -
Dividends paid fonon-contioling ~ FI3FERRE
shareholders ZIiRE - - - - - - - - - - #3512 (83512)
Transfer fom retained profts ERBaTER - - - - D - - (1279) - - - -
At 31 Decernber 2010 RO0E1A318 926 68797 23943F 32T 200207 673104 6910* 1413306° 89638 53468% 1602516 7549410
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

HE2011F12A31AILFE
Year ended 31 December 2011

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAAREARE
Employee
share-hased
compensation Exchange  Asset Proposed Non-
Share  resenve fluctuation revaluation final controlling ~~ Total

Issued premium & Capital  Resene

reseve  resenve’  Retained  dividend interests  equity

cptal  account RAEE  esene  funds EXEE EEER  opofs  BE Tl EER RA

CRiTRA ROAER FMEE ERBR  GRe

B 8% REI RERR 4t B 2E

Notes HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TR TEr TEn TEr fER TEm

g TRn TEr TEr TER TEm

At January 2011 RANELIRIA
Proftfor the year 3
Other comprehensive EBER2E
income forthe year WA
Exchnge differences
on franlation of HERIZHE
forign operefions pidh=
Share o oher comprehensive AMBELAL
income of asociaes Ep2EHA

Total comprenensive

Income for th year ERRENAEE
Erercse of share opfons fiiERE 3
Fquiysetted share hrgEEhE
opton arrangements i k)
Final 2010 dividend paid BEN0ERERE 12

Inferim 2011 dhidend peid ERAIFPERE 12

Proposed 2011 frel dicend #R0UAERE )

Dhidends pad oron-contioling ~~ FSEERREL A
shareholders R

Transter from retaned profts BREEHER

=

At 31 December 2011 R0IERA31E

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$6,271,636,000 (2010: HK$5,578,010,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The asset revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from owned-
occupied properties to investment properties carried at fair value
during the year ended 31 December 2010.

Y REMERABRES BRI EF
B4 B 1 186,271,636,000% 7T (20104 -
5,578010,000;%7) °

* REE2010F12H31 HIFFREA - BFY

RBERBRENREELNEEE A FER
L FLEDEE ©
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FeEAKRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE2011F12A31 HIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
20114 20104
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FBT
CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEBZRERE
Profit before tax FR A5 AL A 1,208,102 881,048
Adjustments for: BTINBEEEH AR -
Finance costs RbE AR 7 37,043 45,425
Share of profits of associates FEAGES &N A Al (65,437) (64,038)
Interest income FEUA 5 (30,397) (25,209)
Dividend income from available- A ERE
for-sale investments ZIRBIA 5 (36,926) (43,963)
Dividend income from equity WA ENAEZ
investments at fair value ZHERIEE Y
through profit or loss & B A 5 (343) (210)
Fair value losses/(gains) on equity BAFEINABRZ
investments at fair value RN E 2 NFE
through profit or loss &8, () 56 4,183 (4,775)
Loss on disposal of available- BEEAHPERE
for-sale investments 258 6 = 453
Fair value gains on biological assets, net A& &E 7 AFEFWKES 6 (33,510) (7,092)
Impairment of receivables FEWFIBRE 6 2,616 1,937
Equity-settled share option expense AL E R ERY 6 10,357 3,677
Amortisation of other intangible assets Efth iR & 6 10,585 6,472
Depreciation e 6 397,672 333,792
Fair value gains on REMEL
investment properties N ERE 5 (4,610) (3,858)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment REEE 2EE 6 7,272 4,440
Loss on disposal of biological assets EYEERBEBRX 6 14,073 -
Impairment of an available- AL ERE
for-sale investment ZRE 6 322 -
Recognition of prepaid land premiums HREMN TS 6 7,580 5,933
Provision against inventories FERE 6 27,325 33,201
Government grants IEdiSEEE) 5 (62,240) (32,595)
1,493,667 1,134,638
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FeEHaRnER(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HZE2011F12 A31 HIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
2011 20104
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FBT
1,493,667 1,134,638
Increase in inventories FEHM (2,001,576) (568,890)
Increase in accounts and bills receivables e NE S S I (244,610) (491,133)
Increase in prepayments, deposits TERFOE -« e R HEM
and other receivables FE I FRIB L (110,522) (589,692)
Increase in amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries B Z BT A RIRFRIE N (38,604) (23,441)
Increase in an amount due
from the ultimate holding company AP R B R FIE N (10,211) (5,754)
Decrease in an amount due
from the immediate holding company EES2 NGV S8 = 190
Increase in amounts due
from related companies EEFENEIDNES €Il (3,977) -
Decrease/(increase) in amounts EEANCTYNE
due from associates E, () 207 (641)
Increase in accounts and bills payables JEAS BR TN SR 42 0 496,376 50,859
Increase in other payables HAth e3R8 K FERT
and accruals BERE 1,317,362 242911
(Decrease)/increase in amounts YSEES NGRS
due to fellow subsidiaries CRd), /1 (84,499) 263,562
Increase/(decrease) in an amount R B YRR A A
due to the ultimate holding company FRIBH N, CRi ) 7,942 (4,136)
Increase in amounts due to related companies R B&E A B FIEIE AN 153,907 216,706
Increase in amounts due to
non-controlling shareholders e E | 11,650 2,998
Increase in amounts due to associates IR B N B FRIEIE N 45,794 125,602
Cash generated from operations WELEISFIR 2 H S 1,032,906 353,779
Interest received BUF B 30,397 25,209
Interest paid BAFLE (37,043) (45,425)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEAFMEH (335) (448)
Mainland China income tax paid BT B RS (359,543) (208,380)
KR ETEESE
Net cash flows from operating activities 2R FEE 666,382 124,735
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FeERaRER(|)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HZE2011F12A31 HIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
20114 20104
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FBT
Net cash flows from REEBESE
operating activities ZIRERFEE 666,382 124,735
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETBHZHERE
Increase in pledged deposits HIRFFIE N (11,298) (95,081)
Repayments from available- AR ERE
for-sale investments BN = 934
Dividends received from associates B Uk 2 A BIR B 45,160 51,720
Dividends received from available- B E
for-sale investments TE RS 36,926 43,963
Dividends received from equity B AT AT ABE
investments at fair value ZERNE
through profit or loss ) ¥\ 343 210
Proceeds from disposal of items of LEME  BEX
property, plant and equipment HRBETE B TSR 14,941 23,530
Partial disposal of a subsidiary Lo HE—RH BT = 18,035
Redemption of held-to- BEZIERE
maturity investments el 24,960 14,410
Purchases of available-for-sale
investments EEHEERE - (3,856)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W iE—RN B AR 34 (84,914) -
Additional investment in R—EHE AR
an associate ZREIMEE (3,813) (85,931)
Purchases of items of property, EEME BEX
plant and equipment BEE 14 (546,396) (736,646)
Additions to other intangible assets HEEMBELEE 18 (1,544) (29,463)
Additions to prepaid land premiums FEf b 8N 16 (55,664) (31,793)
Increase in deposits for purchase EEWME - BE
of items of property, MEEEIEE 2
plant and equipment I (21,019) (17,544)
Additions to biological assets EVEEREIN 23 (12,953) (19,929)
Receipt of government grants W B B 8 B) 62,240 52,362
Proceeds from disposal of an HETHREERE
available-for-sale investment FriS 5008 6,415 -
Net cash flows used in WEEEFAZ
investing activities RERFRE (546,616) (815,079)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HZE2011F12 A31 HIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
2011 20104
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FaET FBT
Net cash flows used in REEHFTRZ
investing activities BEmFE (546,616) (815,079)
CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RETHZRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS RA 31 2,139 4,667
New bank loans FTIGIRITE X 1,263,124 2,077,483
New other loans G H M EK 84,255 102,806
Repayments of bank loans BEIRITER (988,240) (1,387,317)
Repayments of other loans EEEMER (60,182) (112,048)
Dividends paid EAIERE (182,980) (144,510)
Dividends paid to non-
controlling shareholders B IR AR R AR B (42,127) (43,512)
(Decrease)/increase in payables FERTFR CRid) /N (209,115) 31,359
Decrease in amounts due to non- KB A RIS
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries AR EIER 4 (12,036) (91,229)
Net cash flows (used in)/from MEEH (A EL
financing activities e mFRE (145,162) 437,699
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRRLEEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS WA R (25,396) (252,645)
Cash and cash equivalents FHzBEe Rk
at beginning of year RE&EEIER 1,741,203 1,943,103
Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes, net [ERE B TR 73,990 50,745
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHRZBAER
AT END OF YEAR HEeEEER 1,789,797 1,741,203
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERREEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BB RO
Cash and bank balances B4 MIRTHES 27 1,770,983 1,670,502
Non-pledged time deposits with FARRN3{EA
original maturity of less than AEIER 2 iR
three months when acquired HE BT 30 27 18,814 70,701
Cash and cash equivalents as stated PR REIE S
in the statement of financial position MEXRHZRE
and the statement of cash flows MIReEMEEE 1,789,797 1,741,203
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2011 2010
20114 20104F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FHT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Plant and equipment TR K 55 1 14 578 826
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZIRE 19 2,106,711 2,106,711
Held-to-maturity investments BEEERERE 20 = 57,915
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 2,107,289 2,165,452
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepayments, deposits TERRIE - ek
and other receivables E fb el FRIA 8,414 6,527
Due from subsidiaries NSNS EN 19 4,407,291 4,343,882
Due from the immediate holding company B F#%EA A &R 38 165 165
Equity investments at fair BATEIAERZ
value through profit or loss R E 26 10,283 13,310
Held-to-maturity investments HEZRERE 22 58,044 25217
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEER 27 12,489 22,463
Total current assets MEEELE 4,496,686 4,411,564
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEBE
Other payables and HE A ROR
accruals LIEFTEE 64,713 45,851
Due to subsidiaries U ENGIE S| 19 87,511 68,083
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FEIRITER 29 745,000 636,000
Total current liabilities mENBEEE 897,224 749,934
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEZRE 3,599,462 3,661,630
TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES EERERRBERE 5,706,751 5,827,082
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 29 300,000 195,000
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERE 300,000 195,000
Net assets BEFE 5,406,751 5,632,082
EQUITY &N
Issued capital BEITRR 31 279,289 279,246
Reserves B 33(b) 5,008,764 5,263,198
Proposed final dividend e AR BA A B 12 118,698 89,638
Total equity A 4B1E 5,406,751 5,632,082
Luan Xiuju Mak Chi Wing, William
Director Director
EZE EZE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Corporate information

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of
the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company is a subsidiary of COFCO (Hong Kong)
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Based on
the confirmation of the board of directors of the Company
(the “board”), the ultimate holding company of the Company
is COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”), which is a state-owned
enterprise registered in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC").

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) were involved in the following principal activities:

o processing, bottling and distribution of sparkling
beverages and distribution of still beverages;

° production, sale and trading of grape wine and other wine
products;

e  distribution of retail packaged cooking oil and other
consumer food products; and

° production and distribution of chocolates and other
related products.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
biological assets and equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

2.1

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

DNAEH

FREERERAR(ARRA] B—
RRBEBREFMKIZ2EREER
7] o ZAAR) 2 M= EE A& Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda °

KRR DEBRBEMALZ PIEEE
(BB)BERRABZMBAT - RIEA
rEEFe((EFg ) 2®R A0
Bl 2 REER A B RN P EARKM
B([FE])EMEAEETEER
BRAR([FIEAF])

REER - KRR REMEB QR (5iH
[AEEDRETIIEEE

o T EHEDHUKEDHE
LR

s BWEBEIEMEREMOEE -
HENES

s HERDHEDLRARHEMBARE

mRERE

ZEMBRRIDBRBEABTB G
SR EEM B IREER ([ FEY
BRELEA ) (P REMARBME
WEER  FAESAER(ELER
R Ridkg) - AR ARG RAIR
BB R AMRPIREZ K MRS -

pu}

ZEMBRKRTIRIBEE 2 KA B O
e EEATEFEZREYE
EMEERIZ A FEII ARG 2
BRERIN - BMBHRRIAET(TETT])
25 MESEEREIN  ESR
B ieHETHL -
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2011. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed
to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit
balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(ii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate.

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards - Limited
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 32 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —

Classification of Rights Issues
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GAPBHRRBEEANTNEMERD
AR ZE2011F 12831 BItFE 28
HIRE - BB R AP IS RER T EA
AEARZ RERIZHER SRR R
2o BB A A2 ¥4 A W E B HIRER
A NEE - UgBE B HA BN K &£ B LS 1
EzH TEZIEHELKLEAILI—E
BAANR - "EBRRXSHEEZ —
PEBRNGEHS X5 KRERKER
BB A K A% B4R A ABRRS B2 -

g ELBRESR HBRARZE
ERA BRI S RBN IR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

issued in May 2010

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of HKAS 24 (Revised), and amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS
1 and HKAS 27 included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2010,
the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting these HKFRSs are as follows:

(a)

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions
of related parties. The new definitions emphasise a
symmetrical view of related party relationships and
clarify the circumstances in which persons and key
management personnel affect related party relationships
of an entity. The revised standard also introduces an
exemption from the general related party disclosure
requirements for transactions with a government
and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the same government as the
reporting entity. The accounting policy for related parties
has been revised to reflect the changes in the definitions
of related parties under the revised standard. The
adoption of the revised standard did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.
Details of the related party transactions, including the
related comparative information, are included in note 38
to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(continued)

(b) Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010

sets

out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There

are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments may
result in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments has had a significant financial impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group. Details of
the key amendments most applicable to the Group are as
follows:

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: The amendment
clarifies that the amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS
32 and HKAS 39 that eliminate the exemption for
contingent consideration do not apply to contingent
consideration that arose from business combinations
whose acquisition dates precede the application of
HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendment limits the scope of
measurement choices for non-controlling interests.
Only the components of non-controlling interests
that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured
at either fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by another HKFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance to
clarify the accounting treatment for non-replaced
and voluntarily replaced share-based payment
awards.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
The amendment clarifies that an analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income can
be presented either in the statement of changes in
equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
The Group elects to present the analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income in the
statement of changes in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(b) (continued)

o HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from HKAS 27 (as
revised in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and
HKAS 31 shall be applied prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier if

HKAS 27 is applied earlier.

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards —
Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for
First-time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures - Transfers
of Financial Assets !

Amendments to HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities *

Financial Instruments
Consolidated Financial Statements *
Joint Arrangements *
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities *
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement *
HKAS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 1

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Presentation of ltems of
Other Comprehensive Income 3

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes -
Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets

HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits ¢

HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements *

HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures*

HKAS 32 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities ®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine *

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
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RA TR RO EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

Further information about those changes that are expected to
significantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase
1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
This phase focuses on the classification and measurement
of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial assets
into four categories, an entity shall classify financial assets
as subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair
value, on the basis of both the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to improve and
simplify the approach for the classification and measurement
of financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS
39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS
9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and
incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles
of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions
were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while
changes were made to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair
value option (“FVQ”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount
of change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable
to changes in credit risk must be presented in other
comprehensive income (“OCI"). The remainder of the change
in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation
of the fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in
OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. However, loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts which have been designated under the FVO are
scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues
to apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January
2015.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to
all entities including special purpose entities or structured
entities. It includes a new definition of control which is used
to determine which entities are consolidated. The changes
introduced by HKFRS 10 require management of the Group
to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities
are controlled, compared with the requirements in HKAS 27
and HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities.
HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting
for consolidated financial statements. It also includes the
issues raised in HK(SIC)-Int 12.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint
arrangements with joint control. It addresses only two forms
of joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint ventures,
and removes the option to account for joint ventures using
proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities that are
previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also introduces a
number of new disclosure requirements for these entities.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS
28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11, HKFRS 12, and the consequential amendments to HKAS
27 and HKAS 28 from 1 January 2013.
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RA TR RO EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not
change the circumstances in which the Group is required to
use fair value, but provides guidance on how fair value should
be applied where its use is already required or permitted
under other HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 13
prospectively from 1 January 2013.

Amendments to HKAS 1 change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. ltems that could be reclassified to profit or
loss at a future point in time would be presented separately
from items which will never be reclassified. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2013.

HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred
tax for investment property measured at fair value. The
amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that deferred
tax on investment property measured at fair value should
be determined on the basis that its carrying amount will
be recovered through sale. Furthermore, the amendments
incorporate the requirement previously in HK(SIC)-Int 21
Income Taxes — Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable
Assets that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets, measured
using the revaluation model in HKAS 16, should always be
measured on a sale basis. The Group expects to adopt HKAS
12 Amendments from 1 January 2012.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range
from fundamental changes to simple clarifications and re-
wording. The revised standard introduces significant changes
in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans including
removing the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial
gains and losses. Other changes include modifications to the
timing of recognition for termination benefits, the classification
of short-term employee benefits and disclosures of defined
benefit plans. The Group expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011)
from 1 January 2013.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which
the Group and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates
the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the
duration of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets
are to be realised upon its dissolution. The profits and losses
from the joint venture’s operations and any distributions of
surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in proportion
to their respective capital contributions, or in accordance with
the terms of the joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less
than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is
in a position to exercise significant influence over the joint
venture; or

(c) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less
than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and
has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to exercise
significant influence over, the joint venture.
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RA TR RO EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the
Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The
Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income statement
and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition
costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at
the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration
which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognised
in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured.
Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In
instances where the contingent consideration does not fall
within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in accordance
with the appropriate HKFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.
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RA TR RO EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based
on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, biological assets, financial
assets, investment properties, and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’'s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the income statement in
the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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RA TR RO EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the
deficit is charged to the income statement. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the income statement to the
extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer
from the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made
for the difference between the depreciation based on the
revalued carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued
asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated
Buildings 2.8% 10 16.2%
Plant, machinery and equipment 4.5% t0 33.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end
of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement in
the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income statement in
the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that
date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above.
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RA TR RO EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Computer software

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of five or eight years.

Water rights

Water rights are stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful life of 40 years.

Biological assets

The fair value of the grape vines is estimated by reference
to independent professional valuations using the discounted
cash flows of the underlying biological assets. The expected
cash flows from the whole life cycle of the grape vines are
determined using the market price of the estimated yield of
the agricultural produce, being grapes, net of maintenance
and harvesting costs and any costs required to bring grape
vines to maturity. The estimated yield of the grape vines is
affected by the age of the grape vines, the location, soil type
and infrastructure. The market price of the grapes is largely
dependent on the prevailing market price of the processed
products after harvest, being crude grape wine.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the income statement on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under the operating leases are charged to
the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-
for-sale financial investments, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially, they
are measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank balances,
accounts and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from group companies and related companies,
quoted and unquoted financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or
interest earned on these financial assets, which are recognised
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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RA TR RO E (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent
to sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets. The
reclassification from financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss to loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial
investments or held-to-maturity investments depends on
the nature of the assets. This evaluation does not affect any
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
using the fair value option at designation as these instruments
cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in the income
statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in
the income statement in finance costs for loans and in other
expenses for receivables.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity
when the Group has the positive intention and ability to
hold them to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in the income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income
statement in other expenses.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in unlisted equity investments and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale
are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities
in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response
to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the income statement in other
income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the income
statement in other expenses. Interest and dividends earned
whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are
reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively
and are recognised in the income statement as other income in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is
permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of
loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted
only when the Group has the ability and intent to hold until the
maturity date of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining
life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset
using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity
is reclassified to the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or
a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate.
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RA TR R EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised
in the income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less
any impairment loss previously recognised in the income
statement, is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its
cost. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the
period in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative
loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income
statement — is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses
on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not
reversed through the income statement. Increases in their
fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
loans and borrowings. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus,
in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and bills
payables, other payables, amounts due to group companies
and related companies and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification is as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.
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RA TR R EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Loans and borrowings (continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if,
and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in
active markets is determined by reference to quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions
and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for
transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is no
active market, the fair value is determined using an appropriate
valuation technique. Such techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing
models.

Inventories

Inventories, other than the agricultural products which are
measured in accordance with the accounting policy for
“Biological assets” above, are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.
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RA TR RO E (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the income statement over the expected useful life
of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of services, in the period in which the
services are rendered;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest rate method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model and the Binomial option pricing
model, further details of which are given in note 32 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
income statement for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment
transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

Retirement benefits are provided to certain staff employed by
the Group. In accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, the Group’s Hong Kong employees enjoy
retirement benefits under either the Mandatory Provident
Fund Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(“ORS0O") Scheme, or the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under which employer contributions have to be made. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds. The Group’s
contributions to both schemes are at a maximum of 10% of the
monthly salaries of the employees. When an employee leaves
employment prior to his or her interest in the Group’s employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing ORSO Scheme
contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the
relevant amount of the forfeited contributions, in accordance
with the rules of the Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO Scheme. However, in respect of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme, only the employer voluntary
contribution amounts are refundable to the Group when the
members leave employment prior to their contributions vesting
fully. The Group’s mandatory contributions vest fully with the
employees when the employees leave employment.
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RA TR R EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Pension scheme (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the relevant authorities of the provinces or
the local municipal governments in Mainland China in which
the Group’s subsidiaries are located. The Group contributes to
this scheme in respect of its employees in Mainland China and
such costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Employment Ordinance long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible
for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance in the event of termination of their employment. The
Group is liable to make such payments in the event that such a
termination of employment meets the circumstances specified
in the Employment Ordinance.

A provision has not been recognised in respect of such
possible payments, as it is not considered probable that the
situation will result in a material future outflow of resources
from the Group.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
When these dividends are approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Dividends (continued)

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. All differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are taken to the
income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation
of a non-monetary item is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation differences on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar.
As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period and their income statements are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
income statement.
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RA TR R EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

Significant accounting judgement and estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends

The Group’s determination, as to whether to accrue
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends by
certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules enacted
in the jurisdictions, is subject to judgement on the plan of the
distribution of dividends.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

Significant accounting judgement and estimates
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2011 was
HK$1,727,793,000 (2010: HK$1,680,015,000). More details
are given in note 17 to the financial statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, investment
properties are revalued at the end of the reporting period on an
income capitalisation approach by independent professional
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ
from the actual results. In making the judgement, information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties
is considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period
are used. The carrying amount of the Group’s investment
properties at 31 December 2011 was HK$82,361,000 (2010:
HK$73,966,000).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December
2011 was HK$4,639,000 (2010: HK$154,000). The amount
of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2011 was
HK$457,970,000 (2010: HK$430,059,000). Further details
are contained in note 30 to the financial statements.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale. When
the fair value declines, management makes assumptions
about the decline in value to determine whether there is
an impairment that should be recognised in the income
statement. The carrying amount of available-for-sale assets was
HK$203,104,000 (2010: HK$209,387,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting judgement and estimates
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of receivables

Impairment of receivables is made based on an assessment
of the recoverability of accounts and other receivables and the
timing of their recovery. The identification of impairment of
receivables requires management judgement and estimation.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different
from the original estimates, such differences will impact on
the carrying value of accounts and other receivables and the
amount of impairment/write-back of impairment in the periods
in which such estimates have been changed. Impairment of
receivables of HK$2,616,000 (2010: HK$1,937,000) was
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the
year. The aggregate carrying amount of accounts and bills
receivables, and prepayments, deposits and other receivables
as at 31 December 2011 was HK$3,391,389,000 (2010:
HK$2,885,934,000).

Estimation of fair value of biological assets

The Group’s biological assets are stated at fair value less
point-of-sale cost. This requires an independent valuer’s
assessment of the fair value of the biological assets. Changes
in conditions of the biological assets could impact the fair value
of the assets. The carrying amount of the Group’s biological
assets at 31 December 2011 was HK$165,833,000 (2010:
HK$119,263,000). More details are given in note 23 to the
financial statements.
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F12A318  EWERR L EREE -
FEE ~ e R EMERGIERNR
T {8 4258 /5 3,391,389,000 7% 7T (2010
£F : 2,885,934,000#7T) °

EYEEZ GG A FE

REEZ EYEER A FERBIHEER
AR st EBIZARBIUMGE
S EMEEMRE - EMWEEMRN
MEHARETEERAFE A5HE
MR2011F1I2A3IAMEMEER
H & /165,833,000% 7T (20104 -
119,263,000/ 7T ) - #F 1B &N I 7%
RAFEE23
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on the nature of their products and
services and has four reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) the beverage segment is engaged in the processing,
bottling and distribution of sparkling beverages and
distribution of still beverages;

(b) the wine segment is engaged in the production, sale and
trading of grape wine and other wine products;

(c) the kitchen foods segment is engaged in the distribution
of retail packaged cooking oil and other consumer food
products; and

(d) the confectionery segment is engaged in the production
and distribution of chocolate and other related products.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment results. Segment
results are measured consistently with the Group’s profit before
tax except that interest income, dividend income, finance
costs, share of profits of associates, as well as unallocated
head office and corporate results are all excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, prepaid tax,
pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents, available-for-
sale investments, equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss, investments in associates and other unallocated head
office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) @-

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

4. Operating segment information (continued) 4. REHFER (&)
Kitchen
Year ended 31 December 2011 Beverage Wine foods Confectionery Total
BZ2011512831ALEE 2 BE BERR KERMR ast

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR TET TiEx TER

Segment revenue: DEKE

Sales to external customers HETIREP

Other revenue Hiplhzs

Segment results DEEE

Reconciliation: Hig

Interest income FIBHA

Dividend income eVION

Finance costs BER A

Share of profits of associates  FEAREE 1\ ALEH

Corporate and other AR REAM
unallocated expenses RAEAL

Profit before tax BRTER

Segment assets PHEE

Reconciliation: HE

Elimination of intersegment ~ #i$#7) 2BF
receivables FEUFIE

Investments in associates REE AR 2B

Corporate and other AR REA
unallocated assets AOMEE

Total assets BEE
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2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

4. Operating segment information (continued) 4. REHIER (&)
Kitchen
Year ended 31 December 2011 Beverage Wine foods Confectionery Total
HBZ2011F12A31ALEE e k] BHERM RERR At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEr TET TR TiERr

Segment liabilities AHEE
Reconciliation: iR
Elimination of intersegment WsHDEE
payables FERFIE
Corporate and other AR REM
unallocated liabilities AOEE
Total liabilities wenE
Other segment information: ~ Htt 5 HER
Impairment losses RIEAREK
recognised/(reversed) RRE
in the income statement B8/ (BE)
Provision against/(write-back
of provision against)
inventories FERE/ (BE)
Depreciation and amortisation 47 F# 44
Unallocated amounts RO
Capital expenditure BARZ
Unallocated amounts ROIEE
*  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and B E @féf REYFE - BELE
equipment, other intangible assets and prepaid land premiums. % AftEPVEERENLHE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. Operating segment information (continued)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

4. KEDHER (F])

Kitchen
Year ended 31 December 2010 Beverage Wine foods  Confectionery Total
HE2010E12A31 BILERE Bkt ik BERM® RER® At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL AT FET THET
Segment revenue: DEE -
Sales to external customers HETIAEP 7,920,983 3,114,386 8,344,341 576,274 19,955,984
Other revenue Hiplzs 165,096 46,169 10,831 6,375 228,471
8,086,079 3,160,555 8,355,172 582,649 20,184,455
Segment results DHEE 523,725 365,313 33,587 (79,472) 843,153
Reconciliation: HE
Interest income FIEWA 25,209
Dividend income and BREMAR
unallocated gains FoElEE 48,948
Finance costs BEMAR (45,425)
Share of profits of associates ~ JE/EEE A A% A 64,038
Corporate and other NAIREA
unallocated expenses FOEHY (54,875)
Profit before tax PR A 881,048
Segment assets THEE 5,437,688 4,492,200 2,178,630 487,305 12,595,823
Reconciliation: -
Elimination of intersegment Wiy 201
receivables YA (4,977,394)
Investments in associates REE AR Z B 545,201
Corporate and other AR REMEK
unallocated assets SREE 6,811,340
Total assets BEE 14,974.970
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

4. Operating segment information (continued) 4. REHIER (&)
Kitchen
Year ended 31 December 2010 Beverage Wine foods  Confectionery Total
HZE2010F12A31BEEE e i) BERR KERSR A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET TET T TET
Segment liabilities THEE 4,001,412 2,633,069 2,425,076 377,964 9,437,521
Reconciliation: HiE -
Elimination of intersegment MWD S
payables ERFIE (4,977,394)
Corporate and other AR REM
unallocated liabilities AP EE 2,965,433
Total liabilities BafE 7,425,560
Other segment information: ~ Ef1 9 E&EH
Impairment losses INLONE
recognised/(reversed) FERR(E
in the income statement B8/ (BE) 122 1,520 (1,262) 1,557 1,937
Provision against inventories ~ FERE 17,084 5,082 - 10,135 33,201
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7% & & 54 198,882 105,998 5,291 22191 332,362
Unallocated amounts Folg 13,835
346,197
Capital expenditure BARHY 447123 307,950 3,846 18923 777 842
Unallocated amounts AOEEEE 20,060
797,902*

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment, other intangible assets and prepaid land premiums.

Geographical information

Revenue from external customers
Over 90% of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers
in Mainland China and over 90% of the Group’s non-current

Information about a major customer
During the year, there was no external customer accounted for
10% or more of the Group’s total revenue (2010: Nil).
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assets, other than financial instruments and deferred tax
assets, are situated in Mainland China.
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A5 ER RO EE (4R)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Revenue, other income and gains

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the
net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns

and trade discounts, during the year.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

WA ~ AR Kz

WA (RS2 B8 TR A
NBEERESANGNEELES
BEFE -

HA WA R WS DT

Group
rEH
2011 2010
20114 2010%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FiBT
Other income Hug A
Gross rental income HeW ALz 7,104 2,047
Bank interest income SRITH B YA 24,442 17,983
Interest income from BRI E

held-to-maturity investments Z B A 5,955 7,226
Dividend income from AR ERE

available-for-sale investments Z B 36,926 43,963
Dividend income from equity investments 12 AF{EFIAEZT Z

at fair value through profit or loss R E 2R BIA 343 210
Government grants* BT B * 62,240 37,733
Compensation income mmEWA 28,823 35,529
Sale of by-products and scrap items HEEIE R &ERIER 10,194 10,856
Others HA 57,887 55,025

233,914 210,572
Gains g
Realised gains on derivative instruments PTHET A2 #R/

— transactions not qualifying as hedges — T EERBEIT 2R S - 85,690
Foreign exchange differences, net MERZF - JFHE - 896
Fair value gains on equity investments BATEIAER

at fair value through profit or loss =R E 2N ENE = 4,775
Fair value gains on investment properties % &Y%~ A FEIKE

(note 15) (MF7E15) 4,610 3,858

4,610 95,219
238,524 305,791

* Various government grants have been received for investments
in certain provinces in Mainland China in which the Company’s
subsidiaries operate. There are no unfulfilled conditions or

contingencies relating to these grants.

Y AEREEREZEKITEE - AFR
B REINTE R R & P2 B
WETED © BR#IAEE AR
EZIFMTRE A EFER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

6. Profit before tax 6. BRBIAIEF
Profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BE AR A TR (BEA) A&
15
Group
TEE
2011 2010
20114 20104
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 FTER THT
Cost of inventories sold SHEERAR 21,340,488 14,848 530
Provision against inventories FERE 27,325 33,201
Loss on disposal of biological assets EMEEREBRX 14,073 -
Fair value gains on biological assets, net EWEENTEZRE (33,510) (7,092)
Cost of sales SHERA 21,348,376 14,874,639
Auditors’ remuneration TZ 2R & N 2,744 4130
Depreciation e 14 397,672 333,792
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hit R B E 18 10,585 6,472
Recognition of prepaid land premiums BREN TS 16 7,580 5,933
Minimum lease payments under operating ~ BE 1 RIEFH L L
leases in respect of land and buildings HENSEESHE 119,262 112,032
Employee benefit expense EERAMX
(including directors’ remuneration — (BFEEZH -
note 8): BizE8) :
Wages and salaries TENEH® 1,155,288 894,091
Equity-settled share option expense DA 2845 5 Y B s 1 B 2 10,357 3,677
Pension scheme contributions* BRI 116,037 93,696
1,281,682 991,464
Other expenses include the followings: Hipbi AT RE -
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE  BER
property, plant and equipment WIHEE 28 7,272 4,440
Impairment of an available-for-sale AREEREZ
investment PRE] 322 -
Fair value losses on equity investments BATEIAERZ
at fair value through profit or loss BBz N TEER 4,183 -
Impairment of accounts receivable JEU R FURIE 25 2,372 1,634
Impairment of other receivables H it UGB RE 244 303
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale BERHEERE
investments BB - 453
Foreign exchange differences, net [ERER  F8 5,292 (896)

* At 31 December 2011, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension scheme in
future years (2010: Nil).

184 CHINA FOODS LIMITED | Annual Report 2011

* R20114F12H31H  FEFEED
SR A 35 BRI 2 # iR Ok

FHEIAY AL (2010 F - M)



RA TR RO EE (48)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) @-

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

Finance costs 7. MERAK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERADITIT
Group
TEE
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAT
Interest on: ME -
Bank loans wholly repayable within five years TFAZHERBZHFITER 20,844 24,159
Loans from a fellow subsidiary and RZEMB AR RMNBARZ
a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary FEERBR 2 B 756 2,551
Others Hith 15,443 18,715
37,043 45,425
Directors’ remuneration 8. EEM<
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to AFERN - REBEHERSMER
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock @ﬁéﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁﬁ'J(fiﬁ%ﬁﬁ'JJ)&%E
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and R RNEBIZE161ERE THRERE < E R
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as ST
follows:
Group
TEE
2011 2010
2011 % 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Fees: W
Executive directors HITES 100 200
Independent non-executive directors B IEMITES 1,080 645
Non-executive directors FHITES 139 200
1,319 1,045
Other emoluments: HEe :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREYFE 6,079 5,927
Discretionary bonuses BB 4L 2,620 2,161
Equity-settled share option expense AL BRI 2,198 1,411
Pension scheme contributions RIRFHEIH K 150 253
11,047 9,752
12,366 10,797
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2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

During the year and in the prior year, certain directors were
granted share options of the Company in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are set out in
note 32 to the financial statements. The fair value of such
options which has been recognised in the income statement
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

EEME (&)

RAFERARNEE  ETEERE
FRAEEREZREMERT AR
mERE - B BEN P BmERME
R ZEBREZAFE(CRER
HIFE A ik ARERR) IR ih B A
E o HSRBAANFEMBHRSE - A
R EREEMENRE -

(a) BIUFHITES
FR - INFBIFERTESEY
W

2011 2010

20114 20104

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FBT

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred TR E 360 215
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark MBS A 360 215
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis RANSEAE 360 215
1,080 645

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2010: Nil).
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8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

8. EEME (H)
(b) MITESERIHTES

Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme

in kind Discretionary expense contributions Total

Fees #&#B  bonuses RALE  BIKETE! remuneration
He RENANZ BERA BRESRX 5 ame
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TEx TEx TEx
2011 20114
Executive directors: WTER:
Mr. Ning Gaoning ERELLE
Mr. Chi Jingtao BRELE
Ms. Luan Xiuju gxgut
Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William BERLE
Mr. Zhang Zhentao RIRELE
Mr. Qu Zhe # HELET
Mr. Wang Zhiying* T BSEET
Non-executive directors: FTES:
Ms. Liu Ding Tzt
Mr. Ma Jianping SEYEE
Ms. Wu Wenting Ryt
Mr. Wang Zhiying* T BSEE"
# Mr. Qu Zhe resigned as an executive director with effect # EESEAR2011F2H10HE
from 10 February 2011. THTEE -
*  Mr. Wang Zhiying was appointed as an executive director * FZEEERI010F4A15H

with effect from 15 April 2010 and re-designated as a non-
executive director with effect from 10 February 2011 and
resigned as a non-executive director with effect from 28

March 2011.

BZERYITEE  HR2011
F2HI0HBERHHTESE -

WR20114F 3 F 28 HEFEHH
TEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)

8. EEM= (&)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITEERIEHTES (E)
(continued)
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme
inkind Discretionary expense  contributions Total
Fees ¥& 8 bonuses  RAZE  RIKEEl remuneration
e LREWAR  BETL BRERX #HR @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT AT AR AT FAT
2010 20105
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Ning Gaoning ERELE 200 - - 227 - 427
Mr. Qu Zhe HEELE - 1,536 670 227 % 2527
Mr. Wang Zhiying TeB%E - 728 330 - 11 1,069
Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William BEEEE - 683 26 207 - 916
Ms. Luan Xiuju RERRT - 2,252 814 181 9 3,346
Mr. Zhang Zhentao RIRESE - 728 321 181 49 1,279
200 5927 2,161 1,023 253 9,564
Non-executive directors: FaTES
Mr. Ma Jianping BEFEE 100 - - 207 - 307
Ms. Wu Wenting R T 100 - - 181 - 281
200 - - 388 - 588
400 5,927 2,161 1411 253 10,152

Three non-executive directors (2010: Nil) and one
executive director (2010: Nil) agreed to waive their
entitlements to directors’ fees totalling HK$150,000
(2010: Nil) and HK$100,000 (2010: Nil), respectively,
for the year. Other than the aforementioned, there was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2010: Nil).
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Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2010: three) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining three (2010: two) non-director, highest paid

RA TR RO EE (48)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

9. HEBSHMzER

FRALEERTHZES
(2010%F : =R)ES - A FI15H
R EXHIFES - R - HEr=% (2010
F:MB)EaHFMIFEEREZM

BIEM A

employees for the year are as follows: SELIWNT
2011 2010
2011 % 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EREREDI R 3,522 1,594
Discretionary bonuses FIBIEAT 2,612 1,082
Equity-settled share option expenses IR A i E R AR A A 709 181
Pension scheme contributions RIRFHEIE TR 172 86
7,015 2,943

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

HRIZ ABIT

REHREEGFER) ZHHMNT N T

Number of employees

EE®E

2011 2010

2011 % 20104
1,000,001 & LZE

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,500,00078 7T = 1
1,500,001 B LZE

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2,000,000 77T 1 1
2,000,001 &L E

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,500,000 7C 1 -
2,500,001 &L E

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 3,000,000/87C 1 -

3 2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

9.

10.

Five highest paid employees (continued)

During the year and in the prior year, the non-director, highest
paid employees were granted share options of the Company
in respect of their services to the Group, further details of
which are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. The
fair value of such options, which has been recognised in the
income statement over the vesting period, was determined as
at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the above non-
director, highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

Income tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2010: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

9. hEREHFM2ES (&)

REANRBEFE - FEZ&= H
1 8 L1805 3 AN 5= [ B2 4 /O IR A5 4000
TARARRINBERE  BRAFBHNY
BMEMTEI2 - ZRFBRENAFE
ERNEB IR B A RR AR - R
RO BHEEARRNFHEHRRTE
ENEROBRENLEER &5
HEfES NS WA -

10. FrE%

FEMNEGHBBDERNAFENEE
EERGET BRI FIIA 16.5% (2010
F 0 16.5%) M R(EH o EffitlE 2
FERR B M 2 TRIR T IR B AN SR B 4R &
ZRVERER 2 RITHEFE

2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FiBT
Group: REE
Current — Hong Kong BNER— &
Charge for the year RAFZ IR 335 1,267
Current — Mainland China RNER— AR B KR
Charge for the year RAFZ R 339,701 256,147
Underprovision in prior years BAEFETEREE 1,702 3,166
Current — Elsewhere RNER— E fthith [
Charge for the year RAFZ R 753 -
Deferred (note 30) RIE (M95E30) (1,680) (254)
Total tax charge for the year FEBERR 340,811 260,326
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A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax
rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. Income tax (continued)

MW RMEE (&)

Sy

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

10. Fr8% (&)

UTRFBARE - EXMBAMER
BEMAERDER X EREFEM
ERARBAERN,(BE) 2HEAEX
e RBAMHEGE 2 HHHEAE
A RERR R (AVAER R ) BA M
R ZAEIAR

Group — 2011 AEE-2011%F
Hong Kong Mainland China Elsewhere Total
Bh HEAE EE &t
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
Tén TR T T
Proft(loss) before tax manafl/ (B8
Tax at the statutory tax rates BATHEHE 2 HE
Lower tax rate for specific provinces {ERlE ke
or enacted by local authority * AR NBRERE
Profit not subject to REBEEME
fax due to concessions ** AR EH
Profis attributable to associates BEnARERT
Income not subject to tax BERHIUA
Expenses not deductible for tax MM L
Adiustment in closing deferred tax due ~ REREH R EM{EH
fo change in deferred tax rate EhaLREE
Adjustment in respect of B
current tax of previous periods FRz R
Effect of withholding tax at 10% R BMARI10%
on the dividend income RiFER 72
Tax losses utilised from
previous periods HEATHEHE
Tax losses not recognised RETHE
Tax charge at the Group's EEBARTEHE
effective rate BT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

10. Income tax (continued)

10. FriS®t (&)

Group — 2010 REEE —20104F
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
5% HRE KR Bt
HK$'000 % HK$000 % HK$000 %
FAET AT AT

Profit/(loss) before tax BAER/ (B8) (45,213) 926,261 881,048
Tax at the statutory tax rates WEEMEFEZHA (7,460) 165 231,565 250 224,105 254
Lower tax rate for specific provinces 1B 5t 7 i

or enacted by local authority * I MR & ¢ - - (8,522) 09  (8522) (1.0
Profit not subject to tax REi%ESmEA

due to concessions ** R G - - (12,486) (1.3)  (12,486) (1.4)
Profits attributable to associates AN ey - - (16,009 (1.7)  (16,009) (18)
Income not subject to tax BERM WA (1,970) 43 (22,955) (25)  (24,925) (2.8)
Expenses not deductible for tax ARz Y 11,127 (24.6) 21,065 2.3 32,192 36
Adjustment in closing deferred tax due RERER: =& E)

to change in deferred tax rate HIEERBERAR - - 706 0.1 706 0.1
Adjustment in respect of BT HRAES

current tax of previous periods WIB % - - 3,166 0.3 3,166 04
Effect of withholding tax at 10% R EMARI10%

on the dividend income RNFGH & - - 9,568 10 9,568 11
Tax losses utilised from

previous periods FRBEH™ B (430) 1.0 (2,893) 03 (33 (0.4)
Tax losses not recognised KRB - 55,854 6.0 55,854 6.3
Tax charge at the REBBAHENE

Group's effective rate ZPES 1,267 (2.8) 259,059 280 260,326 29.5

Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 25%. However, certain
of the Group’s subsidiaries are operating in specific development
zones in Mainland China, and the relevant authorities have
granted these subsidiaries a preferential CIT rate of 24%.

* ok

In addition to the preferential CIT rate granted to the Group’s
certain subsidiaries in Mainland China, tax holidays were
also granted by the relevant authorities to these subsidiaries,
where CIT is exempted for the first two profitable years of the
subsidiaries and is chargeable at half of the applicable rates for
the subsequent three years.

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to

HK$18,881,000 (2010: HK$16,328,000) is included in “Share
of profits of associates” in the consolidated income statement.
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10.

11.

12.

RA TR RO EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Since 2009, the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation have issued a series of regulations
and rules, with retroactive effect on 1 January 2008,
concerning group restructuring (collectively, the “Group
Restructuring Tax Rules”). During the year ended 31
December 2008, the Group undertook certain intra-group
restructuring activities (the “Restructuring”). Should the basis
set forth in the Group Restructuring Tax Rules be adopted,
there might be relevant tax exposure to the Group. After giving
due consideration of key factors including the relevant legal
interpretation and opinion about the Group Restructuring Tax
Rules and the prevailing tax practices, the Company considers
that it is more likely than not that the Restructuring will not
give rise to the relevant tax exposure to the Group, if any.
Accordingly, no provision thereon has been made in these
financial statements.

Profit attributable to owners of the parent

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent
for the year ended 31 December 2011 includes a loss of
HK$34,516,000 (2010: a loss of HK$21,565,000) which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company
(note 33(b)).

10.

11.

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

FRrGH (&)

B 20094 - BAEES K BRI 42 AR
TR EREAN— ZINIED KRB
Bl (A [SEBARERE]) - B
2008F1A1HEBABYPHRH - HE
2008F 12 A31 HIFFfE - NEBETT
TETEEROEHEE([EHAH]) -
il [SEEEAT AR FragryE 2
EERG  AEE R FEEGARRER
B KEEEETERZ(BE£E
SARERE] B AERERER
ARBITHEER) 1% XRGRE
BEHAT ARSI B EE AR
B (WA ) - Bt - BESNZE
B SRR R E L B -

FRTHER AEEEF

HE2011F12A31HIEFEFER AT
e ANERGRE 2B IETARR A
2 B I 3k R N 2 B 834,516,000 7%
70 (20104 : 21,565,000 7T ) (Mt 5+
33(b)) °

Dividends 12. K&
2011 2010
20115 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHBT
Interim — HK4.07 cents FE— SR TR
(2010: HK2.30 cents) 4.07 71 (2010 -
per ordinary share 2.307810) 113,673 64,227
Proposed final — HK4.25 cents BRI -EREER
(2010: HK3.21 cents) 42571 (2010 F -
per ordinary share 3.21740) 118,698 89,638
232,371 153,865

At a meeting held on 30 March 2012, the board proposed
a final dividend of HK4.25 cents per share for the year. This
recommended dividend is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and will be paid out of the Company’s contributed
surplus. It is not reflected as dividend payable in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

20123 A30 B RITHRZE L - &
EEEEMAFEIRESAA.25E(
ZARERE - I REREAEARRF]
BRNEERREAFAE L4E - I
BARR B Z AR - HLIAR
I ARTARE B RS AR IR R R 73 FE A

B o
o
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

13. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity

holders of the parent

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount for the
year ended 31 December 2011 is based on the profit for the
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of
HK$645,609,000 (2010: HK$427,567,000), and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,792,666,792 (2010:
2,792,434,710) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount for the
year is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic
earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at
no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are
based on:

13. BRI EBERESITEARME
BRER

HEC011F12A31 HILFE 2 BREAK
BAEBEIZE AR BRRESFEA
JE R R E 645,609,000 7T (2010
& 1427 567,000 70) c MEAFER
1T IOAE T3 L B R 2,792,666,792 A%
(20104F : 2,792,434,7100% ) st & -

AEESREEANE R REE
B ERRT A ARG F R NFE -
AEAN IS ERRIAFED
BITEABRARHEE - TIARNERE
ABMOEE - MERABETEEE
BRI ET TR S B B E B M IAE
RERITZ BRI -

FREALEERNOTENT

2011 2010
2011 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Earnings ZF|
Profit attributable to ordinary equity BARFTESREXRRTN
holders of the parent, used in the AR T B E RS
basic earnings per share calculation BB AEGRF 645,609 427,567

Number of shares

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year, used in
the basic earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares:
Share options

BRHEE
2011 2010
20115 20104
17
BREREARAFFE
B ARFE B BT
LmAR N &L 2,792,666,792 2,792,434,710
BEyaE - LEk
eSS
AR i 2,129,258 2,599,733

2,794,796,050 2,795,034,443
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MW RMEE (&)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

14. Property, plant and equipment 14. Y% - MERZE

Group Company
FEE LN

Plant,

machinery

Freehold and
land equipment Construction Plant and
XA%¥#E  Buildings JEE*  in progress Total  equipment
1 BY BHRRE R"EIR @ BERRE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TR FET

31 December 2011 R2011412A31H

At 31 December 2010 and 20105 12A318
at 1 January 2011: R201161A18 :
Cost A
Accumulated depreciation

and impairment ZEHMERAE
Net carrying amount BEFE

At 1 January 2011, net of R2011F1A1R
accumulated depreciation THREHER
and impairment WE

Additions NE

Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—FEREAE
(note 34) (Mi7E34)

Disposals HE

Depreciation provided
during the year FRNERE

Transfers EL 32

Exchange realignment PR A%

At 31 December 2011, net of R2011F12A318
accumulated depreciation HREFHTER
and impairment AE

At 31 December 2011: 2011 F12A318
Cost R
Accumulated depreciation

and impairment ZETERRE
Net carrying amount ERFE
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MW RMEE (&)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

14. Y13 ~ BB K & fE ()

Group Company
TEE YN
Plant,
machinery
Freehold and
land equipment  Construction Plant and
KA Buildings & in progress Total  equipment
St BF BEIGRE ERIE @i BEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET AR THEx TET
31 December 2010 R2010F12A318
At 1 January 2010: 201051418 :
Cost AR - 1737261 3,018,247 75711 4,831,219 2,799
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment ZEERRE - (3446700 (1,385,832) - (1,730,502) (1,725)
Net carrying amount FRTE - 1392591 1632415 75,711 3,100,717 1,074
At 1 January 2010, net of R2010F1A1A
accumulated depreciation IBRZAMER
and impairment BB - 1392591 1632415 75,711 3,100,717 1,074
Additions NE 68,523 84,662 270,177 313,284 736,646 -
Disposals HE - (438)  (22,152) (53800 (27,970) -
Depreciation provided
during the year FNTERE - (65,494)  (278,298) - (333792 (248)
Surplus on revaluation ERE% - 9,092 - - 9,092 -
Transfer to
investment properties BESRENE - (48 400) - - (48 400) -
Transfers & - 103,722 170807  (274,529) - -
Exchange realignment [ - 49,979 58,559 3,207 111,745 -
At 31 December 2010, net of R2010F12A318H
accumulated depreciation IBRZAMER
and impairment BB 68523 1535714 1,831,508 112,293 3,548,038 826
At 31 December 2010: 201012 A31 8
Cost KR 68523 1971843 3,485,136 112,293 5,637,795 2,799
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment ZEHMERAE - (436,129) (1,653,628) - (2,089,757) (1973)
Net carrying amount FHFE 68,523 1535714 1,831,508 112,293 3,548,038 826

196 CHINA FOODS LIMITED | Annual Report 2011



RA TR RO EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

All of the Group’s buildings are situated outside Hong Kong.

At 31 December 2010, certain of the Group’s buildings with a
net book value of approximately HK$41,042,000 were pledged
to banks to secure the bank loans granted to the Group (note
29).

At 31 December 2011, certificates of ownership in respect
of certain buildings of the Group in Mainland China with
an aggregate net book value of HK$67,069,000 (2010:
HK$57,927,000) had not been issued by the relevant PRC
authorities.

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

14. 13 ~ M=k (&)
AEBEHEE ZBFHUREB NN

=
oo ©

M2010412A31H » AREEREFEL
541,042,000 2 EF - A EE
EARIRITE MR TR T (BIEE29) -

MA20114F 12 A31H » REBEPHE KR
Bt BR % E & $£ 67,069,000 7% 7t (2010
F 1 5792700078 7L) WA TEFE R
FEFRRE R LR R L T AT o

15. Investment properties 15. REWE
Group
rEE
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1HZEEE 73,966 20,103
Net gain from a fair AN EFHEMm
value adjustment EEWEFE 4,610 3,858
Transfer from owner-occupied EREEE
properties BRI - 48,400
Exchange realignment bE H R R 3,785 1,605
Carrying amount at 31 December MN12A31 B Z2EmE 82,361 73,966

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated outside
Hong Kong under medium term leases.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2011 by Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at
HK$82,361,000 (2010: HK$73,966,000) on an income
capitalisation approach. The investment properties are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 36(a) to the financial statements.

REBERE 2 REMEHRBBIAI
R IRIBEH HIRAIREA o

MR2011F12A31H  BUEHEELEE
BEEME - R TFEEMHERESE
BEEARATIRBRABERNEEE RN E
Bl i BV E G E 82,361,000
770 (20104 : 73,966,000 7T) ° 7%
EREMEHRBELERLOMBTE
=77 HAEE B B R R MY 5
36(a) °
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MW RMEE (&)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

16. Prepaid land premiums 16. Bt &
Group
AEEH
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1BZEEE 253,392 219,462
Additions nNE 55,664 31,793
Recognised during the year FAER (7,580) (5,933)
Exchange realignment PE 5 % 13,767 8,070
Carrying amount at 31 December M12 A31 B ZRmE 315,243 253,392
Current portion included in BIERTERFIE -
prepayments, deposits and e REARER
other receivables B 7 BEE (7,165) (6,218)
Non-current portion JERNEREL 7 308,078 247174

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China and is held
under medium term leases.

At 31 December 2011, certificates of land use rights in
respect of certain land of the Group in Mainland China with an
aggregate net book value of HK$122,788,000 had not been
issued by the relevant PRC authorities.
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RA TR RO EE (48)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

Sy

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the following cash-generating units, which are
reportable segments, for impairment testing:

° Beverage cash-generating unit
e Wine cash-generating unit
e  Confectionery cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of each of the above cash-generating
units has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections ranged
from 11% to 14% and cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using growth rates ranged from 3% to 4%.

17. Goodwill 17. 58
Group
TEH
2011 2010
2011 % 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
At 1 January: R1A18:
Cost DFN 1,680,015 1,641,854
Accumulated impairment Z2iRE - -
Net carrying amount BRERE 1,680,015 1,641,854
Cost at 1 January, net of N1AL1BZEA
accumulated impairment kR 25HRIE 1,680,015 1,641,854
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) g B A A (MFE34) 7,483 -
Exchange realignment bE 40,295 38,161
Cost at 31 December, net of RN12 A31 B2 -
accumulated impairment kR 2EHRE 1,727,793 1,680,015
At 31 December: M12A318 :
Cost R AR 1,727,793 1,680,015
Accumulated impairment 2EHRE - -
Net carrying amount BEmEFE 1,727,793 1,680,015
Impairment testing of goodwill BEZRENR

EREBAHTMEBLHE  EHR
EUTREEEEM (TFR2EHH)
SAERIE RIS,

o HMHBREEAEM
o BEBRETELAEN
s KERBREEAEM

FAtER S EL B 2 AJIREIRER
DiREBEEREEETE - £REEAR
FR = AL E TR B LR = T B B X
BETERRREREAE - BHE
MEBBREMERZMBEENFR1L%
£14%  MAFHE 2R ER
B3% EA% 2 BERTLAHER -
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MW RMEE (&)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

17. Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-
generating units are as follows:

17. &8 (&)

R RE RS ()
SRESReELE N HEEAE
mT

2011 2010

2011 20104

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Beverage gt 1,207,018 1,187,704
Wine EEE 509,165 480,701
Confectionery KERSR 11,610 11,610
1,727,793 1,680,015

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the cash-generating units for 31 December 2011 and 31
December 2010. The following describes each key assumption
on which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the years immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are after tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) @-

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

18. Other intangible assets 18. Hitt | EE
Group Computer
rEE software Water rights Total
E1- L K &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TR FTHET
31 December 2011 20114 12H31H
At 31 December 2010 201012 A31H
and at 1 January 2011 &2011F1 R 18 :
Cost DN
Accumulated amortisation ESE- 3
Net carrying amount REFE

Cost at 1 January 2011, net MN2011F1A8182
of accumulated amortisation B - 4Bk R AT

Additions NE
Amortisation provided

during the year FNEHEE
Exchange realignment [ AR

Cost at 31 December 2011, net 72011412 A31HZ
of accumulated amortisation B - HIBR REHEE G

At 31 December 2011: 20114128318 :
Cost D%
Accumulated amortisation BEHEEH
Net carrying amount REFE
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MW RMEE (&)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

18. Other intangible assets (continued)

18. Htt & E (&)

Group Computer
REHE software Water rights Total
B K =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
31 December 2010 2010412 A31H
At 1 January 2010: 201061 H18 :
Cost B AR 51,260 - 51,260
Accumulated amortisation RETEH (8,003) - (8,003)
Net carrying amount REFE 43,257 - 43,257
Cost at 1 January 2010, net R2010F1A182Z
of accumulated amortisation AR - 0k REHEESE 43,257 - 43257
Additions NE 18,310 11,153 29,463
Amortisation provided
during the year FNEHERE (6,472) - (6,472)
Exchange realignment b R 1,707 - 1,707
Cost at 31 December 2010, net 2010F12A31HZ
of accumulated amortisation B - bk 25T 56,802 11,153 67,955
At 31 December 2010: M2010F 12 A31H :
Cost B AN 71,812 11,153 82,965
Accumulated amortisation 2ETEE (15,010) - (15,010)
Net carrying amount REFE 56,802 11,153 67,955
19. Investments in subsidiaries 19. KRB AR ZRE
Company
AATF
2011 2010
20114 20104F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LR - TR AE 2,106,711 2,106,711
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19.

20.

A5 ER RO EE (4R)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in
the Company’s current assets and current liabilities of
HK$4,407,291,000 (2010: HK$4,343,882,000) and
HK$87,511,000 (2010: HK$68,083,000), respectively, are
unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2011 are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.

Investments in associates

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

19. RMBARZRE (&)

Eﬂ')\ﬁ AN :J/\/w@]ﬁiz&/\mibgﬂz
BB A AR B KRH B R R RIE
caubill 7,%4,407,291,000,% 75(2010¢ :
4,343,882,0007% 7T) & 87,511,000 7T
(20104F : 68,083,000/87T) » AL
BB IR BRIEE -

RABEEMBABRR2011F12A31
BZ&1E - SR SRR MEEI9 o

20. RFERNRI 2 RE

Group
AEH
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Share of net assets MEBEEFE 567,934 545,201

The amounts due from and to associates included in
current assets and current liabilities of HK$1,551,000
(2010: HK$1,680,000) and HK$292,150,000 (2010:
HK$233,626,000), respectively, are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associates extracted from their
financial statements, or where appropriate, management
accounts:

;M\mibéF& MEBEZHE

TK &KEHPML\jW\I /DJU
7,%1,551,000,%7z(201o¢ 1,680,000
7 70 ) 1 292,150,00078 7T (2010 £F -
233,626,000 7C) * HAEIKIF - &
BNERERERE -

TREEMBEEAEEBLE QR 2
HBHRERKEERE (WER) 2WKE
RHEE

2011 2010

2011 % 20104

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Assets BE 10,744,283 8,821,300
Liabilities afE 7,434,668 5,953,302
Revenue WA 17,480,253 13,487,229
Profit i A 447,784 314,979
Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 BEAAREER2011412/831B2FE
December 2011 are set out in note 40 to the financial BN BTG - SIS IRERMIRE40 ©

statements.
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MW RMEE (&)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

21. Available-for-sale investments

21. IHHERE

Group
AEH
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Unlisted equity investments, at cost JE TR E - WA 203,104 209,387

The unlisted equity investments were outside Hong Kong.
They were stated at cost less impairment because the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the
directors are of the opinion that their fair value cannot be
measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose of
them in the near future.

22. Held-to-maturity investments

The held-to-maturity investments consist of debt investments
with fixed maturity dates and coupon rates, and are carried at
amortised cost.

FLEMRERRETNEBME 25 -
HRAENAFELFHBEELR &
ERQIE LR E 2 A TFEEZX
A8 AR AEHERR(ES
R o REBWEBIHMABELE -

22. FEEIHRE
REZIMRERRARBRERDHA

i ZR7E M) 2R Jo DABE SR 18 AN 51 BR O
BEFIRE -

23. Biological assets 23. £EYEE

Group

TEH
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
At 1 January W1A1H 119,263 92,242
Decrease due to harvest A UG AR (7,213) (24,429)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) Yo B — MM B A a) (FH5E34) 14,426 -
Additions during the year FANE 12,953 19,929
Disposal during the year FARE (14,073) -

Gains arising from changes in fair value ~ REE& &% A FEL

attributable to physical changes REBFTESE 7 W 40,723 31,521
Exchange realignment b H % (246) -
At 31 December W12 A31 H 165,833 119,263
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23. Biological assets (continued)

(a) Analysis of biological assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s total
planted area of mature plantations is as follows:

A5 ER RO EE (4R)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

23. £EE (&)
(@) EMEEZSH

RNEREMRGER - AEEEH
PRFEIEE 2 BIEAmEN T

Group
rEE
2010
20104

Hectares HK$’000 Hectares HK$'000
YNV FET NZE| FET

Planted area: TEEmEE
— Mature — B 165,833 884 119,263

(b) Analysis of grape production
During the year, the Group harvested approximately
1,192,000 kilograms (2010: 4,342,000 kilograms) of
grapes, which had a fair value less estimated point-of-sale
costs of HK$7,213,000 (2010: HK$24,429,000). The fair
value of grapes was determined with reference to their
market prices.

Significant assumptions made in determining the fair
value of the biological assets based on discounted cash
flow projections are as follows:

(i) the grape vines will continue to be competently
managed and remain free from irremediable
diseases in the remaining estimated useful lives; and

(ii)  the expected prices of grapes are based on the past
actual average district prices.

(b) BEEEZDH

RAFE  AEEFEABHEKL
1,192,000 /T (2010%F : 4,342,000
D) BRFERGHER
P 777,213,000 % 7T (2010 4 -
24,429,000/ 7T) - BEZ N F
BIRMEMETE

ERRERTREEEEMEE
ZAFERELZ T E2REN
B

() ABEBEBETLER
RERT Z fhat AT A AR AR

TREE R

(i) BEEERRZIE
BEZERFHERIERE

2% o
24. Inventories 24. ZE

Group

REE
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Raw materials = 2,754,112 1,599,702
Work in progress TR 62,013 59,718
Finished goods 2k 2,885,619 1,830,917
5,701,744 3,490,337
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

25. Accounts and bills receivables 25. EWERF KR EE
Group
TEE
2011 2010
2011 % 20104
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiBxT FHBT
Accounts and bills receivables e BRI ik 1,972,100 1,640,697
Impairment E (27,493) (24,638)
1,944,607 1,616,059

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. The credit period is generally for 30 to
90 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its accounts and bills receivable
balances. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group’s accounts receivable relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. Accounts and bills receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An aged analysis of accounts and bills receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of impairment, is as follows:

BRErEPIN AEEEEF ZEHIF
RDEBREER L —RAENE
FPREMNK - EEH—RNFI0BE
R BHREFMREFEEHELR -
AEBSKGERBEBEFNEREER
WRR R R B E B HIEE - BRAGE
SRRBRERE - AEEY EREE
W Rk B SRR A e A (] R 1 aa Bk
HEREE - aRERETHERX
BEHGe BN L - U RAREDYS
ERETREEZBREER  RIEE
Rz EPiZEL TEHRE - BUERK
REBBTEER -

1A B R AT HA R 2 e AR 3R e R B
BRIREZAYWMBERESIFTNT

Group

AEH
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within 3 months =EARN 1,336,664 1,216,256
3 to 12 months —“EARz+_fEAN 597,316 396,730
1 to 2 years —FEMFENRN 7,735 2,898
Over 2 years HBBME 2,892 175
1,944,607 1,616,059
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25. Accounts and bills receivables (continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of accounts

receivable are as follows:

RA TR R EE (48)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

25. BWIRA R RE (&)
FEYSRFUREREZBIMT -

Group

rEE
2011 2010
2011 € 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
At 1 January R1AL1H 24,638 24,001
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) ERRBERE (MiT6) 2,372 1,634
Amount written off as uncollectible | A BRI 8« BURE (779) (1,827)
Exchange realignment ME 5 B 1,262 830
At 31 December M12HA31H 27,493 24,638

Included in the above provision for impairment of accounts
receivable is a provision for individually impaired accounts
receivable of HK$20,071,000 (2010: HK$20,808,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of HK$20,071,000 (2010:

HK$23,993,000).

The individually impaired accounts receivable relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties and the full amount
of the receivables is expected to be irrecoverable.

The aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivables that are

not considered to be impaired is as follows:

it ERCR SO E B B R ER R ERE
AR R 2 #4140 20,071,00078 7T (2010
% : 20,808,000/ 7T) * % FE WK
BB A 2 BRI {E ) /3 20,071,00078 7T
(20104 : 23,993,000#7T) °

B M8 BB E 2 8 YRR 3R T3 B BE 7R B R
REZEFARH BHZEWERE
g AN -

ARRBEREZRUEFRREZ
BREG DTN -

Group

TEE
2011 2010
2011 % 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Neither past due nor impaired R ER T ARIB(E 1,764,955 1,402,869
Less than 1 month past due BHA1(E A AR 20,183 8,537
1 to 3 months past due wHI1 =318 A 9,745 3,310

More than 3 months but less BHASE A M E

than 12 months past due BALR12MEA 53,364 31,338
1,848,247 1,446,054
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

25. Accounts and bills receivables (continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the

balances are still considered fully recoverable.

25.

YRR RiE (&)

RERITAREZ BRI EZ 5
MY BEBRBREAZEREFPE

ERHMERREZ BRERTIES S

PBEERKERFLHR I 2BIR

FBR - ERAERER  ARrES

R ARZREERIEEERTE

HIRERE S B DHR AR BB

%’ B 05 B SA R F A AR E H R E
& o

26. Equity investments at fair value through profit or 26. BAFEIABHZZERRE
loss
Group Company
TEE PN
2011 2010 2011 2010
2011 % 20104 2011 % 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FERT FAET
Listed equity securities in BEELETRE
Hong Kong, at fair value BAFE 15,016 19,199 10,283 13,310
The above investments at 31 December 2011 and 2010 were 20114 K 2010 12 A31H @ kit
classified as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition, WEREARIERS - AERVIRER
designated by the Group as financial assets as at fair value % Y AEEETAEATERTA
through profit or loss. BRseRMEE °
27. Cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits 27. A2 RASFEEARCER
EE
Group Company
PN | FAUNC|
2011 2010 2011 2010
20115 20104 20114 20104
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAL THEL TET
Cash and bank balances Re RETHES 1,770,983 1,670,502 12,302 22,463
Time deposits EHER 157,819 197,797 187 -
1,928,802 1,868,299 12,489 22,463
Less: Pledged time deposits: B BEAERER
Pledged for short term TEHHRITER
bank loans (note 29) R (32 29) (117,590) (127,096) - -
Pledged for bills AN
payable (note 28) AR (131 28) (21,415) - - -
Cash and cash equivalents Re ke SEER 1,789,797 1,741,203 12,489 22,463
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27.

28.

RA TR R EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits
(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and pledged deposits of the Group denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$1,728,564,000
(2010: HK$1,624,604,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods between one day and three months depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Accounts and bills payables

An aged analysis of the accounts and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

27.

28.

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

RERRESEERARCER
(&)

RBEHER REBUARBAEE
UZzBEsMREEEDARD KR
17 3 A 1,728,564,000 % 7T (2010 4F -
1,624,604,000/87L) - ARBEREH
AHBRAEMER R RIEPE
KB SNE & HIE B K 45 TE - (S IE R E
EEIEBTE  NEEEESBEIE
g&lﬁ%ﬁmﬁﬁﬂ%}\ﬁﬁ%m&ﬁ&l\

TFRRIRITZRETHRET BRITER
MERFE 23 BHERREAE « RF
AEEMAEKZREHFRKME - BT
HERNIE-AE=ZAATE 2 FH
TP 2 %58 HATE BT SR 2 BRER
FE - |ITHEHKREEREFERFAR
TR KSR 2 (BRI ZIRTT o

R ERERREE

RE IR IR 2 B R R RBER
BIREZAMOMWT -

Group

TEE
2011 2010
2011 % 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within 3 months =EAR 1,288,808 825,497
3 to 12 months —EAZE+=EAR 263,213 161,753
1 to 2 years —FEMFNR 5,972 11,879
Over 2 years BBMRF 715 735
1,558,708 999,864

The accounts and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and ERER M EE AR - —Ra

are normally settled in one to three months and one to six
months, respectively.

At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s bills payable
were secured by the Group’s bank deposits amounting to
HK$21,415,000 (2010: Nil) (note 27).

PR R —E=EAR—ZE/MEA -

MR2011E 12 A31H - REELH fE
~NZEH A4 5 521,415,000 7T 2 A&
E®IRITFR (20104 : ) FLAER
(ftzE27) °
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MW RMEE (&)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

29. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29. FFERITER R HMER
Group REE
2011 2010
2011% 2010F
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) ate (%)
EREH Maturity — HK$'000 ERAY Maturity HK$'000
FIE(%) HHA TEn I (%) = TETL
Current BE
Bank loans - secured B8R -FHEA 0.75-4.63 2012 116,428  4.78-531 2011 152,774
Bank loans - unsecured ROER-BHH 0.61-1.34 20120r 1345000 072-51 2011 838,998
on demand
201255,
REA
Other loans - unsecured EthEH - EER 6.10 2012 55,508 459 2011 29330
1,516,936 1,021,152
Non-current FENE
Bank loans - unsecured RITER-EHA 0.93 2014 300,000 11 2012-2015 495,000
300,000 495,000
1,816,936 1,516,152
Analysed into: Ll
Bank loans repayable: HEELRMER:
Within one yearorondemand ~ —FRIHHRBHEE 1,461,428 991,772
In the second year F-F - 300,000
In the third to fifth E-FZERF
years, inclusive (BEEERE) 300,000 195,000
1,761,428 1,486,772
Other loans: EHER
Within one yearorondemand ~ —FRIHHRBHEE 55,508 29380
55,508 29,380
1,816,936 1,516,152
Notes: et -
(a) Certain of the Group’s bank loans were secured by the (a) ZFEEZEHRITENTIL 25

pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to
HK$117,590,000 (2010: HK$127,096,000) (note 27).

In addition, certain of the Group’s bank loans at 31 December
2010 were secured by mortgages over certain of the
Group’s buildings, which had an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$41,042,000 (note 14).
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117,590,000;87T (2010 : 127,096,000
BIT) 2 A% EE FELIT R
TERFR (If5£27) °

WESN - R2010F 12531 H - KEE
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41,042,000 T2 XEE Z EHTFHEF
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A5 ER RO EE (4R)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

29. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Except for bank loans of HK$311,428,000 (2010:
HK$39,840,000) denominated in United States dollars and
HK$1,450,000,000 (2010: HK$936,000,000) denominated in
Hong Kong dollars as at 31 December 2011, all other borrowings

were denominated in RMB.

(c) Included in the Group’s bank loans repayable within one
year or on demand at 31 December 2011 is a term loan of
HK$195,000,000, which will mature in 2015, with an on-

demand clause.

The other loans represent loans of HK$55,508,000 (2010:
HK$29,380,000) from COFCO Finance Corporation Limited
(“COFCO Finance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO.
These balances are unsecured and bear interest at the rate of

6.1% (2010: 4.59%) per annum.

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

29. St ERTERREMER (&)

Bet : ()

(b) BR20114 12431 H311,428000:%
JT (20104 : 39,840,000 7T ) #9#R7T
B3 ZETT AT 1B R 145000000078 7T
(20104 : 936,000,000;8 5T ) A B TTA
1B} - FFERMEFIANHEEHE -

(c) R2011F12H31H  FEE—FR
KIBANEERTTEA O —EME
FABANEZ N ER B 2
E# 8843 195,000,000/ » W45
2015 FZ|Hf -

HMWERDPEARBEZEETA
AREMBERETAR( RIEN
7% 1) & 755,508,000 7T (2010 £ :
29,380,000 7T ) - Z S 4 A EIK
o R EE6.1E (20104 : 4.59[F )H
FIRETE -

Company ¥
2011 2010
2011% 20105
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest rate (%) interest rate (%)
ERaH Matrity — HK$'000  ERAL Maturity HK$'000
H% (%) HHA TER % (%) 5#A TEL
Current Ik
Bank loans - unsecured RITER-ERA 0.61-1.34 2012 or 745,000 072-11 2011 636,000
on demand
201258,
REA
745,000 636,000
Non-current FEE
Bank loans - unsecured FITER-EHA 0.93 2014 300,000 11 2015 195,000
300,000 195,000
1,045,000 831,000
Analysed into: A
Bank loans repayable: HEELRTER:
Within one yearorondemand ~ —FRIHAZRNER 745,000 636,000
In the third to fifth REZFRERE
years, inclusive (pREEERE) 300,000 195,000
1,045,000 831,000
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

30. Deferred tax

30. IEFERIH

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

Group

AEENEERARBENEECE
LI

EERAEAE
&M

Fair value adjustments arising
from investment properties
and biological assets

ZATERE

2011 2010

2011 % 20104

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

At 1 January M1AL1H 26,920 17,104
Acquisition of a subsidiary g —REHE AT

(note 34) (F7E34) 13,823 -

Deferred tax charged to the income RAFERARE AR

statement during the year (note 10) ZIRAERLIA (FFE 10) 8,227 6,883
Deferred tax charged to RARFEE B AR F

equity during the year bk 2 IREFIE - 2,182

Exchange realignment bE H R R 1,162 751

At 31 December M12A31H 50,132 26,920
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RA TR RO E (48)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

Sy

30. Deferred tax (continued) 30. IEERIE ()
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the RAEE  BEEHBEENEEZE
year are as follows: BT -
Deferred tax assets EEHEEE
Group REE
Losses
available for
offsetting
against future
Provision  Impairment taxable profits
against of receivables  AJFAMEH
inventories il RRERM Accruals Others Total
GERE  FERE MENEE  BRER Hity At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAT AT AT AT
At 31 December 2010 R2010%5 12 A31 H
and at 1 January 2011 K2011F1A1H 2,714 6,453 154 22,544 3,138 35,003
Deferred tax credited/(charged) ~ WARFEWARZRA
to the income statement A/ () 2
during the year (note 10) EITHIE (FEE10)  (1,930) 673 4,369 9,142 (2,347) 9,907
Exchange realignment I 5 A 87 337 116 1,346 97 1,983
At 31 December 2011 2011412 A31H 871 7,463 4,639 33,032 888 46,893
At 1 January 2010 R201051A1H 2,082 8,170 - 9,663 6,89 26,811
Deferred tax credited/(charged) ~ MAEEWAFREN
to the income statement A/ () 2
during the year (note 10) ERERE (FI3E 10) 552 (1,967) 152 12,429 (4,029) 7,137
Exchange realignment B 5 3R 80 250 2 452 271 1,095
At 31 December 2010 201012 A31H 2,714 6,453 154 22,544 3138 35,003

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$449,164,000 (2010: HK$430,059,000) that are available
for offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum period
of five years of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group also has tax losses arising in France of HK$8,806,000
(2010: Nil) that are available for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the company in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

AEBRAFEREZHRER
449,164,000 7T (20104 : 430,059,000
BT AIHELEE 2 ARERER
REDF 2 MR AR EHERRERY
A - REBAFERERBEBRZHE
#8,806,000/% 7L (20104 « £&) » Al
EEEEZ ABEREZBREHRE
ERBaM - AR FERKXAD R
REBERE-RERZMBEAR - M
BTRBBREABEN AT HERZE
B8 - A ERZEERERETH
HERE °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

30. Deferred tax (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate of 5% may be applied if there is a
tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2011, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion
of the board, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.

30. JEFERIR (4])

REBEPBEFTEEMER L EHREX
BERK S 2 SNE R ERIINEIREE TR
f% B - BRI B BB 10% 2 T8 4
T o HIRTER20084E1 A1 HAKIY &
FMR2007E 12 A31 A4S &
F o e rp B2 52 S HNBUS B & FTTE A
FERERIGE AR KERKLY - BIFEH
REAETFTAEE% - Fitt - KEBE
AIER BB AR 2 ZEH B AT
FN 20084 1 A1 B EFTERF DR
BEAZTENR

2011412 A31H « WARBASEEE
B 2 B R RZAMMTEII B 2
IR BEE A 282 ) T B A<t 2 TR0 3¢ e SRR ST
HIE - BEEZERARREMBLRER
BERBEDIREEENOEETK

31. Share capital 31. /AR
Shares B 13
2011 2010
2011 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET BT
Authorised: VERE
4,000,000,000 (2010: BIREEO.10B Ty TiBmik
4,000,000,000) ordinary 4,000,000,000 fi% (2010 4F :
shares of HK$0.10 each 4,000,000,000 fi%) 400,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETREE -
2,792,891,756 (2010: BREEO.10B T Mk
2,792,459,756) ordinary 2,792,891,756 1% (2010 F :
shares of HK$0.10 each 2,792,459,756 %) 279,289 279,246

During the year, the subscription rights attaching to
432,000 share options were exercised at the subscription
price of HK$4.952 per share (note 32), resulting in the
issue of 432,000 shares of HK$0.10 each for a total
cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately
HK$2,139,000. An amount of HK$675,000 was transferred
from the share option reserve to the share premium account
upon the exercise of the share options.
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NEFE - 432,00017 B R B 2 758
IR RBEEIA495278 T (H:E32)
FEATIE - EHEE1T432,000 i% &A% M@
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BT Z A4 A2,139,00078 T °
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31.

32.

Share capital (continued)

Shares (continued)

A summary of the above movement in the Company’s issued

RA TR R EE (48)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. R (&)

B (&)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

R A MDA A A BT R

share capital during the year is as follows: BBENT

Share

Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
ERITRHEE ERITRE ROBER HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2010 M2010F1A1H 2,791,512,076 279,151 826 279,977
Share options exercised BT 947,680 95 6,079 6,174
Share issue expenses B DTS - - (26) (26)

At 31 December 2010 and 742010 12 A31 H

1 January 2011 k2011 1A1H 2,792,459,756 279,246 6,879 286,125
Share options exercised BT IERRE 432,000 43 2771 2814
At 31 December 2011 M2011%F12A31H 2,792,891,756 279,289 9,650 288,939

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 32 to
the financial statements.

Share option scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 21 November
2006, the Company conditionally adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”). The Scheme became effective on 21
November 2006 (the “Effective Date”) and unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate
senior management personnel and key employees of the
Company, and provide eligible participants with an opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to
encourage eligible participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

BReE
ARBIB IR 8 & B RIFF 81317
HIRB B R BB A S SRR T RE 32 ©

32. BRERTE

BIER20065F 11 A21 B3l e —18E
BIRFES - NRF A GRITRA—IRE
PetEat &8l (13418l ) - &% &t &I 2006
FILA21 B EMBH DA - BRIE
SITBUHSIER] - 15 B 7% B R4
B0 -

Zar Bl RS - BB MBI AR A
SREEEABRTIERE  EAE
RS EE R A RN AIEAE AR E
o BRI ERSEERNRN /AR
A M EBCREBN SR A AR RE
Befn 2 (B8 -
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MW RMEE (&)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

32. Share option scheme (continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the issued shares
of the Company at the date of the adoption of the Scheme.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
granted to each eligible participant pursuant to the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder of the Company,
or to any of its associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at the relevant time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer. The exercise periods of the
share options granted commence subject to the applicable
vesting schedule and in any event end on a date which is not
later than seven years from the date of acceptance of the share
options, subject to early termination thereof as provided in the
Scheme.

The exercise price shall be determined by the board and shall
be the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of the
offer; (b) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
or (c) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 27 September 2007, a total of 20,619,000 share options
were granted to certain directors of the Company and certain
employees of the Group in respect of their services to the
Group (the “2007 Options”). The exercise price of the 2007
Options is HK$4.952 per share. The closing price of the
Company’s shares immediately before the date of grant was
HK$4.85 per share.
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32. fEAERT &8 (&)

s 8 B BRI T WORTTE 2 B
BRTER A RE 2 AR BRNERS
LREE - HERAR RN AT
BEREEHITHRMD Z210% o RAEA
T EAAHRE - REBEZFEIR T EL
BEBR2EE CBREREITRNZ
e ERERREORRARRD
BTN 2 1% © EBUL PR AR 2 (EAAT#E
—IRHEZBRERLEEGRRRR
RASHE -

BRYARAREE TBETBRAERE
ZRCR AW F IR A 2 B ER
SEHRBILIFMITESE - BN R
EA+—EASMEAR BFFARAE
2 e R ek K EA B R A Z B
B HBRAQRNEERRED %
TR 20.1% » SIRA QRN H
BH B WM EENAERR
5,000,00078 7T » RIZE St B AR AR
REHE

R R N BB 28 A Wi
o ERMBERENTTEDR(BZHIR
ERNEEY) B NMEER R
FE R B BARERT L 4F - 1T A %At 8l
A REER PR LAY RSB RRSD ©

TEERESEET  WARNKTN=
Hz&mE () RBEHNEREEBHAS
RHMEBERAR (TBRFT]) &R RE
KB UTHE - (D) RERKELNAR
HpT R ES R QB e B RERM
FRD 2 FHUWTHE ¢ H(c)Binzm
Ao

BREY S TRHA ARRBREKE
SRBERASRRZHER -

200769 A27 A » ARAIFARE]
ETEERARBETREALEHE
B AR 7% 1 #% H & 2£ 20,619,000 17 8
P (12007 SFRE A ) 5% 2007 58
PRI TRERERA4.9528TT - EHE
B B A B B AT AN 2 R ) BT
BREMRA85ETT



RA TR R EE (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. Share option scheme (continued)

The following 2007 Options were outstanding under the

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

32. EikREsT & (8
FP - AR BI T3 2007 FBR AL

Scheme during the year: BARITE
2011 2010
20114 20104
Exercise price Number  Exercise price Number
HK$ of options HK$ of options
per share '000 per share '000
THE BREHE 1T1RfE Hikmga
B/ B’ T4 A/ ik 45
At 1 January MR1A1H 4.952 16,344 4952 18,054
Cancelled during the year FANFTH 4.952 (455) 4952 (574)
Lapsed during the year FAKK 4.952 (413) 4.952 (188)
Exercised during the year FRTTE 4.952 (432) 4.952 (948)
At 31 December M12A31H 4,952 15,044 4,952 16,344

The weighted average closing price of the shares at the date
of exercise of share options during the year was approximately
HK$6.43 (31 December 2010: HK$7.58).

The exercise price and exercise period of the 2007 Options
outstanding at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

FARNTTERBREES B /I FI5
U (E 4 /6.4377T (2010512 A
31H :7.58%7T) °

PSR S B R 1M R T{E 2 2007 SRR AR
ZITEBRITERIT -

Number of options granted

R EEEEE
Directors  Employees Total Vesting period Exercise price Exercise period
£ ==} &&T 5B H HK$ per share 17{0 Hf
'000 '000 '000 BiRITEE
Fn T T BT
1,371 2,989 4,360  27-9-2007 to £ 26-9-2009 4.952 27-9-2009 to = 26-9-2014
1,557 3,865 5,422  27-9-2007 to & 26-9-2010 4.952 27-9-2010 to = 26-9-2014
1,511 3,751 5,262  27-9-2007 to £ 26-9-2011 4.952 27-9-2011 to = 26-9-2014
4,439 10,605 15,044
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

32. Share option scheme (continued)

On 29 March 2011, a total of 30,880,000 share options
were granted to certain directors of the Company and certain
employees of the Group in respect of their services to the
Group (the “2011 Options”). The exercise price of the 2011
Options is HK$4.91 per share. The closing price of the
Company’s shares immediately before the date of grant was
HK$4.80 per share.

The following 2011 Options were outstanding under the

32. Bl AERT 8 (&)

M201163A29R  RRFIFARH]
ETEERASREE T REAANEE
Be AR 7% 1 #% H & #£30,880,000 17 8
Pt (12011 SFRERHE |) - 2011 B
ENITEERERAINET - BHER
BB B IR A R m Ry R d T B
RERA80BTT

FA - RIBEZFTEI T 52011 FREAHE

Scheme during the year: BARTTHE -
2011 2010
20114 20104
Exercise price Number  Exercise price Number
HK$ of options HK$ of options
per share '000 per share '000
e BREHE 108 HBAEEE
BT B’ T BT/ Bk T
At 1 January N1A1H = = - -
Granted during the year FRAET 4.910 30,880 - -
Cancelled during the year FREH 4910 (400) - -
At 31 December M12A31H 4.910 30,480 - -

The exercise price and exercise periods of the 2011 Options
outstanding at the end of reporting period are as follows:

RS IR A RTTE2 2011 S B
ZATHEERITEROT

Number of options granted

R ERESA

Directors  Employees Total Vesting period Exercise price Exercise period

5% E8 B SEEHL HKS$ per share 1TfEHER

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 BTk E

F o FH BT
1,044 5,052 6,096 29-3-2011 to & 28-3-2013 4910 29-3-2013 to £ 28-3-2018
1,044 5,052 6,096 29-3-2011 to & 28-3-2014 4910 29-3-2014 to £ 28-3-2018
1,044 5,052 6,096 29-3-2011 to & 28-3-2015 4910 29-3-2015 to £ 28-3-2018
1,044 5,052 6,096 29-3-2011 to & 28-3-2016 4910 29-3-2016 to £ 28-3-2018
1,044 5,052 6,096 29-3-2011 to & 28-3-2017 4910 29-3-2017 to £ 28-3-2018

5,220 25,260 30,480
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. Share option scheme (continued)

The fair values of the 2007 Options and the 2011
Options granted under the Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2011 were
HK$32,227,000 (approximately HK$1.563 each) and
HK$47,124,000 (approximately HK$1.526 each), respectively,
of which the Company recognised a share option expense
of HK$10,357,000 (2010: HK$3,677,000), during the year
ended 31 December 2011.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2011 were estimated
as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes-Merton
option pricing model and the binomial option pricing model,
respectively, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The following table lists
the inputs to the model used:

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

32. fEAEsT & (&)

BiRZ T 2R E = 200712 A31 H
E2011612A3IB LEEHEHED
2007 FEHEMBE M 2011 FHBBEZ D
FAE S R 432,227,000 7T (F1H 4
1.56387T) K. 47,124,000 7T (17 49
1.52677T) » AR AQARREZE 2011
F12 A3 BILFEERERER S A
10,357,0007% 7t (20104 : 3,677,000
EIT) e

MEZE 2007412 A31 HX 2011 R
BRHEARARGEE 2 BB 2 A ETY
R FERES B D RIAA N — 45
METHETEEA R AR E
W e - WEZ BRI B
ARG - TR EZER 28
AEUE

2011 Options
2011 FRER &

2007 Options
2007 FEB s

Date of grant A

Dividend yield (%) BREE (%)

Expected volatility (%) TEARE R (%)
Historical volatility (%) BARE (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) mREBRAE (%)
Expected life of options (year) IR ETERT SR A (4F)

Weighted average share price (HK$)

The expected life of the options is determined with reference to
the vesting term and original contractual term of the Scheme
and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that
may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

The 432,000 share options exercised during the year resulted
in the issue of 432,000 ordinary shares of the Company
and new share capital of HK$43,000 and share premium of
HK$2,771,000 (before issue expenses), as further detailed in
note 31 to the financial statements.

IR ERE (BTT)

29 March 2011
20113 H29H

27 September 2007
200749 R 27 H

2.109 0.8
33.716 30.570
33.716 30.570

2.40 4.102
7 5
4.910 4.952

BREEAFNI2EZ A 2 RE
HIR KRB AR MERE - RUOHE

BB R 8 A BUR R R R R

A A 5 B AR A K BB A S
T EES -

MERNTTEA32,00000 B E - BEKR
X A] ¥ 17432,000 A% & i A% 2 43,000
B ITHTIRZAR [ 2,771,000 7 TTAR 108 (B
(FORRFEITRAT) - E—FFBER
BATEHRRMIRESL ©
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2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

32.

33.

Share option scheme (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, a total of 45,524,000
(2010: 16,344,000) share options remained outstanding
under the Scheme. The 2007 Options and 2011 Options
outstanding at 31 December 2011 had remaining contractual
lives of 2.74 years (2010: 3.74 years) and 6.24 years (2010:
Nil), respectively. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 45,524,000 (2010:
16,344,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of approximately HK$4,552,000
(2010: approximately HK$1,634,000) and share premium
of approximately HK$219,605,000 (2010: approximately
HK$79,301,000) (before issue expenses).

Reserves

(@) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages
136 to 137 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-
foreign joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits
of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
in Mainland China has been transferred to reserve funds
which are restricted as to use.

The Group’s capital reserve includes:

(1) the differences between the consideration and the
book value of the share of net assets acquired/
disposed of when there is a change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control; and

(2) the contributed surplus which represents:

(i)  the excess value of the shares acquired over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor under the group
reorganisation in 1991, less the goodwill
arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
associates which remains eliminated against
the capital reserve; and

(i) the excess value of the shares acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor under the
reorganisation in 2008.
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32.

33.

BRESTE (])

RIEHR GFEETHRITED
B A% 7 & $£45,524,00015 (2010 £
16,344,00017 ) » 2007 4 [ 2011 “F i#
FEAERA 20114712 A31 H M AR T{E AR
e T gr A KV EARR 9 Bl A2.744 (2010
fF 1 3744 ) [26.244F (20104 : &) ©
EARNBRBNEAREE TN 2EITE
8 AT IE B BB IR S BN R B BT
45,524,000 f% (2010 4E : 16,344,000
B ) 88 o iR N K BEANBR AR A
4,552,000/ 7T (20104F : #71,634,000
L) MR % #219,605,00078 7T
(20104F : #979,301,000% 7T) (&
BEITHAXAD) °

(G4

(a) &&=
AEEEFENBEFEZFEES
EEEEH2INEIEEE
137 B SR 2 4R & IR A &
wmEF o

REFINEBEEZAREO K
AR AR AE T BA R B
NGIDEY N iR
BRERMBIRI 2HBEA -

REEZEAERHEE

() ERARKZEHENOERLT
fiei P 8~ B P A R 2R 3R
=F) - PIRIB/IHEEERE
ZHREBEFEPTREE/LEE
EFEZRMEIER &

(2) #ABER B

(i) 1991 FEEE4HE
Pt BB RS 2 (BIERR G
AR B E B T 2 B
DEEZ 85 - W=D
REBARFBPNGRZ
Ui BE BT BB A B M Bt A
RITEEZEE &

(i) 722008 5 5 48 i P U
B BEBBAR
GIE: AR o Pl <wlii
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33. Reserves (continued) 33. f#fE (&)
(b) Company (b) &AQF
Employee
share-based
Share compensation
premium reserve
account  fEEMRA  Contributed  Retained
Rt EEGH surplus profits Total
RER RE  BAR%  REER &3t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 FAT FAT FAR AR FAT
At 1 January 2010 R2010E1A1H 826 21,747 4968313 439,493 5,430,379
Total comprehensive
loss for the year AEERABRES - - - (21,565)  (21,565)
Exercise of share options TP AR 31 6,079 (1,481) - - 4,598
Share issue expenses B ETRY 3 (26) - - - (26)
Equity-settled share
option arrangements PR B BB AR 2t 32 - 3,677 - - 3677
Interim 2010 dividend paid BR2010FHERS 12 - - - (64,227)  (64,227)
Proposed 2010 final dividend %R 2010 F RERRS 12 - - (89,638) - (89,638)
At 31 December 2010 R2010F12A318
and 1 January 2011 K201151A18 6,879* 23,943 4878675  353,701* 5,263,198
Total comprehensive
loss for the year AEEEABRER - - - (34,516)  (34,516)
Exercise of share options TR 31 2,771 (675) - - 2,09
Equity-settled share
option arrangements RAL A R 32 - 10,357 - - 10,357
Interim 2011 dividend paid EIR2011 EhERE 12 - - - (113,673)  (113,673)
Proposed 2011 final dividend ~ #ER2011 FRERE 12 - - (118698) - (118,698)
At 31 December 2011 R2011%12A31H 9,650* 33,626*  4,759977*  205512* 5,008,764

*

These reserve accounts comprise the reserves of
HK$5,008,764,000 (2010: HK$5,263,198,000) in the
Company’s statement of financial position.

Y REMERAEKARENE
I 2 H B9 157 1 5,008, 764,000
JBIL(2010% : 5,263,198,000;&

L) e
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33. Reserves (continued)

(b) Company (continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents:

(i)  the difference between the underlying net assets of
subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor under a group
reorganisation in 1991; and

(i) the difference between the consideration payable
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefor under the reorganisation in 2008.

On 15 April 2008, the board passed a resolution in
relation to a share premium cancellation pursuant to
Section 46 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
which was approved by shareholders on a special
resolution on 19 May 2008, and was later approved
by the registrar of companies of Bermuda on 3 June
2008. Accordingly, the share premium of approximately
HK$3,660,432,000 was transferred to contributed
surplus during the year ended 31 December 2008.

The employee share-based compensation reserve
represents the fair value of share options granted which
are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payment transactions
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will
be transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus of the Company is also available for distribution
to its shareholders. However, the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of its
contributed surplus, if:

(i) the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregated realisable value
of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium account.
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33. s (&)
(b) A7) (M)

RRRZ ARG :

iy WBARZEAEEFESE
AATIRELIOIEEEE
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(i PA2008F EMHFTIEME A
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IRILT BT Z BRI BRI Z
RIVEEZ ZRR °

MN2008F4 150 EEe R
B—IEEBRIEEREEINIFEN
RIASE A6 BN FESHAID B 2 k%
= BRREZEE RN 2008F 5 A
19 HiZBERRERE A ERE
ok - W E 1B 200846 A3F
BRENAGEMERE - Bt

HZE2008F 12 A3l HEE AR
D% BEE4)3,660,432,00058 T2
BT BEifh o

BB S R R 2.4 B RAAR 19 X A
R ERIREE— M - B
BRAGEEREERERLE
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34, #3646

MR2011F2H  AAE2EMBAF
Top Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS
B837 5 = J7 Philippe Raoux SASU
8% Société Du Chateau de Viaud SAS
(IChateau de Viaud SASJ) 100% A& #E
(MKEEIE]D) - BEMREAS,253,000
BT (FBE 7 4985,714,000 70 ) © W
BEHANEB 2R LWEEEE
B REEEM D HR TR o

34. Business combinations

In February 2011, Top Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired the 100%
interest in Société Du Chateau de Viaud SAS (“Chateau de
Viaud SAS”) from Philippe Raoux SAS, an independent third
party, at a cash consideration of EUR8,253,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$85,714,000) (the “Acquisition”).
The Acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy
to diversify its vineyards and production bases in different
regions.

Chateau de Viaud SAS UGS B EA 2 7]
HBRAEENRBEZ ATEMEHT

A summary of the fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Chateau de Viaud SAS as at the date of the
Acquisition was as follows:

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

W B By

BRZAFE

HK$'000

FAET

Property, plant and equipment M - BE KR 61,389

Biological assets EY)EEE 14,426

Inventories FE 16,098

Accounts receivable FEU AR X 102

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FBS 7RI ~ ¥& 2 Bt fE U ZRTE 213

Cash and bank balances RE RIRTTEER 800
Accounts and bills payables JERIRR R EE (522)
Other payables and accruals HAbfEIRIB R ERT A& (407)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STESRITER (45)
Deferred tax liabilities EIETIEEE (13,823)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value AT EERZ A HPIEEFRE 78,231

Goodwill on acquisition WEBRSE A 2 e 7,483

Satisfied by cash Be I 85,714
HEAESERAR | —2——FFR 223
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34.

35.

Business combinations (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisition is as
follows:

34.

RB%E 6 (&)
BB EEELZREAITMT

HK$'000

FHIT

Cash consideration paid BRRERE (85,714)

Cash and bank balances acquired Frig AR & RIR1THE R 800
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HEEEIBFIEA 2R E R

in respect of the Acquisition REFAEBEH RLFE (84,914)

Since the Acquisition, Chateau de Viaud SAS contributed
HK$7,137,000 to the Group’s turnover and a profit of
HK$174,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31
December 2011.

Contingent liabilities

Save as disclosed in note 10, at the end of the reporting
period, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial
statements were as follows:

35.

WEERIEE - HE2011412A31H1E
£F[Z Chateau de Viaud SAS A1~ BE#Y
BRI EE7 137,0008 T RAARER
KR A B ENE ) 174,0008 7T °

HAREE

BROMET 0P BB E SN - RS AR
R BHREP R R IKABEDN
™

Company
¥ NN
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Guarantees given to banks in connection  Ft—FEMI B R RIER Z &l
with facilities granted to a subsidiary & ifn R TIRM 2 ER 387,500 387,500

At the end of the reporting period, the banking facilities
granted to a subsidiary subject to guarantees given to banks by
the Company were not utilised (2010: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

36. Operating lease arrangements

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15)
under operating lease arrangements, with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from five or twelve years.
The terms of the leases generally also require the tenants
to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

36. KEMNRH

(a)

ERHEA

AEBERBEEHOLHFHER
REWME(MEL)  EHEZ
HHALE+—F % —KRM
5 BROZEFREBRP XM
we  WRIAR ERREBEERT
NAHEREE -

RImEMKR - AEEREEEE
PRS2 TR HEH & A R
ZARKERSRTRANT

Group

rEH
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FET
Within one year —FR 4,979 5,719
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ -EFAF (BIEEERSE) 20,821 16,591
After five years HFE 20,136 27,173
45,936 49,483

As lessee (b) fEHREEA

The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to ten years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

AEERBEEHOLHERE
TMREYE - MEROEHD
ZHBH—FETEFENTE -

RIERR - AEBERE A H
HEEMORN ZARRERES
e

Group

EE
2011 2010
20115 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TET
Within one year —FR 61,068 44,143
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ -EFHF (BEEEME) 50,371 52,240
After five years HF% 73,440 82,217
184,879 178,600
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37. EXREE

BRI £ SCPHRE 36(b) w2 48 & HH 497
BN AEERBERRBATER

37. Capital commitment

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note
36(b) above, the Group had the following capital commitments

at the end of the reporting period: FRE

Group

REE
2011 2010
2011 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT

Property, plant and equipment: W - B NEE

Authorised but not contracted EREERETL 13,403 398
Contracted, but not provided for EHENES g 139,901 14,289
153,304 14,687

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no
significant commitments.

RIMEHR - AARWEMEAAIE o

38. BEALRS

BB SRR H A i 75 P BE 2 2
2 RAERIN  REBPRANER
NEREATETZERR SN

38. Related party transactions

(@) Apart from the transactions and balances disclosed (a)
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during
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the year: I
Group
KEH
2011 2010
20114 20104
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FBxT FET
Transactions with H[E R B
fellow subsidiaries: NAIZR S
Sales of goods** HESm ™~ (1) 81,302 24,747
Purchases of goods** BEEM (i) 7,789,342 4,565,545
Service fee income** RS & YA > (i) 18,988 15,649
Rental expenses* e (i) 32,874 24,303
Interest expenses B (i) 704 1,508
Transactions with the B S
ultimate holding company: NAIZR S
Sales of goods* HEBm* (i) 2,379 935
Purchases of goods* BEEm* (i) 19,419 -
Rental expenses* Hesih- (i) 2,813 2,584
Transactions with associates: IR NT 2R S
Sales of goods HEE M (i) 14,708 14,147
Purchases of goods* EEEm* (i) 2,316,894 1,756,242
Transactions with EAREE N T]
related companies:* 2Rt
Sales of goods* HETm* (1) 11,636 -
Purchases of goods* HBEEM* (i) 2,900,978 2,341,574




A5 ER RO EE (4R)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

38. Related party transactions (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(contlnued)
These related party transactions also constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions
discloseable in accordance with the Listing Rules.

** A certain portion of these related party transactions
are connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions discloseable in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

# Related companies are companies under significant
influence by the Group’s ultimate holding company.

Notes:

(i) These transactions were carried out in accordance with the
terms and conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

(i) Interest expenses arose from the loans from COFCO
Finance, which are unsecured and bear interest at rates
ranging from 4.59% to 6.1% (2010: 4.37% to 4.86%) per
annum (note 29).

Transactions with a related party

Pursuant to certain licensing agreements entered into
between a subsidiary of the Group and COFCO, the Group
was granted the exclusive rights to use certain trademarks
for its kitchen foods business. The licensing fees were
waived by COFCO.

Commitments with a related party

On 1 August 2011, a subsidiary of the Group entered in
a three-year agreement ending 30 October 2014 with
COFCO Plaza Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
COFCO, to lease properties as its office. The amount
of total rental expenses paid/payable to COFCO Plaza
Development Co., Ltd. for the year is included in note
38(a) to the financial statements. The Group expects total
rental expenses payable to COFCO Plaza Development
Co., Ltd. from 2012 to 2014 to be approximately
HK$22,083,000.

Outstanding balances with related parties and
non-controlling shareholders of the Group’s
subsidiaries

Except for the loans of HK$55,508,000 (2010:
HK$29,380,000) from COFCO Finance, the terms of
which are detailed in note 29 to the financial statements,
the Group’s balances with its holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries, and their associates and non-controlling
shareholders of the Group’s subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

38. BEALRS (&)

(a)

* %

(b)

(c)

(d)

(#8)
ZEBBEALRZRE EHRAIR
E o OTMERATHREZBER SIS

BAREREALTRFZRIELTHARA
RE - RATHREZBEXZAFE
HERS

ER
T8

Exﬁ%’%la—fﬂ&ﬂ“"Té
N NG|

-
z

() REXZRIREET G
JEZMFHRAFITETT

(i) / B SELERAPIETEZE

P BEEA BRI RIZEE

45QF 26.1/E (20104 - 4.37F
F£4.86/2)5 8 (HiF29) -

H-fHEEALZRS
RIEAEBEPEARRILZE
THF R AEEEREX
AR - AIREBERmEHE
RETEE  MZAFEERE
FREARRR

EARRE A + ZRFE
MN2011E8A1H » AEE—F
MEAREREAR—HEHEA
RIFEEISERBRARGILT

—=EWHE - WHEWEER
ERANE  ZiHBER2014F10A
30BfEH - ERENFERFE
ESEREER AR ZHERY A
O A MR E38(a) » A&
BBt E2012F £ 2014 F RS
RESEEARARZAERY
4B FEL) 22,083,000 7T

BEATRAEEMEQFF
BERRRZREEHRE

B 12 BF 1 2 B 355,508,000
A 7T(20104F : 29,380,000/ 7T)
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38. Related party transactions (continued)

(e) Compensation of key management personnel of

()

38. HEALRF (&)
(e) AEHETEEEAR ZHRM

the Group

Group

TEE
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Short term employee benefits REEBRET 16,150 16,921
Equity-settled share option expense B A4E B BRI 2,906 2,145
Pension scheme contributions IRIRETEIHER 323 473

Total compensation paid to key NYE2ERE

management personnel A B2 ARz 19,379 19,539

Further details of directors’” emoluments are included in
note 8 to the financial statements.

Transactions and balances with other state-owned
enterprises

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government through its
numerous authorities, affiliates or other organisations
(collectively “State-owned Enterprises”). During the
year, the Group entered into extensive transactions
covering, but not limited to, sales of goods, purchases of
raw materials, property, plant and equipment and other
assets, receiving of services, and making deposits and
borrowings with certain State-owned Enterprises, other
than COFCO and its affiliates, at terms comparable to
those with non-state-owned enterprises. The directors
consider that transactions with those State-owned
Enterprises were entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, and that dealings of
the Group have not been significantly or unduly affected
by the fact that the Group and those State-owned
Enterprises are ultimately controlled or owned by the
PRC government. The Group has also established pricing
policies for products and services, and such policies do
not depend on whether or not the customers are State-
owned Enterprises. Having due regard to the substance
of the relationships, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that none of these transactions constitutes a
related party transaction that requires separate disclosure.
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39. Particulars of the principal subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2011 are as follows:

RA TR R EE (48)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Sy

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

39. TEMBMA R ZFHE

RRAREEMBAREE2011F12 A
1B ZFBEWT

Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of issued share capital/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company
Name RilAYe BRITRA/ KA Principal activities
£ Rl SMEREE BREEAL TEEHR
China Great Wall Wine Co., Ltd. * The PRC/Mainland China RMB180,000,000 100 Production and sale of grape wine
PERAEEEERAR" HE/ B AR AE 180,000,007 and beverage products
REREERRERAHER
Yantai Greatwall Wines The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Wholesale of grape wine
and Spirits Co., Ltd. * WE/RE AR AR 1,000,000 WEEEE
BARAELHEARAT"
Qinhuangdao Huaxia Greatwall The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Wholesale of grape wine
Wines & Spirits Co., Ltd. * E/REAHE AE#1,000,0007 BEEEE
ZEBEERNEEARAA"
COFCOQ Greatwall Winery The PRC/Mainland China RMB108,000,000 100 Production and sale of grape wine
(Yantai) Co, Ltd. * B/ R AR ARH108,000,0007C HERHERDE
PRESHPE(ES) ARAR
COFCO Huaxia Greatwall Wine The PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 100 Production and sale of grape wine
Co., Ltd. * hE/hEAR AEH 200,000,000 7 HERHERHE
TREEERFEERERAR"
COFCO Huaxiahong Wines The PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 80 Wholesale of grape wine
& Spirits (Shenzhen) Co, Lid. ** B/ R AR AR#3,000,0007 HEFBE
PEEREE (M) ERDE
COFCO Junding Vineyard Co., Ltd. ** The PRC/Mainland China RMB140,000,000 55 Production and sale of grape wine
hEEEBEERAR hE/hEARE AEH 140,000,000 HERHESHE
COFCO & Arrive Vine Plant The PRC/Mainland China EUR500,000 5838  Plantation of vines and production
(Yantai) R&D Co., Ltd. * B/ R AR 500,000 BT of related products
MEREMEFEEEA BREEDRAEREER
(B8 WEERAR"
COFCO Wines & Spirits Co., Ltd. * The PRC/Mainland China RMB11,760,000 100 Wholesale of grape wines
PEEZARAR" hE/hEARE AR 11,760,000 70 HEEER
COFCO Foods Penglai Co., Ltd. * The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Wholesale of grape wines
PEARERARAA" Bl EARE AR 1,000,000 HEEEE
Shandong COFCO Junding World The PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 55 Sale and distribution and storage
Famous Chateaus Club Co,, Ltd. ** B /s EIKEE AE10,000,0007 of grape wine, spirits,

WRHERTRE REH
RERBR AR

and other related products
BEE  EREMEERR
MEERDHRER
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39. TEMB R E 2 FH 15 (&)

39. Particulars of the principal subsidiaries

(continued)
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of issued share capital/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company
Name R Ag BRARE/ RAFEE  Principal activities
£4: IMREE Y AMEREE BAFAL FEEHR
COFCOQ Shaoxing Winery Co., Ltd. * The PRC/Mainland China RMB68,670,000 100 Production and sale of Chinese
PRAREERAR" B/ RE AR AR 686700007 yellow rice wine
SERBETEERE
Huailai Greatwall Vine Base The PRC/Mainland China RMB6,860,000 75 Plantation of vine
Development Co., Ltd. ** E /R AE AEH6,860,0007 EESE
BRERNBELFRERLA
Huailai COFCO Greatwall Sungod The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Production and sale of grape wine
Chateau Co., Ltd. * e /B AR 1,000,000 EEREERDR
BERPBRAZTEAERAR"
COFCO Greatwall (Zhulu) The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Wine processing and bottling, sale
Wines Co., Ltd. * E /B AE ARH1,000,0007 and distribution of wine products
RERN (AR aBEaR A" BEEMIREND  HERNH
BEER
COFCO Greatwall Wine The PRC/Mainland China USD16,080,000 100 Import and export of grape wine
(Ningxia) Co., Lid. * B/ REARE 16,080,000% T and related material
PERNEEE(2E)ARAR" ELOEERREESR
Shenzhen Le conté Marketing The PRC/Mainland China RMB15,000,000 90 Distribution of chocolate products
Services Co., Lid.** WE /R E AR AK#15,000,0007C PEDRNER
AmeHERERAF
COFCO Le conté Food The PRC/Mainland China US$24,994 370 100 Production and distribution of
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. * e /B AR 24,994 370% 7T chocolate products
tESHRM (B ERA" FERDEORNER
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 65 Investment holding
IR O 4REBRAH N HK$2,463,217,002 REER
LRk
246321700270
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 65 Investment holding
(China) Investment Ltd. * WE /AR 30,000,000% 7T RERR
IR O LR (RE]) 1R E
BRAG
Tianjin Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China US$15,500,000 325" Beverage bottling production,
Co., Ltd. ** WE /B AE 15,500,000% 7T sale and distribution
REAOTLHRERAR BRERLE  BRREE
Hainan COFCO Coca-Cola The PRC/Mainland China US$11,700,000 65 Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Limited * e /B 11,700,000% 7T sale and distribution

SRR OAXARARLE
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39. Particulars of the principal subsidiaries

RA TR R EE (48)
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39. T EMB AR 2FH15 (&)

(continued)
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of issued share capital/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company
Name R A BRARE/ RAFEE  Principal activities
B EMRSEHY EMEREE REEAL TEEHR
Hunan COFCO Coca-Cola The PRC/Mainland China US$8,000,000 65 Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Company Limited * E /B 8,000,000% 7T sale and distribution
BRI NTERNERAR FRENEE  BRREE
Zhanjiang COFCO Coca-Cola The PRC/Mainland China RMB23,000,000 65 Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Limited * B/ hEARE AR 23,000,00070 sale and distribution
AIRRFOTERRERRE HFREREE  BRREE
Gansu COFCO Coca-Cola The PRC/Mainland China 1S$5,000,000 65 Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Limited * e /B AR 5,000,000% 7T sale and distribution
HEREIOTERRERAE HRENEE  BRREE
COFCOQ Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 52 Beverage bottling production,
(Xinjiang) Limited ** Bl EARE AR 60,000,00070 sale and distribution
IEE O EHK (3T8) BRAR HRENEE  BRREE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 65 Beverage bottling production,
(Jiangxi) Limited * e /B AR AR 40,000,0007T sale and distribution
iR OREEE 018 RO FRENEE  BRREE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China US$12,500,000 48.75"  Beverage bottling production,
(Shandong) Limited ** Bl B 12,500,000% 7T sale and distribution
R O LS (ILR) BRAR FREMEE  ERREE
COFCO Coca-Cola The PRC/Mainland China 1S$5,000,000 48.75°  Beverage bottling production,
Beverages (Jinan) Limited ** e /B AR 5,000,000 7T sale and distribution
iR R 2E0K (Br) AR AR FRENEE  BRAREE
Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. **  The PRC/Mainland China US$19,500,000 48.75%  Beverage bottling production,
SERA OSSR ERAE E/hEARE 19,500,005 sale and distribution
REEHAE RERYE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China RMB48,000,000 4355 Beverage bottling production,
(Inner Mongolia) Limited ** WE/RE AR AR 48000,0007T sale and distribution
MR ORESE (AR L) ERAR FRENEE  BRAREE
COFCO Food Sales & The PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 100 Distribution of consumer pack edible
Distribution Co., Ltd. * E/hEARE AR 200,000,000 7T oils and other consumer food
TERREEERAR" products
A EERBAREMEERR
COFCO Foods Management Co., Ltd. *  The PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 100 Research and development in food,
PERMEEERAR HE/ B AR 10,000,000 wine and beverage, management

and consulting services
HRRFERM  BRAE
B KBRS
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39. T EM B E 2FH 15 (&)

39. Particulars of the principal subsidiaries

(continued)
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of issued share capital/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company
Name R Ag BRARE/ RAFEL  Principal activities
£ FRREEHY AMERHEE BRAEDL TR
Vina Santa Andrea Limitada Chile CLP7,750,000,000 100 Exploitation and operation of
27 7,750,000,000 vineyards, production and sale of
BRLR grape wine
REREEEER "
EERBERER
COFCO Wines & Spirits The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Sale of grape wine, brandy and
(Huaflai) Co., Ltd. * E /B AKH1,000,0007 beverage
PEEE (BR) HEBRAR HEFEE  oRHREH
COFCO (Ningxia) Vine The PRC/Mainland China US$7,040,000 100 Plantation and sale of vine,
Plantation Co., Lid. * HE/RE AR 7,040,000% 7T production and sale of grapes
hE(ZE)HERAERAR" BERHESEEA
EERBERE
Jinan Junding Hua Yue Hotel The PRC/Mainland China RMB2,890,000 55 Hospitality and conference service
Management Co., Ltd. ** WE /R E AR AR 2,890,000 BIER RS
ERERENEEERBRAF
Beijing Junding Hua Yue Hotel The PRC/Mainland China RMB2,890,000 55 Hospitality and conference service
Management Co., Ltd. ** E/hEAHE AR 2,890,000 BEREERS
S REREREEEERRLF
COFCO Coca-Cola Supply Chain The PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65 Retails of bulk foods and relevant
(Tianjin) Limited * E /B AE AE10,000,0007 materials, information consulting
igR O (R2) BRAR and management
FERMREBERNEE -
REBARER
Top Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS France EUR4,150,000 100 Investment holding
B 4,150,000 7 REZR
Société Du Chéteau de Viaud SAS France EUR3,920,000 100 Exploitation and operation of
pEl 3,920,000E1 L vineyards, production and sale of
grape wines
REREeEEE
FEREEEEE
* Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises N/ \V,% = ST
**  Sino-foreign equity joint ventures N A B RS
# These are subsidiaries of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the # BES B LI BN E L B2 AT

Company. Accordingly, they are accounted for as subsidiaries by
virtue of the Company’s control over them.

All of the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the

Company.
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39.

40.

RA TR RO E (48)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries
(continued)

Except for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, the statutory
audits of the above subsidiaries were not performed by Ernst
& Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst &
Young global network.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the board, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. Giving details of all subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the board, result in particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the principal associates

Particulars of the Company’s principal associates as at 31
December 2011 are as follows:

39.

40.

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

T EME QR 2FH1E (&)

FRep I8 R] ORISR AR R AIS) - it
Epl=PNCIN el SE s pel = E == o)
LK EIABAR E AR B R REITEE
Bz -

ERINRARB ZHMBLRR] - MES
BRE REMBRARAIHAFEE
BELBAFZEABRASEEETF
BE2EBHD  EFERR - FIIM
BEWBARZHBREIBARTER
Tk ©

TEMENTZFHE

AN EEBEENRIR2011412A31
BZBmT

Percentage
Nominal value  Place of of equity
of issued share capital/  incorporation/ attributable
registered capital  registration to the Company
Name BETRE/  HMRYL/ AATPEM  Principal activities
&8 SMEREE  HEMH BRAFAL FEER
Nanjing BC Foods Co., Ltd. US$19,000,000  The PRC 13 Beverages processing
ARRERMERAT 19,000000FT  # FEINT
Hangzhou BC Foods Co., Ltd. US$20,000,000  The PRC 13 Beverages processing
MMRERRBRAR 20,000,000%7L SENT
CBPC Limited Ordinary HK$10,000  Hong Kong 16.3  Procurement of raw materials
Lakl0000ET AR for Coca-Cola bottlers in
Mainland China
EHRBIARE AR QR4
SMBRREE R
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Ordinary HK$27,000  Hong Kong 137 Investment holding
Holdings Limited L@k 0008 AR RERR

The above table lists the associates of the Company which, in
the opinion of the board, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. Giving details of all associates would, in the opinion of
the board, result in particulars of excessive length.

In the opinion of the board, the Group is able to exercise
significant influence over the above companies as the boards
of these companies comprise representatives of the Group,
who participate in the policy-making processes. Accordingly,
they are accounted for as associates of the Group.

All of the above principal associates are indirectly held by the
Company.
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40. Particulars of the principal associates (continued)

All of the above associates are indirectly held by the Company.

The statutory audits of the above associates were not
performed by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member

40. T EBE AR 27 1F ()
P A LB A RISt A D R R

H o

PR LBt 2 N EIEIFR B R LK
X BIREE N EMK B EEPTETT

firm of the Ernst & Young global network. ETEEZ °
41. Financial instruments by category 41. ZERE D z2EeMI A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RMERR - SEA e/ TAMNERR
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BT
2011 2011% Group
Financial assets tREE r&E
Financial
Available- assets at fair
for-sale Held-to-  value through
financial Loans and maturity  profit or loss
assets receivables  investments EATE
AHHE ERR BBE  JIAB®EZ Total
SREE ElEE HMRE SREE EoH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TEx S TER
Due from assaciates - UNTIU & = 1,551 = = 1,551
Due from fellow subsidiaries RZENBARRZ = 69,390 = = 69,390
Due from the ultimate
holding company BEERDFIRT - 22,056 - = 22,056
Due from the immediate
holding company BERERDAIRT - 165 - - 165
Due from related companies BELNFIRR = 4,076 = = 4,076
Due from a non-controlling
shareholder FEERBRERT = 9,510 = = 9,510
Equity investments at fair BATEIAER
value through profit or loss LERRE - - - 15,016 15,016
Available-for-sale investments I HERE 203,104 = = = 203,104
Accounts and bills receivables  EMEZREE = 1,944,607 = - 1,944,607
Financial assets included in SABNGE - 78
prepayments, deposits REMENRTIEL
and other receivables SREE = 965,857 = = 965,857
Held-to-maturity investments HERHERE = = 58,044 = 58,044
Pledged deposits [REREIER = 139,005 = = 139,005
Cash and cash equivalents RBelReSEHER = 1,789,797 = - 1,789,797
203,104 4,946,014 58,044 15,016 5,222,178

234 CHINA FOODS LIMITED | Annual Report 2011



A5 ER RO EE (4R)
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41. Financial instruments by category (continued)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

41. ZERE D 2SR T A (&)

2011 20114 Group

Financial liabilities SREE rEE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

BB R AT (E

ZEEEa s

HK$’000

FHET

Due to associates i /NEIE L 292,150

Due to fellow subsidiaries UNEESGIENGIE S 1,057,344

Due to the ultimate holding companies REEPE IR A T] /T)\IE 41,031

Due to related companies NGBS E] 884,130

Due to non-controlling shareholders eI E T 58,498

Loans from a fellow subsidiary *E—RHRRMBARER 55,508

Accounts and bills payables FES BRI BRIk 1,558,708
Financial liabilities included in ST AEAER FRIA R

other payables and accruals [EstEEzemasE 2,157,813

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 1,761,428

7,866,610
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41. Financial instruments by category (continued)

41. ZERE D 2SR T A (&)

2010 2010 Group
Financial assets SRBE AEE
Financial
Available- assets at fair
for-sale Held-to-  value through
financial Loans and maturity  profit or loss
assets receivables  investments BAYE
g B3R REE  FIAB&Z Total
SREE A HERE SREE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAx FHL FEL T TAL
Due from associates BANEIRT - 1,680 - - 1,680
Due from fellow subsidiaries EESNEINGIVE - 28418 - - 28,418
Due from the ultimate
holding company BIERARIRK - 11,190 - - 11,190
Due from the immediate
holding company BRERAFRHK - 165 - - 165
Equity investments at fair BATEINBR
value through profit or loss CRERRE - - - 19,199 19,199
Available-for-sale investments At HERE 209,387 - - - 209,387
Accounts and bills receivables ~ JEURER FT R 2 TF - 1,616,059 - - 1,616,059
Financial assets included in FABENFE
prepayments, deposits Tﬁi&ﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁ”ﬁl
and other receivables TEZEREE - 633,697 - - 633,697
Held-to-maturity investments RFEZIHNE - - 83,132 - 83,132
Pledged deposits BEAER - 127,096 - - 127,096
Cash and cash equivalents BelRe%EER - 1,741,203 - - 1,741,203
209,387 4,159,508 83,132 19,199 4,471,226
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41. Financial instruments by category (continued)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

41. ZERE D 2SR T A (&)

2010 20104 Group
Financial liabilities THBE rEH
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RESER AT E
ZEEARE
HK$'000
FHET
Due to associates N UNS B 233,626
Due to fellow subsidiaries UNGES = INGIE O 1,089,857
Due to the ultimate holding companies REEPE IR A A] /T)\IE 31,337
Due to related companies NE o =UNS Bt 692,062
Due to non-controlling shareholders RIEVERR AR R SRIE 47,049
Loans from a fellow subsidiary RERRMBARER 29,380
Accounts and bills payables JERBRR R EE 999,864
Financial liabilities included in ST AE A R RIE
other payables and accruals EEtRBEz&RAE 1,754,044
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FEIRITER 1,486,772
6,363,991
2011 20114 Company
Financial assets SHEE AAT
Financial
assets at fair
Held-to-  value through
Loans and maturity  profit or loss
receivables  investments EATE
EXRR FEE  SAB&HZ Total
FEizE HHRE SREE @it
HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000
TER TEn TEr TER
Due from subsidiaries HBARIRT 4,407,291 = - 4,407,291
Due from the immediate holding company B R A &R 165 - - 165
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATENFUE - 4 REM
deposits and other receivables [EUIB Y REE 3,115 = = 3,115
Cash and cash equivalents RBekBFeZEER 12,489 - = 12,489
Held-to-maturity investments BERIERE = 58,044 = 58,044
Equity investments at fair BATEINER
value through profit or loss LEREE = - 10,283 10,283
4,423,060 58,044 10,283 4,491,387
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41. Financial instruments by category (continued)

41. ZERB s 2SR T A (F)

2011 20114 Company
Financial liabilities sRas RAF]
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
BB AFIE
Zemas
HK$’000
FHxT
Due to subsidiaries NN EVNGIE Q] 87,511
Financial liabilities included in ST AE S IR K
other payables and accruals EAtBEzZ2RAE 61,640
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRTTER 1,045,000
1,194,151
2010 2010F Company
Financial assets SREE VYN
Financial
assets at fair
Held-to-  value through
Loans and maturity profit or loss
receivables  investments N
Rk BEE  JIAB&RZ Total
MR HHRE SREE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT FAET TET
Due from subsidiaries EUNTDE 4,343 832 - - 4,343 882
Due from the immediate holding company BRI AFIRE 165 - - 165
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATENTFUA » R4 R EM
deposits and other receivables BB 2 REE 3,551 - - 3,551
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFEER 22463 - - 22463
Held-to-maturity investments BEZIIHL: - 83,132 - 83,132
Equity investments at fair BATEIIANER
value through profit or loss LRI - - 13,310 13,310
4370,061 83,132 13310 4,466,503
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41. Financial instruments by category (continued) 41. BERE P2 I A (F)
2010 20104 Company
Financial liabilities TRIBE PA/NS

Financial
liabilities at

amortised cost

REHERASIE

ZEEARE

HK$'000

FAET

Due to subsidiaries KB A BIFRIE 68,083
Financial liabilities included in ST AE A RS RIE

other payables and accruals [EEtEEseREE 45,851

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFEIRITER 831,000

944,934

42. Fair value and fair value hierarchy 42. pFERAFEER

As at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2011, the R20104F K% 2011412 A31 8 * A&

carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial BEAAmlem T A REBEHEAR

instruments approximated to their fair values. FEMEE ©

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are SRMEENBEZAFEUZITAR

included at the amount at which the instrument could be BRERSH (MIFRATEEHE) B

exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, BIRG TZARGESEALR °

other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Fair value hierarchy NHEER

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and AEBFAUTEAET LEES

disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: TAZRAYE:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices F—E: ZASEERABENERT
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or BZRECREAB)FTEZ
liabilities NE

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques FE: REERDLHEZATE
for which all inputs which have a significant effect on MmzEMERDZAERE A
the recorded fair value are observable, either directly EEESHEAUTEHRH
or indirectly B UTHEARQATFERES

BEATE

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques

for which any inputs which have a significant F=E  mMERDFEZATE
effect on the recorded fair value are not based on MmizEMERDZAERE A
observable market data (unobservable inputs) (ERNE S TIE =gt

(TAIBRRAER)GH I
HEARQFEAEEAY
0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

42. Fair value and fair value hierarchy (continued)

42. A VHERAFEER ()

Fair value hierarchy (continued) NEEER(E)
Assets measured at fair value: BRFEGEZEE -
Group
REE
As at 31 December 2011
M20114%12A31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—E BB E=E et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET FET FHET
Equity investments at fair BAFESAERE
value through profit or loss 7 2RI E 15,016 = = 15,016
As at 31 December 2010
720104 12 A 31 A
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E ol = Eg= wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHAT FHT
Equity investments at fair A ERT A=
value through profit or loss 7 #2538 & 19,199 - - 19,199
Company
AT
As at 31 December 2011
M2011%12H31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B EE BB et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
Equity investments at fair A ERT A B
value through profit or loss ~ ZHERKE 10,283 = — 10,283
As at 31 December 2010
R2010F 12 A31 H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E F= FoE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT BT BT
Equity investments at fair BAHERT AB®
value through profit or loss ~ Z#Ez5i% & 13,310 - - 13,310
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

43. Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank loans and other loans, and cash and bank
balances and time deposits. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on minimising potential adverse effects of these risks,
with material impact, on the Group’s financial performance.
The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term and short term
interest-bearing bank loans with floating interest rates. The
effective interest rates and terms of repayment of the long term
and short term interest-bearing bank loans of the Group are
disclosed in note 29.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact
on floating rate borrowings).

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

43. B EREEERREE

AEBZTESRMT ABETRRIT
EREEMER - ARBEE RRITHE
BEEHMER - ZE2RTATEHA
MR AKEZXBERES - A%
BEAEETHMMEREERARE -
40 e W BR R N FE AN R AR (B R R EL 56 7%
mES) °

AREEzemIAMEEZTER
BATXRER  INERR - EERR
En#EgERE - NEERERRE
B RPN EERDZFAR (R
SECHMBRABREATE) BT
THEE EFEERTRBEEX
SRR BUR - BT o

FZE R
AEEAZHOT S REE) 2 ERE
BN AEBIRZHARFE 2 RE
FEHEBRITER - AEBE 2 R
FAEH BRITER BN R KB
A FE 29 55 -

TRETEFTE R0 B EE R
T8 2 R TARBERB AR (58
FREE VS HAETE AR

B BEIEE -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
basis in profit
points before tax
HEETH BADREF
(B8 ®i CR2)
HK$'000
FAET
2011 2011%
Hong Kong dollar BIT 100 (14,500)
United States dollar ETL 100 (3,098)
Hong Kong dollar BIT (100) 14,500
United States dollar ETT (100) 3,098
2010 20104
Hong Kong dollar BIT 100 (6,238)
United States dollar ETT 100 (133)
Hong Kong dollar BIT (100) 6,238
United States dollar ETT (100) 133

TEERERLAE | —2——F45 241

Sy



MW RMEE (&)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

43. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and Hong
Kong with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
Renminbi and United States dollar. The Group has not used
any derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s profit before tax in response to reasonably possible
changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period, with all

other variables held constant.

43. MR EREE B RREBUR (&)

SN R
AEETERPRRERTEELE
MAKBEZBREOEREE - AE
RRZRGREZUET - ARBEET
FHE - AN E &N R EMITEEm
R EFTE 2 SN R

THRIT  EEMEETRNER
T AR B2 BT FIBE E AT
ABS® REE LN TS BREES
EXER) 2 BOZBIE -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
foreign exchange in profit
rate before tax

Ex BiATER
R/ (FH) 8/ (BD)

% HK$'000
S

2011 20114
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against Renminbi ABTAARERE 5 6,734
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against Renminbi BETEAREHE (5) (6,734)
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against

United States dollar ARTAETRE 5 (14,262)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against

United States dollar ABTLAELHE (5) 14,262
2010 2010F
If Renminbi weakens against United States dollar EAREHETRE 5 (2,888)
If Renminbi strengthens against United States dollar B AREEETIHE (5) 2,838
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

43. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the Group
entities” profit before tax and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purpose.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.
The carrying amount of the accounts receivable represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets. The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policies are to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents and to have available funding through bank and
other borrowings to meet its working capital requirements.

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities of the Group
including interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries, an amount due to the ultimate
holding company, an amount due to the immediate holding
company, amounts due to related companies, amounts due to
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, and amounts due
to associates, have been disclosed in notes 29, 38, and 20,
to the financial statements. For accounts and bills payables,
they are generally on credit terms of one to three months
after the invoice date or the date of the six months after the
bills were issued. For the financial liabilities amounting to
HK$2,157,813,000 (2010: HK$1,754,044,000) included in
other payables and accruals disclosed in the consolidated
statement of financial position, there are generally no specified
contractual maturities for these liabilities, and they are paid on
a regular basis or upon the counterparty’s formal notification.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for capital management
during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December
2011.

2011412 A31H
31 December 2011

43. MR EREE B RERBUR (&)

EREFNZDTERBIAEZ B 2 TNHE
ERAEZAEEZER ZHANGR
NERMETEREZHEN Y2
5B e R ERERSBE ST -

FERR
AEBEZEERRIY AEF - BUER
RZEAENAEEESARESR
BEZENEERR - AEECHIE
BE HRAEBZEFEELZE
FE&-

nBETER
AEBZBRERFERZ RS RIR
EHEEER  WEBRTREMEER
MABESNENHLEESHE -

AEEZERABELANIHABRE
ARSI MEMES  RERWMBLQ
AFE - REEERABRIE  RE
REBARFIA - REGERBFIA
RSB~ B SE R B BUR 008 - DA Je
REZRBIRIEA BERMERERM
29 3BR20AKE =R EAN
ERERE —REEHAERHR
—EZEAXAREE L AR
NAELA o FIAE M FER OB KR &
& 4 #2,157,813,000 % 7T (2010 4 -
1,754,044,0008 L) 2 e BB EE R
RAMBIRARARE  tEAE—
ROZAREANIIHAE  ZFAGER
JEHIE SR B T 07 % IE SR AR
3 o

EXxEE
AEEEREEANEEZARERER
SENBBERELR I MERRENE
AL E - UXEEEBEREEA
PREE -

AEBERNEEERRBLEELE
ARBAHEAEHFE - BERHTR
BEEARE  AEERGHABRINT
PR BB SRR IREE AR TR
BATHIARD - B2 2010912 A31H &
201112 A31BILFREAN - FAER
EEMNEE  BRKBREIL E
7 o
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43. Financial risk management objectives and 43. MK EBEEEERBEE (&)
policies (continued)
Capital management (continued) EXREE (&)
Group
REE
2011 2010
20114 20104
HK$'000 HK$'000
FaET FEL
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STERITERREMER 1,816,936 1,516,152
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReEMReEEIER (1,789,797) (1,741,203)
Net borrowing/(cash) position FEE/GRe) iR 27,139 (225,051)
Net assets attributable to owners of the parent & A FIHEE AELFEE 6,669,623 5,946,894
Net gearing ratio FESLE 0.4%
44. Approval of the financial statements 44. PR R2HE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for RN 2012F3 A30HKESS
issue by the board on 30 March 2012. HOAE R T3 -
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AFEMBGEHE
FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY @-

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AEBBERETREFEZEENEE
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, BEHEFEERERSZIHEAETE
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial KEIZGATBHER  WEEHHEGRE
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below: BIERME)  BEEARNREHNTX :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HIEFE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
20115 20104 20094 2008 % 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET FHT TET TET

CONTINUING OPERATIONS BECEER
REVENUE /9N 28,010,761 19955984 16823475 14240283 9,743,011
PROFIT FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES REER 1,179,708 862,435 943,190 662,716 917,353
Finance costs BEMAE (37,043) (45,425) (53,927) (31,382) (33,078)
Share of profits of associates ANl 65,437 64,038 60,438 124,996 49,167
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AR 1,208,102 881,048 949,701 756,330 933,442
Income tax expense FSfiAY (340,811) (260,326) (229,396) (136,251) (135,792)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
FROM CONTINUING BEREER
OPERATIONS ZEERH 867,291 620,722 720,305 620,079 797,650
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BARILREER
Profit for the year from BRI ER
discontinued operations FRZmF - - - 239,769
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERF 867,291 620,722 720,305 620,079 1,037,419
Attributable to: FEIER
Owners of the parent SRARERA 645,609 427 567 568,081 483,427 791,686
Non-controlling interests RS 221,682 193,155 152,224 136,652 245,733
867,291 620,722 720,305 620,079 1,037,419
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE 8fEH
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ~ 3FiZpR#E
TOTAL ASSETS mEE 18,329,983 14974970 12495840 10,447,863 8992,460
TOTAL LIABILITIES BmafE (9,816,186)  (7,425560)  (5,610,701)  (4,122,839)  (3,358,959)
NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS FERER (1,844,174)  (1,602516)  (1,402,240)  (1,232,674)  (1,074,850)

6,669,623 5,946,894 5,482,899 5,092,300 4,558,651
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Mr. Chi Jingtao (Chairman)
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Mr. Ning Gaoning

Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William

Mr. Zhang Zhentao
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Ms. Liu Ding

Mr. Ma Jianping

Ms. Wu Wenting
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Mr. Stephen Edward Clark

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Stephen Edward Clark (Committee Chairman)

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis (Committee Chairman)

Mr. Stephen Edward Clark
Mr. Chi Jingtao

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Chi Jingtao (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Mr. Chi Jingtao (Committee Chairman)
Ms. Luan Xiuju
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Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William

Mr. Zhang Zhentao
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Ms. Liu Kit Yee, Linda
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ANNUAL RESULTS

Friday, 30 March 2012

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the
Annual General Meeting: Thursday, 31 May 2012 to Friday, 1 June

2012 (both days inclusive)

For determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final
dividend: Friday, 15 June 2012 to Monday, 18 June 2012 (both days

inclusive)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Friday, 1 June 2012

DIVIDENDS
Interim dividend: HK4.07 cents per share

Proposed Final Dividend: HK4.25 cents per share (Payable on Friday,

29 June 2012)
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201243 A30H (EH#Hh)

TEROBREZR
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33 Floor, Top Glory Tower,
262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
B EEE T E2625%
BEF| A0 3318

Tel EsE 852 2833 0388
Fax (& 852 2833 0380

www.chinafoodsltd.com
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